
San Dieguito Union High School District 
PERSONNEL COMMISSION 

Regular Meeting Agenda 
3:30 PM October 14, 2025 

SDUHSD District Office 
710 Encintas Blvd, Encintas, CA 92024 

(public may attend in person or virtually) 
PUBLIC COMMENTS 
Every agenda for regular meetings shall provide an opportunity for members of the public to directly 
address the commission on any item of interest to the public, before or during the commission’s 
consideration of the item. 
If you wish to speak regarding an item on the agenda, we request that you email the Director of 
Classified Personnel at susan.gray@sduhsd.net by 3:00 p.m. the day of the meeting or, if the meeting 
is being conducted in-person, you may complete a speaker slip located at the entrance to the 
meeting room prior to the start of the meeting. We request that you include your name, organization 
you represent (if applicable) and the nature of your comment including whether it is related to a 
specific item number on the agenda or a non-agenda item. If your comment is related to an item on 
the agenda, it will be heard at the time of the item. All non-agenda items will be heard during the 
public comments portion of the meeting. In accordance with Government Code §54954.2(3), no 
action or discussion shall be undertaken on any item not appearing on the posted agenda, except 
that members of the commission or its staff may briefly respond to statements made or questions 
posed by persons exercising their public testimony rights under Government Code §54954.3. In 
addition, on their own initiative or in response to questions posed by the public, a member of the 
commission or its staff may ask a question for clarification, make a brief announcement, or make a 
brief report on his or her own activities. Furthermore, a member of the commission, or the 
commission itself, subject to rules or procedures of the commission, may provide a reference to staff 
or other resources for factual information, request staff to report back to the body at a subsequent 
meeting concerning any matter, or take action to direct staff to place a matter of business on a future 
agenda. 

Public comments shall be limited to three minutes per individual. A total of fifteen minutes shall be 
allotted per item. 

Complaints or charges against an employee are not permitted in an open meeting of the Personnel 
Commission. Instead, such matters should be provided in writing to the Commission through the 
Classified Personnel Office. 

AGENDA POSTING REQUIREMENTS 
In accordance with the Brown Act and Personnel Commission Rules, agenda for Regular Personnel 
Commission Meetings will be posted at least 72 hours prior to the meeting. Agendas for Special 
Meetings will be posted at least 24 hours prior to the meeting. 

PUBLIC INSPECTION OF DOCUMENTS 
A copy of this agenda with all the supporting documents is available for review on the district 
website, www.sduhsd.net. In addition, a copy of the Personnel Commission Rules and Regulations 
may also be found on the district website. If you are unable to access the agenda packet on the 
website, please email susan.gray@sduhsd.net to receive a copy. 

1

mailto:susan.gray@sduhsd.net
mailto:susan.dixon@sduhsd.net
http://www.sduhsd.net/
mailto:susan.gray@sduhsd.net


 

 
RECORDING OF PERSONNEL COMMISSION MEETINGS 
All meetings of the Personnel Commission are audio and/or video recorded for record keeping purposes. 
Individuals may request the audio recording by emailing the director at susan.gray@sduhsd.net after the 
conclusion of the meeting. Recordings will be kept on file for 90 days following the date of the meeting. 

 
CELL PHONES/ELECTRONIC DEVICES 
As a courtesy to all attendees, please silence all electronic devices to silent mode and engage in 
conversations outside the meeting room. When meetings are conducted virtually, please mute your 
computer audio until you have been called to speak. 

 
REQUESTS FOR DISABILITY-RELATED MODIFICATIONS OR ACCOMODATIONS 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance, disability-related 
modifications, or accommodations including auxiliary aids or services, in order to participate in the 
public meetings of the Personnel Commission, please contact the Classified Personnel Office at (760) 
753-6491 x5543. Notification 72 hours prior to the meeting will enable staff to make reasonable 
arrangements to ensure accommodation and accessibility to this meeting. Upon request, the 
Commission shall also make available this agenda and all other public records associated with the 
meeting in appropriate alternative formats for the persons with a disability. 

2

mailto:susan.gray@sduhsd.net


San Dieguito Union High School District 
PERSONNEL COMMISSION 

Regular Meeting Agenda 
3:30 PM, October 14, 2025 

MEETING/OPEN SESSION 

1. Call to Order, Commission Chair

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. Approval of the Agenda for the October 14, 2025, Personnel Commission           
Regular Meeting.
Public Comments, if any
Motion by , second by , to approve the agenda for the October
14, 2025, Personnel Commission Regular Meeting.

4. Approval of the Minutes for the September 9, 2025, Personnel Commission
Regular Meeting.
Public Comments, if any
Motion by , second by , to approve the minutes of the
September 9, 2025, Personnel Commission Regular Meeting.

5. PUBLIC COMMENTS ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS
No action or discussion shall be undertaken on any item not appearing on the
posted agenda, except that members of the commission or its staff may briefly
respond to statements made or questions posed by persons exercising their
public testimony rights under Government Code §54954.3. In addition, on their
own initiative or in response to questions posed by the public, a member of the
commission or its staff may ask a question for clarification, make a brief
announcement, or make a brief report on their own activities. Furthermore, a
member of the commission, or the body itself, subject to rules or procedures of
the commission, may provide a reference to staff or other resources for factual
information, request staff to report back to the commission at a subsequent
meeting concerning any matter, or take action to direct staff to place a matter of
business on a future agenda. Public comments shall be limited to three minutes
per individual. A total of fifteen minutes shall be allotted per item.

A. California School Employees Association
B. San Dieguito Union High School District
C. Public

ACTION ITEMS (See Supplements) 
6. ELIGIBILITY LISTS TO BE RATIFIED/APPROVED

3



Public Comments, if any 
A. Motion by _____, second by _____, to approve a Continuous Filing Eligibility

List for Custodian-Floater, SR33, Open/Promotional-Dual Certification,
updated on 09/05/2025, individual eligibility valid for six months.

B. Motion by _____, second by _____, to approve a Continuous Filing Eligibility
List for Custodian, SR32, Open/Promotional-Dual Certification, updated on
09/05/2025, individual eligibility valid for six months.

C. Motion by _____, second by _____, to approve a Continuous Filing Eligibility
List for Instructional/Personal Care Assistant, SR37, Open/Promotional-Dual
Certification, updated on 09/08/2025, individual eligibility valid for six months.

D. Motion by _____, second by _____, to approve a Continuous Filing Eligibility
List for Instructional/Personal Care Assistant, SR37, Open/Promotional-Dual
Certification, updated on 09/09/2025, individual eligibility valid for six months.

E. Motion by _____, second by _____, to approve an Eligibility List for Aquatics
Program & Facility Use Supervisor, Supervisory SR11, Open/Promotional-
Dual Certification, updated on 09/10/2025, individual eligibility valid for six
months.

F. Motion by _____, second by _____, to approve an Eligibility List for Vocational
Developer, SR37, Open/Promotional-Dual Certification, updated on
09/12/2025, individual eligibility valid for six months.

G. Motion by _____, second by _____, to approve an Eligibility List for Aquatics
Program & Facility Use Supervisor, Supervisory SR11, Open/Promotional-
Dual Certification, updated on 09/15/2025, individual eligibility valid for six
months.

H. Motion by _____, second by _____, to approve a Continuous Filing Eligibility
List for Instructional Assistant – Multilingual Learners, SR31,
Open/Promotional-Dual Certification, updated on 09/15/2025, individual
eligibility valid for six months.

I. Motion by _____, second by _____, to approve a Continuous Filing Eligibility
List for Nutrition Services Assistant I, SR25, Open/Promotional-Dual
Certification, updated on 09/19/2025, individual eligibility valid for six months.

J. Motion by _____, second by _____, to approve a Continuous Filing Eligibility
List for Instructional Assistant – Multilingual Learners, SR31,
Open/Promotional-Dual Certification, updated on 09/22/2025, individual
eligibility valid for six months.

K. Motion by _____, second by _____, to approve a Continuous Filing Eligibility
List for Campus Supervisor, SR32, Open/Promotional-Dual Certification,
updated on 09/24/2025, individual eligibility valid for six months.

L. Motion by _____, second by _____, to approve an Eligibility list for
Receptionist, SR32, Open/Promotional-Dual Certification, updated on
09/24/2025, individual eligibility valid for six months.

M. Motion by _____, second by _____, to approve a Continuous Filing Eligibility
List for Instructional Assistant SpEd – Behavior Intervention, SR36,
Open/Promotional-Dual Certification, updated on 09/25/2025, individual
eligibility valid for six months.

4



 

 

N. Motion by _____, second by _____, to approve a Continuous Filing Eligibility 
List for Instructional/Personal Care Assistant SpEd, SR37, Open/Promotional-
Dual Certification, updated on 09/25/2025, individual eligibility valid for six 
months. 

O. Motion by _____, second by _____, to approve a Continuous Filing Eligibility 
List for Nutrition Services Assistant I, SR25, Open/Promotional-Dual 
Certification, updated on 10/03/25, individual eligibility valid for six months. 

P. Motion by _____, second by _____, to approve a Continuous Filing Eligibility 
List for Instructional/Personal Care Assistant SpEd, SR37, Open/Promotional-
Dual Certification, updated on 10/08/2025, individual eligibility valid for six 
months. 

 
7. ELIGIBILITY LISTS TO BE ESTABLISHED/RECRUITMENTS POSTED 

 Public Comments, if any 
A. Motion by _____, second by _____, to establish a six-month Eligibility List for 

Accounting Assistant, SR40, Open/Promotional-Dual Certification.  
B. Motion by _____, second by _____, to establish a six-month Eligibility List for 

Network Technician, SR57, Promotional Only. 
C. Motion by _____, second by _____, to establish a six-month Eligibility List for 

Translator/Interpreter (Spanish), SR41, Open/Promotional-Dual Certification.  
D. Motion by _____, second by _____, to establish a six-month Eligibility List for 

Registrar, SR40, Open/Promotional-Dual Certification. 
E. Motion by _____, second by _____, to establish a six-month Eligibility List for 

Vehicle & Equipment Service Worker, SR41, Open/Promotional-Dual 
Certification. 

 
8. CLASSIFICATION REVIEWS  

Public Comments, if any 
 

A. Job Description Revisions 
1. Systems Integration Analyst 
Motion by _____, second by ______, to revise the job description for Systems 
Integration Analyst as proposed.  
 

9. PERSONNEL COMMISSION RULES & REGULATIONS 
Public Comments, if any 
Motion by _______, second by _______, to approve the reformatted Personnel 
Commission Rules and Regulations.  
  

DISCUSSION/INFORMATION ITEMS (See Supplements) 
10. STAFF COMMENTS ON PERSONNEL ACTIVITIES 

Public Comments, if any 
A. Vacancy Report Summary 
B. Vacancy Report  
C. Personnel Listing 

5



 

 

 
11.  CORRESPONDENCE 

 Public Comments, if any 
 

12.  NEXT PERSONNEL COMMISSION MEETING 
The next Regular meeting of the Personnel Commission is scheduled for 
Tuesday, November 4, 2025 at 3:30 p.m. 

 
13.  ADJOURNMENT 

6



San Dieguito Union High School District 
PERSONNEL COMMISSION 

Regular Meeting Minutes 
3:30 PM, September 9, 2025 

MEETING/OPEN SESSION 
1. Call to Order, Commission Chair

The meeting was called to order at 3:30 PM by Commissioner BAIRD.

2. Pledge of Allegiance
Commissioner BAIRD led the Pledge of Allegiance

Personnel Commissioners in Attendance
John Baird
Jeff Charles
Justin Cunningham

Personnel Commission Staff in Attendance
Susan Gray, Director of Classified Personnel
Barbara Bass, Human Resources Analyst
Alyssa Avelar, Human Resources Technician

3. Approval of the Agenda for the September 9, 2025, Personnel Commission           
Regular Meeting.
Public Comments - None
Motion by Commissioner CUNNINGHAM, second by Commissioner CHARLES,
to approve the agenda for the September 9, 2025, Personnel Commission
Regular Meeting.
Justin Cunningham
Jeff Charles
John Baird
Passed with Three Ayes

4. Approval of the Minutes for the August 12, 2025, Personnel Commission Regular
Meeting.
Public Comments - None
Motion by Commissioner CHARLES, second by Commissioner CUNNINGHAM,
to approve the minutes of the August 12, 2025, Personnel Commission Regular
Meeting.
Jeff Charles
Justin Cunningham
John Baird
Passed with Three Ayes

7



5. PUBLIC COMMENTS ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS
No action or discussion shall be undertaken on any item not appearing on the
posted agenda, except that members of the commission or its staff may briefly
respond to statements made or questions posed by persons exercising their
public testimony rights under Government Code §54954.3. In addition, on their
own initiative or in response to questions posed by the public, a member of the
commission or its staff may ask a question for clarification, make a brief
announcement, or make a brief report on their own activities. Furthermore, a
member of the commission, or the body itself, subject to rules or procedures of
the commission, may provide a reference to staff or other resources for factual
information, request staff to report back to the commission at a subsequent
meeting concerning any matter, or take action to direct staff to place a matter of
business on a future agenda. Public comments shall be limited to three minutes
per individual. A total of fifteen minutes shall be allotted per item.

A. California School Employees Association - None
B. San Dieguito Union High School District – Tracy Olander expressed

gratitude for all classified employees for the smooth start of the school year.
C. Public - None

ACTION ITEMS (See Supplements) 
6. ELIGIBILITY LISTS TO BE RATIFIED/APPROVED

Public Comments - None
A. Motion by Commissioner CUNNINGHAM, second by Commissioner

CHARLES, to approve a Continuous Filing Eligibility List for Nutrition Services
Assistant II, SR27, Open/Promotional-Dual Certification, updated on
08/07/2025, individual eligibility valid for six months.
Justin Cunningham
Jeff Charles
John Baird
Passed with Three Ayes

B. Motion by Commissioner CHARLES, second by Commissioner
CUNNINGHAM, to approve an Eligibility List for Health Technician, SR35,
Open/Promotional-Dual Certification, updated on 08/11/2025, individual
eligibility valid for six months.
Jeff Charles
Justin Cunningham
John Baird
Passed with Three Ayes

C. Motion by Commissioner CUNNINGHAM, second by Commissioner
CHARLES, to approve a Continuous Filing Eligibility List for Campus
Supervisor, SR32, Open/Promotional-Dual Certification, updated on
08/12/2025, individual eligibility valid for six months.
Justin Cunningham

8



 

 

Jeff Charles 
John Baird 
Passed with Three Ayes 

D. Motion by Commissioner CHARLES, second by Commissioner 
CUNNINGHAM, to approve a Continuous Filing Eligibility List for Instructional 
Assistant SpEd (Behavior Intervention), SR36, Open/Promotional-Dual 
Certification, updated on 08/12/2025, individual eligibility valid for six months. 
Jeff Charles 
Justin Cunningham 
John Baird 
Passed with Three Ayes 

E. Motion by Commissioner CUNNINGHAM, second by Commissioner 
CHARLES, to approve a Continuous Filing Eligibility List for Instructional 
Assistant SpEd, SR34, Open/Promotional-Dual Certification, updated on 
08/12/2025, individual eligibility valid for six months.  
Justin Cunningham 
Jeff Charles 
John Baird 
Passed with Three Ayes 

F. Motion by Commissioner CHARLES, second by Commissioner 
CUNNINGHAM, to approve an Eligibility List for Athletic Trainer, SR47, 
Open/Promotional-Dual Certification, updated on 08/13/2025, individual 
eligibility valid for six months.  
Jeff Charles 
Justin Cunningham 
John Baird 
Passed with Three Ayes 

G. Motion by Commissioner CUNNINGHAM, second by Commissioner 
CHARLES, to approve an Eligibility List for Registrar, SR40, 
Open/Promotional-Dual Certification, updated on 08/13/2025, individual 
eligibility valid for six months.  
Justin Cunningham 
Jeff Charles 
John Baird 
Passed with Three Ayes 

H. Motion by Commissioner CHARLES, second by Commissioner 
CUNNINGHAM, to approve an Eligibility List for Grounds Maintenance Worker 
II, SR39, Open/Promotional-Dual Certification, updated on 08/14/2025, 
individual eligibility valid for six months. 
Jeff Charles 
Justin Cunningham 
John Baird 
Passed with Three Ayes 

I. Motion by Commissioner CUNNINGHAM, second by Commission CHARLES, 
to approve an Eligibility List for Technology Supervisor, Supervisory SR9, 

9



 

 

Open/Promotional, updated on 08/14/2025, individual eligibility valid for six 
months. 
Justin Cunningham 
Jeff Charles 
John Baird 
Passed with Three Ayes 

J. Motion by Commissioner CHARLES, second by Commissioner 
CUNNINGHAM, to approve an Eligibility List for Grounds Maintenance 
Equipment Operator, SR41, Open/Promotional-Dual Certification, updated on 
08/15/2025, individual eligibility valid for six months. 
Jeff Charles 
Justin Cunningham 
John Baird 
Passed with Three Ayes 

K. Motion by Commissioner CUNNINGHAM, second by Commissioner 
CHARLES, to approve a Continuous Filing Eligibility List for Student 
Healthcare Specialist, SR40, Open/Promotional-Dual Certification, updated on 
08/15/2025, individual eligibility valid for six months. 
Justin Cunningham 
Jeff Charles 
John Baird 
Passed with Three Ayes 

L. Motion by Commissioner CHARLES, second by Commissioner 
CUNNINGHAM, to approve a Continuous Filing Eligibility List for Instructional 
Assistant SpEd, SR34, Open/Promotional-Dual Certification, updated on 
08/25/2025, individual eligibility valid for six months. 
Jeff Charles 
Justin Cunningham 
John Baird 
Passed with Three Ayes 

 
7. ELIGIBILITY LISTS TO BE ESTABLISHED/RECRUITMENTS POSTED 

 Public Comments - None 
A. Motion by Commissioner CUNNINGHAM, second by Commissioner 

CHARLES, to establish a six-month Eligibility List for Aquatics Program & 
Facility Use Supervisor, Supervisory SR11, Open/Promotional-Dual 
Certification.  
Justin Cunningham 
Jeff Charles 
John Baird 
Passed with Three Ayes 

B. Motion by Commissioner CHARLES, second by Commissioner 
CUNNINGHAM, to establish a six-month Eligibility List for Vocational 
Developer, SR37, Open/Promotional-Dual Certification. 
Jeff Charles 

10



Justin Cunningham 
John Baird 
Passed with Three Ayes 

C. Motion by Commissioner CUNNINGHAM, second by Commissioner
CHARLES, to establish a six-month Eligibility List for Instructional Assistant-
Multilingual Learners, SR31, Open/Promotional-Dual Certification.
Justin Cunningham
Jeff Charles
John Baird
Passed with Three Ayes

8. CLASSIFICATION REVIEWS
Public Comments – Carmen Blum

A. Job Description Revisions
1. Translator/Interpreter – Spanish
Motion by Commissioner CHARLES, second by Commissioner
CUNNINGHAM, to revise the job description for Translator/Interpreter –
Spanish as proposed.
Jeff Charles – aye
Justin Cunningham – aye
John Baird – no
Passed with Two Ayes

Carmen Blum’s primary concern was the compensation, arguing that the 
current salary range for the Interpreter/Translator Spanish position was 
significantly lower than the Interpreter for the Deaf and Hard-of-Hearing, 
despite similar skill levels and the specialized nature of the work. Carmen 
expressed concern that an underpaid position could lead to high turnover or 
reliance on expensive agency interpreters. She also highlighted a new duty 
added to the revised job description: scheduling other interpreters for various 
languages across the district. Carmen argued this was never part of her duties, 
requires desk-based work, and takes significant time, making it inappropriate 
for her traveling role. 

Susan Gray clarified that the job description revisions primarily added detail 
and appropriate terminology. She acknowledged the added scheduling duty, 
but stated it would be up to the department to manage the workload. Susan 
explained that the market for a sign language interpreter is different and is a 
much harder to fill position. She noted that the current salary range for the 
Interpreter/Translator Spanish position is slightly above the market midpoint. 
She also stated that if the position becomes hard to fill or significantly under 
market, the Personnel Commission could possibly bring it back for a salary 
adjustment. Gray also noted that new hires can begin at an advanced step if 
they are highly experienced and the position is hard to fill. 

11



9. PERSONNEL COMMISSION MEETING CALENDAR
Public Comments - None
Motion by Commissioner CUNNINGHAM, second by Commissioner CHARLES,
to reschedule the November Personnel Commission meeting to November 4,
2025.
Justin Cunningham
Jeff Charles
John Baird
Passed with Three Ayes

DISCUSSION/INFORMATION ITEMS (See Supplements) 
10. STAFF COMMENTS ON PERSONNEL ACTIVITIES

Public Comments - None
A. Vacancy Report Summary – Susan Gray noted there are currently 49 open

positions, with a recent uptick in applicants following a lull over the summer.
B. Vacancy Report
C. Personnel Listing - The Personnel Listing included data from June and July

through August 7th due to no board meetings in July.

11. CORRESPONDENCE
Public Comments – None

John Baird announced that the CSPCA Conference will be held in San Diego.

12. NEXT PERSONNEL COMMISSION MEETING
The next Regular meeting of the Personnel Commission is scheduled for
Tuesday, October 14, 2025 at 3:30 p.m.

13. ADJOURNMENT – 4:45 PM

12



Custodian Floater
Eligibility List-Continuous Filing
Open/Promo-Dual Certification

Effective Date: 9/5/2025

Applicant ID Rank Expiration Date Source
10770 1 3/5/2026 Open
6905 2 10/17/2025 Open

10741 3 3/5/2026 Open
10874 4 3/5/2026 Open
9415 5 3/5/2026 Open
2519 6 10/17/2025 Open

10636 7 3/5/2026 Open
5808 8 9/24/2025 Open

Please note: individual eligibility list is valid for 6 months.
Scores are merged each time the exam is administered.

S. Gray

San Dieguito Union High School District
Personnel Commission

13



Custodian
Eligibility List-Continuous Filing
Open/Promo-Dual Certification

Date:  9/5/2025

Applicant ID Rank Expiration Date Source
10768 1 3/5/2026 Open
6893 2 10/17/2025 Open
9299 3 3/5/2026 Promo

10780 4 3/5/2026 Open
10698 4 3/5/2026 Open
9606 5 3/5/2026 Open

10628 6 3/5/2026 Open
10642 7 3/5/2026 Open
10873 8 3/5/2026 Open
9558 8 3/5/2026 Open

10639 9 3/5/2026 Open
6933 10 10/17/2025 Open
9582 11 3/5/2026 Open

10627 12 3/5/2026 Open

Please note: individual eligibility list is valid for 6 months.
Scores are merged each time the exam is administered.

S. Gray

San Dieguito Union High School District
Personnel Commission

14



Instructional/Personal Care Assistant SpEd
Eligibility List-Continuous Filing
Open/Promo-Dual Certification

Date: 9/8/2025

Applicant ID Rank Expiration Date Source
9168 1 1/17/2026 Open

10927 2 3/8/2026 Open

Please note: individual eligibility list is valid for 6 months.

S. Gray

San Dieguito Union High School District
Personnel Commission

15



Instructional/Personal Care Assistant SpEd
Eligibility List-Continuous Filing
Open/Promo-Dual Certification

Date: 9/9/2025

Applicant ID Rank Expiration Date Source
9168 1 1/17/2026 Open

10969 2 3/9/2026 Open
10927 3 3/8/2026 Open

Please note: individual eligibility list is valid for 6 months.

S. Gray

San Dieguito Union High School District
Personnel Commission

16



Aquatics Program & Facility Use Supervisor
Eligibility List
Open/Promo-Dual Certification

Effective Date:  9/10/2025

Applicant ID Rank Expiration Date Source
9551 1 3/10/2026 Open

Please note: individual eligibility list is valid for 6 months.

S. Gray

San Dieguito Union High School District
Personnel Commission

17



Vocational Developer
Eligibility List
Open/Promo-Dual Certification

Date:  9/12/2025

Applicant ID Rank Expiration Date Source
10959 1 3/12/2026 Open
10724 1 3/12/2026 Open
10958 2 3/12/2026 Open
10783 3 3/12/2026 Promo
10663 3 3/12/2026 Open
10903 4 3/12/2026 Open
10641 5 3/12/2026 Promo

Please note: individual eligibility list is valid for 6 months.

S. Gray

San Dieguito Union High School District
Personnel Commission

18



Aquatics Program & Facility Use Supervisor
Eligibility List
Open/Promo-Dual Certification

Effective Date:  9/15/2025

Applicant ID Rank Expiration Date Source
9551 1 3/10/2026 Open

11020 2 3/15/2026 Open

Please note: individual eligibility list is valid for 6 months.

S. Gray

San Dieguito Union High School District
Personnel Commission

19



Instructional Assistant - Multilingual Learners
Eligibility List-Continuous Filing
Open/Promo-Dual Certification

Date:  9/15/2025

Applicant ID Rank Expiration Date Source
10716 1 3/15/2026 Open
10633 2 3/15/2026 Open
10617 3 3/15/2026 Open
10719 4 3/15/2026 Open

Please note: individual eligibility list is valid for 6 months.

S. Gray

San Dieguito Union High School District
Personnel Commission

20



Nutrition Services Assistant I
Eligibility List-Continuous Filing
Open/Promo-Dual Certification

Effective Date:  9/19/2025

Applicant ID Rank Expiration Date Source
11106 1 3/19/2026 Open

Please note: individual eligibility list is valid for 6 months.

S. Gray

San Dieguito Union High School District
Personnel Commission

21



Instructional Assistant - Multilingual Learners
Eligibility List-Continuous Filing
Open/Promo-Dual Certification

Date:  9/22/2025

Applicant ID Rank Expiration Date Source
10716 1 3/15/2026 Open
10633 2 3/15/2026 Open
10617 3 3/15/2026 Open
10719 4 3/15/2026 Open
11051 4 3/22/2026 Open

Please note: individual eligibility list is valid for 6 months.

S. Gray

San Dieguito Union High School District
Personnel Commission

22



Campus Supervisor
Eligibility List-Continuous
Open/Promo-Dual Certification

Updated:  9/24/2025

Applicant ID Rank Expiration Date Source
10984 1 3/24/2026 Open
11044 2 3/24/2026 Open
9220 3 2/12/2026 Open
9197 3 2/12/2026 Open

10737 4 3/24/2026 Open
10883 5 3/24/2026 Open
10743 5 3/24/2026 Open
10804 6 3/24/2026 Open

Please note: individual eligibility list is valid for 6 months.
Scores are merged each time the exam is administered.

S. Gray

San Dieguito Union High School District
Personnel Commission

23



Receptionist
Eligibility List
Open/Promo-Dual Certification

Date:  9/24/2025

Applicant ID Rank Expiration Date Source
10992 1 3/24/2026 Open
10909 2 3/24/2026 Open
10745 3 3/24/2026 Open
10701 4 3/24/2026 Open
10734 5 3/24/2026 Open
10623 6 3/24/2026 Open

Please note: individual eligibility list is valid for 6 months.

S. Gray

San Dieguito Union High School District
Personnel Commission

24



Instructional Assistant SpEd-Behavior Intervention
Eligibility List-Continuous Filing
Open/Promo-Dual Certification

Updated Date: 9/25/2025

Applicant ID Rank Expiration Date Source
11144 1 3/25/2026 Open
9590 1 2/25/2026 Open

Please note: individual eligibility list is valid for 6 months.

S. Gray

San Dieguito Union High School District
Personnel Commission

25



Instructional/Personal Care Assistant SpEd
Eligibility List-Continuous Filing
Open/Promo-Dual Certification

Date: 9/25/2025

Applicant ID Rank Expiration Date Source
11143 1 3/25/2026 Open

Please note: individual eligibility list is valid for 6 months.

S. Gray

San Dieguito Union High School District
Personnel Commission

26



Nutrition Services Assistant I
Eligibility List-Continuous Filing

Open/Promo-Dual Certification

Effective Date:  10/3/2025

Applicant ID Rank Expiration Date Source

11106 1 3/19/2025 Open

11257 1 4/3/2026 Open

Please note: individual eligibility list is valid for 6 months.

S. Gray

San Dieguito Union High School District

Personnel Commission

27



Instructional/Personal Care Assistant SpEd
Eligibility List-Continuous Filing
Open/Promo-Dual Certification

Date: 10/8/2025

Applicant ID Rank Expiration Date Source
11111 1 4/8/2026 Open

Please note: individual eligibility list is valid for 6 months.

S. Gray

San Dieguito Union High School District
Personnel Commission

28



Canyon Crest Academy • Carmel Valley MS • Diegueño MS • Earl Warren MS • La Costa Canyon HS 
Oak Crest MS • Pacific Trails MS • San Dieguito HS Academy • Sunset HS • Torrey Pines HS 

Board of Trustees 
Michael Allman 
Phan Anderson 
Jane Lea Smith 
Rimga Viskanta 

Jodie Williams 

Superintendent 
Anne L. Staffieri, Ed.D. 

710 Encinitas Boulevard, Encinitas, CA 92024 
Telephone (760) 753-6491 
www.sduhsd.net 

Classified Personnel Commission 
John Baird, Commissioner 

Jeff Charles, Commissioner 
Justin Cunningham, Commissioner 

Susan Gray, Director 

Classification Review Report 
Classification Systems Integration Analyst 

Classification Type Classified 

Salary Range 60 

Submission to Classification Advisory Committee September 26, 2025 

Submission to Personnel Commission October 14, 2025 

Background 

The incumbent in this classification requested that holding a driver’s license be removed as a requirement for the 
position.  The incumbent reported that driving is not necessary for his position.  His supervisor, the Director of 
Technology, agreed that a driver’s license is not needed for this position.  This is a single incumbent position.   

As such, and to be compliant with SB 1100, it is recommended that the driver’s license requirement be removed 
from the job description for the classification. 

Recommendation 

It is recommended that the driver’s license requirement be removed from the job description for the Systems 
Integration Analyst and the revisions to the job description be approved as proposed.  

Vote by Committee Members: 
Vote Member Vote Member 

Matt Colwell, CSEA Dawn Campbell, Admin 
Kalani Crosby, CSEA Antonio Perez, Admin 

Jacqueline Chappell, Admin 

Abstain
Yes

Yes

Yes
Yes

29



CLASSIFIED 

San Dieguito Union High School District Page 1 of 4 
Adopted:   March 13, 2024 

SYSTEMS INTEGRATION ANALYST 

JOB SUMMARY 
The Systems Integration Analyst analyzes, integrates, and supports a variety of computing platforms, 
software, and programs; researches system capabilities and analyzes effectiveness of existing and 
potential software applications; performs analytical duties in the planning, development, interoperability 
and optimization of technology systems; develops reporting, automation and export capabilities; modifies 
and develops various database systems in support of special projects as required; and performs related 
duties as assigned. 

REPRESENTATIVE DUTIES 
The position description describes the general nature of work performed. 

ESSENTIAL FUNCTIONS 
The System Integration Analyst may perform any combination of the following: 














Performs analysis of new and existing computer systems to enhance capabilities, efficiencies and
interoperability; identifies opportunities for the integration of data between database systems; plans,
manages and facilitates the migration of data between systems; expands and modifies systems to
improve functionality in reflection of district processes and requirements.
Assists in the development and optimization of computer systems; conducts application testing; plans
and implements system integration and interoperability; identifies and diagnoses data and system
inaccuracies and anomalies; ensures compliance with District, State and Federal student database
requirements.
Inputs and compiles data from a wide variety of sources; manages large data sets; submits data and
reports to governmental and oversight agencies as directed; coordinates and supports the
implementation of customized databases using data extracts from multiple sources; improves
functionality of designated databases by scripting, automating, and integrating with other computer
systems; designs and develops new applications and computer functions as required.
Assesses end user capabilities of various systems; develops and updates documentation specific to
support databases, reporting activities, and other applications; informs related procedures and
logistics; provides training, technical assistance, and support to district personnel as required.
Supports district activities as directed by assisting end-users throughout the district with the
installation, configuration, troubleshooting, diagnosis, repair, restoration and maintenance of desktop
and laptop computer hardware and software; troubleshoots program and system malfunctions;
provides work guidance to staff as assigned to resolve hardware and software problems; instructs
users with resolving hardware and software challenges.
Participates in trainings and workshops to keep informed of emerging trends and technologies; meets
with various departments, personnel, school sites and outside agencies to exchange information,
provide necessary support, coordinate activities and resolve difficulties; consults with management to
plan updates in reflection of district needs and requirements; and collaborates with others to gather
information relevant to system integration and optimization duties and support related planning and
activities.
Communicates with vendors, suppliers, District administrators and personnel concerning program
operation and new technology; researches, plans, tests, documents, and optimizes new software and
hardware configurations for use on the District network and verifies interoperability; backs up,
restores, archives and optimizes data as needed.

30



CLASSIFIED 

SYSTEMS INTEGRATION ANALYST 

San Dieguito Union High School District Page 2 of 4 
Adopted:   March 13, 2024 









Establishes processes to improve manageability of desktop assets and creates and automates
deployment of system and software updates and computer configurations.
Ensures compliance with safety regulations; follows instructions; schedules and performs work
efficiently; maintains records of work activities; responds to emergency requests for equipment
repairs as directed.
Partners with Network Analyst to share information and expertise in order to provide support during
absences.
Performs other job-related duties as assigned.

JOB REQUIREMENTS:  MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 

KNOWLEDGE OF: 












Windows computer platforms, applications, operation and peripheral equipment
Repair and maintenance of PC-based computers, local area networks (LAN)
operations and software such as Powershell, SQL, VBA, Java, and javaScript, multiple table relational
database concepts, methods, procedures, applications such as Oracle, SQL Server, and Windows
Server
Data processing principles, practices, and capabilities
Specifications and formatting of reports utilizing student information systems and other database
software, spreadsheets and data processing systems
Computer logic and flow-charting skills
Principles of training
Oral and written communication techniques
Report generation as required
Interrelationship of district business processes and computerized
systems.

ABILITY TO: 
















Install, manage, maintain and repair a wide variety of PC-based desktop/laptop computers and
peripheral equipment
Train and provide technical support to users in computer operation, software, networked systems
Learn and effectively use software specific to District needs
Maintain records and files
Schedule and perform work to meet established timelines
Maintain complex, real-time, District-wide database systems
Analyze complex data
Extract data by developing complex queries requiring logic
Write program and process documentation and user manuals
Present technical concepts clearly and concisely both orally and in writing; respond to emergencies
without delay
Work independently with minimal supervision
Establish and maintain effective and cooperative working relationships with others
Communicate technical information effectively with others unfamiliar with the terminology

31



CLASSIFIED 

SYSTEMS INTEGRATION ANALYST 

San Dieguito Union High School District Page 3 of 4 
Adopted:   March 13, 2024 

EDUCATION AND EXPERIENCE 
Bachelor’s Degree (or equivalent combination of education and experience) with major course work in 
computer science, information systems or related field and at least three years of experience in relational 
database or software development or at least three years of experience performing multiplatform 
support, installation and troubleshooting that includes system analysis and development.  Experience with 
student database systems is desirable. 

DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 
Systems Integration Analyst performs technical duties in the integration and optimization of a variety of 
technology systems; is distinguished by its specialization in database design, planning and analysis to 
ensure system interoperability.  

This position is distinguished from the Network Analyst, which is responsible for the planning, installation 
and ongoing maintenance of the District’s wide area network and local area networks. 

REQUIRED TESTING 
Pre-employment testing and assessment is required to demonstrate the minimum qualifications for the 
position. 

LICENSES/CERTIFICATES 
Possession of a valid California Class C Driver’s License; record of driving history issued by the California 
DMV on its Form H-6 less than 30 days prior to applying for the position. 
None. 

CONTINUING EDUCATION/TRAINING 
Participation in ongoing job-related training as assigned. 

CLEARANCES 
California Department of Justice (DOJ) and Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) background (fingerprint) 
clearance; pre-employment physical examination including tuberculosis (TB) and drug screen clearances. 

WORKING ENVIRONMENT 
The usual and customary methods of performing the job functions require the physical demands outlined 
below.  All requirements are subject to possible modification to reasonably accommodate individuals with 
a disability. 

Physical Demands:  Frequency Definitions Based on an 8-Hour Day: 
Never = 0% 
Seldom = 1-10% (<45 minutes) 
Occasionally = 11-33% (up to 3 hours) 
Frequently = 34-66% (up to 6 hours) 
Continuously = 67-100% (more than 6 hours) 

32



CLASSIFIED 

SYSTEMS INTEGRATION ANALYST 

San Dieguito Union High School District Page 4 of 4 
Adopted:   March 13, 2024 

Seldom stooping/bending, squatting/crouching, climbing/balancing, kneeling, 
twisting back 

Seldom/Occasionally pushing and pulling, reach above shoulder, reach at shoulder 
Occasionally walking, standing, lifting 11-25 lbs. at waist height, carrying 11-25 lbs. 

up to 25 feet, lifting up to 10 lbs. overhead or at shoulder height, 
carrying up to 10 lbs. up to 25 feet 

Occasionally/Frequently handling/simple grasping, sitting, neck flexion/rotation, fingering/fine 
manipulation, reach below shoulder 

AUDITORY OR VISUAL REQUIREMENTS 
Sufficient visual acuity to read manuals, see contents on a computer screen and see circuitry inside a 
computer system; sufficient hearing to comprehend low level beeps from computers; 

ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS 
Most of the time the job is performed in an office environment under minimal temperature variations, a 
generally hazard free environment, and in a clean atmosphere. 

FLSA STATUS 

Non-Exempt 

SALARY RANGE 

60 

33



CLASSIFIED 

San Dieguito Union High School District Page 1 of 4 
Adopted:   March 13, 2024 

SYSTEMS INTEGRATION ANALYST

JOB SUMMARY 
The Systems Integration Analyst analyzes, integrates, and supports a variety of computing platforms, 
software, and programs; researches system capabilities and analyzes effectiveness of existing and 
potential software applications; performs analytical duties in the planning, development, interoperability 
and optimization of technology systems; develops reporting, automation and export capabilities; modifies 
and develops various database systems in support of special projects as required; and performs related 
duties as assigned. 

REPRESENTATIVE DUTIES 
The position description describes the general nature of work performed. 

ESSENTIAL FUNCTIONS 
The System Integration Analyst may perform any combination of the following: 
•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Performs analysis of new and existing computer systems to enhance capabilities, efficiencies and
interoperability; identifies opportunities for the integration of data between database systems; plans,
manages and facilitates the migration of data between systems; expands and modifies systems to
improve functionality in reflection of district processes and requirements.
Assists in the development and optimization of computer systems; conducts application testing; plans
and implements system integration and interoperability; identifies and diagnoses data and system
inaccuracies and anomalies; ensures compliance with District, State and Federal student database
requirements.
Inputs and compiles data from a wide variety of sources; manages large data sets; submits data and
reports to governmental and oversight agencies as directed; coordinates and supports the
implementation of customized databases using data extracts from multiple sources; improves
functionality of designated databases by scripting, automating, and integrating with other computer
systems; designs and develops new applications and computer functions as required.
Assesses end user capabilities of various systems; develops and updates documentation specific to
support databases, reporting activities, and other applications; informs related procedures and
logistics; provides training, technical assistance, and support to district personnel as required.
Supports district activities as directed by assisting end-users throughout the district with the
installation, configuration, troubleshooting, diagnosis, repair, restoration and maintenance of desktop
and laptop computer hardware and software; troubleshoots program and system malfunctions;
provides work guidance to staff as assigned to resolve hardware and software problems; instructs
users with resolving hardware and software challenges.
Participates in trainings and workshops to keep informed of emerging trends and technologies; meets
with various departments, personnel, school sites and outside agencies to exchange information,
provide necessary support, coordinate activities and resolve difficulties; consults with management to
plan updates in reflection of district needs and requirements; and collaborates with others to gather
information relevant to system integration and optimization duties and support related planning and
activities.
Communicates with vendors, suppliers, District administrators and personnel concerning program
operation and new technology; researches, plans, tests, documents, and optimizes new software and
hardware configurations for use on the District network and verifies interoperability; backs up,
restores, archives and optimizes data as needed.

34



CLASSIFIED 

SYSTEMS INTEGRATION ANALYST

San Dieguito Union High School District Page 2 of 4 
Adopted:   March 13, 2024 

•

•

•

•

Establishes processes to improve manageability of desktop assets and creates and automates
deployment of system and software updates and computer configurations.
Ensures compliance with safety regulations; follows instructions; schedules and performs work
efficiently; maintains records of work activities; responds to emergency requests for equipment
repairs as directed.
Partners with Network Analyst to share information and expertise in order to provide support during
absences.
Performs other job-related duties as assigned.

JOB REQUIREMENTS:  MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 

KNOWLEDGE OF: 
•
•

•
•

•
•
•
•
•

Windows computer platforms, applications, operation and peripheral equipment
Repair and maintenance of PC-based computers, local area networks (LAN)
operations and software such as Powershell, SQL, VBA, Java, and javaScript, multiple table relational
database concepts, methods, procedures, applications such as Oracle, SQL Server, and Windows
Server
Data processing principles, practices, and capabilities
Specifications and formatting of reports utilizing student information systems and other database
software, spreadsheets and data processing systems
Computer logic and flow-charting skills
Principles of training
Oral and written communication techniques
Report generation as required
Interrelationship of district business processes and computerized
systems.

ABILITY TO: 
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

Install, manage, maintain and repair a wide variety of PC-based desktop/laptop computers and
peripheral equipment
Train and provide technical support to users in computer operation, software, networked systems
Learn and effectively use software specific to District needs
Maintain records and files
Schedule and perform work to meet established timelines
Maintain complex, real-time, District-wide database systems
Analyze complex data
Extract data by developing complex queries requiring logic
Write program and process documentation and user manuals
Present technical concepts clearly and concisely both orally and in writing; respond to emergencies
without delay
Work independently with minimal supervision
Establish and maintain effective and cooperative working relationships with others
Communicate technical information effectively with others unfamiliar with the terminology

35



CLASSIFIED 

SYSTEMS INTEGRATION ANALYST

San Dieguito Union High School District Page 3 of 4 
Adopted:   March 13, 2024 

EDUCATION AND EXPERIENCE 
Bachelor’s Degree (or equivalent combination of education and experience) with major course work in 
computer science, information systems or related field and at least three years of experience in relational 
database or software development or at least three years of experience performing multiplatform 
support, installation and troubleshooting that includes system analysis and development.  Experience with 
student database systems is desirable. 

DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 
Systems Integration Analyst performs technical duties in the integration and optimization of a variety of 
technology systems; is distinguished by its specialization in database design, planning and analysis to 
ensure system interoperability.  

This position is distinguished from the Network Analyst, which is responsible for the planning, installation 
and ongoing maintenance of the District’s wide area network and local area networks. 

REQUIRED TESTING 
Pre-employment testing and assessment is required to demonstrate the minimum qualifications for the 
position. 

LICENSES/CERTIFICATES 

None. 

CONTINUING EDUCATION/TRAINING 
Participation in ongoing job-related training as assigned. 

CLEARANCES 
California Department of Justice (DOJ) and Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) background (fingerprint) 
clearance; pre-employment physical examination including tuberculosis (TB) and drug screen clearances. 

WORKING ENVIRONMENT 
The usual and customary methods of performing the job functions require the physical demands outlined 
below.  All requirements are subject to possible modification to reasonably accommodate individuals with 
a disability. 

Physical Demands:  Frequency Definitions Based on an 8-Hour Day: 
Never = 0% 
Seldom = 1-10% (<45 minutes) 
Occasionally = 11-33% (up to 3 hours) 
Frequently = 34-66% (up to 6 hours) 
Continuously = 67-100% (more than 6 hours) 

36



CLASSIFIED 

SYSTEMS INTEGRATION ANALYST

San Dieguito Union High School District Page 4 of 4 
Adopted:   March 13, 2024 

Seldom stooping/bending, squatting/crouching, climbing/balancing, kneeling, 
twisting back 

Seldom/Occasionally pushing and pulling, reach above shoulder, reach at shoulder 
Occasionally walking, standing, lifting 11-25 lbs. at waist height, carrying 11-25 lbs. 

up to 25 feet, lifting up to 10 lbs. overhead or at shoulder height, 
carrying up to 10 lbs. up to 25 feet 

Occasionally/Frequently handling/simple grasping, sitting, neck flexion/rotation, fingering/fine 
manipulation, reach below shoulder 

AUDITORY OR VISUAL REQUIREMENTS 
Sufficient visual acuity to read manuals, see contents on a computer screen and see circuitry inside a 
computer system; sufficient hearing to comprehend low level beeps from computers; 

ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS 
Most of the time the job is performed in an office environment under minimal temperature variations, a 
generally hazard free environment, and in a clean atmosphere. 

FLSA STATUS 

Non-Exempt 

SALARY RANGE 

60 

37



 
   

 
 

 
 

 
Board of Trustees 

                           Michael Allman 
                          Phan Anderson 
                          Jane Lea Smith 
                          Rimga Viskanta 
                            Jodie Williams 
 

Superintendent 
   Anne L. Staffieri, Ed.D 

  
710 Encinitas Boulevard, Encinitas, CA 92024 
Telephone (760) 753-6491 
www.sduhsd.net 

Classified Personnel Commission 
John Baird, Commissioner 

Jeff Charles, Commissioner 
Justin Cunningham, Commissioner 

Susan Gray, Director 
 

Canyon Crest Academy • Carmel Valley MS • Diegueño MS • Earl Warren MS • La Costa Canyon HS 
Oak Crest MS • Pacific Trails MS • San Dieguito HS Academy • Sunset HS • Torrey Pines HS 

Memorandum 
 

To: Personnel Commission 
From: Susan Gray, Director of Classified Personnel 
Re: Personnel Commission Rules and Regulations 
Date:  September 26, 2025 
 
 
At its July 24, 2025 regular meeting, the Personnel Commission authorized staff to make non-substantive 
updates to the Personnel Commission Rules and Regulations for the Classified Service, to include 
reformatting and correcting typographical errors, misspellings, and punctuation.  
 
Staff has completed a thorough review and updated the Rules accordingly.  One correction required staff 
to correct references to Rule 13.1 in section 13.2.  Upon review, section 13.1 required renumbering 
which resulting in needing to update references to the appropriate subsections in section 13.2   
 
Specifically, the subsections were corrected as set out below:   

• 13.1(A)4 “Political activities engaged in by an employee during his/her assigned hours of 
employment” was corrected to 13.1(A)10. 

• 13.1(A)9 “Advocacy of overthrow of the Government of the United States or the State of California 
by force, violence, or other unlawful means” was corrected to 13.1(A)18.  

• 13.1(A)10 “Membership in the Communist Party. (EC45303)” was corrected to 13.1(A)19.  
 
All other revisions were minor edits/reformatting with no changes to verbiage or substantive revisions. 
 
This new format will be posted electronically and will allow users to easily find sections by simply clicking 
on the section in the Table of Contents to be taken to that section within the rules.  Users will also be able 
to use the “find” feature to search for key words or sections in the document. 
 
It is recommended that the Personnel Commission approve the updated Rules and Regulations for the 
Classified Service as presented.   
 

38



 
 

PERSONNEL COMMISSION 
 

RULES AND REGULATIONS FOR 
THE CLASSIFIED SERVICE 

 
 

SAN DIEGUITO UNION HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICT 
710 Encinitas Boulevard 

Encinitas, CA 92024 
 

Adopted: December 1973 
First General Revision: March 1984 

Second General Revision: September 2006 
Chapter 2 and Rule 6.1 Revised: May 2015 

Rule 4.12 Revised: September 2016 
Rule 8.1 Revised: January 2017 

Rules 6.3, 6.4 Revised: September 2017 
Rules 14.5 Revised: November 2017 

Rules 5.2, 6.16, 10.1 Revised: February 2018 
 Rules 4.8, 4.9 Revised: April 2019  

39



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

2 
 

Table of Contents 
CHAPTER 1 ................................................................................................................................................ 7 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT AND DEFINITIONS ............................................................................. 7 

1.1 Preliminary Statement ............................................................................................................... 7 

1.2  Definitions.................................................................................................................................... 8 

CHAPTER 2 .............................................................................................................................................. 16 

THE PERSONNEL COMMISSION ....................................................................................................... 16 

2.1 Establishment of the Personnel Commission and Membership ....................................... 16 

2.2  Appointment of Commissioner ............................................................................................... 16 

2.3  Terms of Commissioners ........................................................................................................ 16 

2.4  Officers of the Commission .................................................................................................... 17 

2.5 Quorum ...................................................................................................................................... 17 

2.6  Regular Meetings ..................................................................................................................... 17 

2.7  Special Meetings ...................................................................................................................... 17 

2.8  Public Meetings ........................................................................................................................ 18 

2.9  Closed Session ........................................................................................................................ 18 

2.10  Prohibition of Commission Gathering Privately ................................................................... 18 

2.11  Commission Compensation ................................................................................................... 18 

2.12  Communication ........................................................................................................................ 18 

2.13  Commission Minutes ............................................................................................................... 19 

2.14  Status of Commission Employees ......................................................................................... 19 

2.15  General Duties of the Personnel Director ............................................................................ 19 

2.16  Commission Budget ................................................................................................................ 20 

2.17  Annual Report ........................................................................................................................... 20 

2.18  Counsel for the Commission .................................................................................................. 20 

2.19 Violations of Education Code ................................................................................................. 20 

CHAPTER 3 .............................................................................................................................................. 22 

CLASSIFICATION ................................................................................................................................... 22 

3.1 Positions Included in the Classified Service ........................................................................ 22 

3.2 Positions Excluded From the Classified Service ................................................................. 22 

3.3  Employment of Professional Experts and Community Representatives ......................... 23 

3.4  Assignment of Duties .............................................................................................................. 23 

3.5 Classification Plan .................................................................................................................... 23 

40



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

3 
 

3.6  Class Specifications ................................................................................................................ 23 

3.7 Interpretation of Class Specifications ................................................................................... 24 

3.8  Classification of New Positions .............................................................................................. 25 

3.9  Working Out of Classification ................................................................................................. 25 

3.10  Changes in Duties of Positions .............................................................................................. 25 

3.11  Effect of Classification Changes on Incumbents ................................................................. 25 

3.12  Review of Positions ................................................................................................................. 26 

3.13  Effective Date of Reclassification .......................................................................................... 27 

3.14  Positions Requiring Multiple Languages .............................................................................. 28 

CHAPTER 4 .............................................................................................................................................. 29 

RECRUITMENT BULLETINS AND APPLICATIONS ....................................................................... 29 

4.1 Policy Regarding Conducting Examinations ........................................................................ 29 

4.2 Pre-Examination Information .................................................................................................. 29 

4.3 Competitive Basis for Examinations ..................................................................................... 29 

4.4 Recruitment Bulletins and Notice of Examinations ............................................................. 29 

4.5  Recruitment Programs ............................................................................................................ 30 

4.6 Filing of Applications ................................................................................................................ 30 

4.7 General Qualifications of Applicants ..................................................................................... 31 

4.8 Disqualification of Unfit Applicants, Candidates, and Eligibles ......................................... 31 

4.9 Rejection and Appeal of Rejection ........................................................................................ 32 

4.10 Action When Rejection Is Not Sustained ............................................................................. 33 

4.11 Confidentiality of Information .................................................................................................. 33 

4.12 Veterans' Preferences ............................................................................................................. 33 

CHAPTER 5 .............................................................................................................................................. 35 

EXAMINATION......................................................................................................................................... 35 

5.1  Purpose and Character of Examinations ............................................................................ 35 

5.2 Examination Procedures ......................................................................................................... 35 

5.3 Examination Values ................................................................................................................. 36 

5.4 Rating Required ....................................................................................................................... 36 

5.5  Notice of Examinations ........................................................................................................... 36 

5.6  Review of Examination ............................................................................................................ 36 

5.7  Examination Papers ................................................................................................................ 36 

5.8  Qualifications Appraisal Interview (Oral Examination) ....................................................... 37 

41



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

4 
 

5.9  Computing Final Scores .......................................................................................................... 37 

5.10  Seniority Credit - Promotional Examinations ....................................................................... 37 

5.11  Notice of Final Score ............................................................................................................... 38 

CHAPTER 6 .............................................................................................................................................. 39 

EMPLOYMENT LISTS ............................................................................................................................ 39 

6.1  Establishment and Life of Eligibility Lists ............................................................................. 39 

6.2  Reemployment Lists ................................................................................................................ 39 

6.3  Eligibility after Appointment .................................................................................................... 39 

6.4  Removal of Names from Eligibility Lists ............................................................................... 39 

6.5  Order of Precedence in Certification from Eligibility Lists .................................................. 40 

6.6  Dual Certification ...................................................................................................................... 40 

6.7  Other Sources of Eligibility ..................................................................................................... 40 

6.8  Procedure When Fewer Than Three Ranks Remain ......................................................... 40 

6.9  Procedure of Certification and Appointment from Eligibility Lists ..................................... 40 

6.10  Waivers of Certification ........................................................................................................... 41 

6.11  Certification from the List for another Class ......................................................................... 41 

6.12  Withholding Names from Certification .................................................................................. 41 

6.13  Restoration to Certification ..................................................................................................... 42 

6.14  Duties of Eligibles .................................................................................................................... 42 

6.15  Subjects Regarding Which No Questions Shall Be Asked ................................................ 43 

6.16  Transfer of Exam Scores ........................................................................................................ 43 

CHAPTER 7 .............................................................................................................................................. 44 

ASSIGNMENTS ....................................................................................................................................... 44 

7.1 Limited Term Employment ...................................................................................................... 44 

7.2  Eligibility for Limited Term Employment ............................................................................... 44 

7.3  Compensation for Limited Term Employment ..................................................................... 45 

7.4  Rights and Benefits during Limited Term Employment ...................................................... 45 

7.5  Terminations of Limited Term Employment ......................................................................... 45 

7.6  Provisional Appointments: Restrictions ................................................................................ 46 

7.7  Terminating Provisional Appointments ................................................................................. 46 

7.8  Emergency Appointments ...................................................................................................... 46 

7.9  Assignments of Disabled Employees ................................................................................... 46 

7.11 Payroll Audit .............................................................................................................................. 48 

42



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

5 
 

7.12  New Employee Clearances .................................................................................................... 48 

CHAPTER 8 .............................................................................................................................................. 51 

PROBATIONARY PERIOD .................................................................................................................... 51 

8.1 Duration of Probationary Period ............................................................................................ 51 

8.2  Rights of Probationary Employees ........................................................................................ 51 

CHAPTER 9 .............................................................................................................................................. 52 

TRANSFER ............................................................................................................................................... 52 

9.1 Transfer Procedure .................................................................................................................. 52 

9.2  Demotions ................................................................................................................................. 53 

9.3  Resignation ............................................................................................................................... 53 

9.4 Reinstatement .......................................................................................................................... 53 

CHAPTER 10 ............................................................................................................................................ 55 

PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL ............................................................................................................. 55 

10.1  When Evaluations are to be Made ........................................................................................ 55 

10.2  Performance Appraisal Procedure ........................................................................................ 55 

10.3  Special Performance Appraisal ............................................................................................. 56 

10.4  Performance Appraisal Form ................................................................................................. 56 

CHAPTER 11 ............................................................................................................................................ 57 

LEAVES OF ABSENCE ......................................................................................................................... 57 

11.1  The Personnel Commission’s Authority ............................................................................... 57 

11.2 Vacation ..................................................................................................................................... 57 

11.3  Personal Illness or Injury Leave............................................................................................. 59 

11.4  Personal Necessity Leave ..................................................................................................... 61 

11.5  Bereavement Leave ................................................................................................................ 61 

11.6  Judicial-Government Leave .................................................................................................... 62 

11.7  Industrial Accident & Illness Leave ....................................................................................... 62 

11.8  Maternity Leave ........................................................................................................................ 64 

11.9  Health Leave ............................................................................................................................. 64 

11.10  Personal Leave ........................................................................................................................ 64 

11.11 Military Leave............................................................................................................................ 65 

11.12  Absence for Examination ........................................................................................................ 65 

11.13  Leave to Serve in an Exempt, Temporary, or Limited-Term Position .............................. 65 

11.14  Cost Reimbursement for Training/Leave Not Involved ...................................................... 65 

43



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

6 
 

11.15  Service Recognition Day ........................................................................................................ 65 

CHAPTER 12 ............................................................................................................................................ 66 

LAYOFFS .................................................................................................................................................. 66 

12.1 Procedure for Layoff ................................................................................................................ 66 

12.2  Rights of Employees Laid Off ................................................................................................ 66 

12.3  Notice of Layoff ........................................................................................................................ 66 

12.4    Effects of Layoff ........................................................................................................................ 67 

CHAPTER 13 ............................................................................................................................................ 69 

DISCIPLINARY ACTION & APPEAL ................................................................................................... 69 

13.1    Causes for Suspension, Demotion, Dismissal ................................................................... 69 

13.2 Procedure for Disciplinary Action .......................................................................................... 70 

13.3  Appeal ........................................................................................................................................ 71 

13.4   Hearing Procedure ................................................................................................................... 72 

CHAPTER 14 ............................................................................................................................................ 74 

WAGE AND SALARY PROVISIONS ................................................................................................... 74 

14.1 The Personnel Commission’s Authority ............................................................................... 74 

14.2 Salary Studies and Recommendations ................................................................................ 74 

14.3  Initial Placement on Salary Schedule ................................................................................... 74 

14.4  Step Advancement on Salary Schedule ............................................................................... 74 

14.5  Salary Placement When Promoted ....................................................................................... 75 

14.6  Salary Placement after Leave of Absence ........................................................................... 75 

14.7  Salary Placement When Demoted ........................................................................................ 75 

14.8  Workday and Workweek: Hours of Employment ................................................................ 76 

14.9  Overtime Pay ............................................................................................................................ 76 

14.10  Lunch and Rest Periods .......................................................................................................... 77 

14.11  Classifications Exempt from Overtime Pay .......................................................................... 77 

14.12  Differential Pay ......................................................................................................................... 77 

14.13  Holiday Pay ............................................................................................................................... 77 

14.14  Benefits for Part-Time Employees ......................................................................................... 78 

 

 

 
 
 

44



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

7 
 

 
 

CHAPTER 1 
 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT AND DEFINITIONS 
 
1.1 Preliminary Statement  
 

A. Statutory Authority for Personnel Commission Rules  
 
The Rules contained herein are established pursuant to the authority of the Personnel 
Commission under the Education Code Article 6 (commencing with Section 45240) of 
Chapter 5 of Division 3, and other statutes applicable to school districts subject to the Act. 
It is recognized that certain of these rules venture into substantive matters within the 
prerogative of the Board of Trustees. For that reason, the initially adopted set of Rules 
and Regulations were approved by the Board of Trustees.  
 
Thereafter, it shall be the policy of the Commission to submit all new rules or amendments 
or deletion of existing Rules to the Board of Trustees when:  
 

1. The Rule requires Board approval in accordance with the Education Code.  
 

2. It is difficult to define the Division of Commission and Board authority re the 
rules in question.  

 
B. Interpretation and Application of Rules  

 
In such cases the rule in question will not become effective until it is so approved.  

 
The Education Code, Section 45260/88080, provides that: "The Commission shall 
prescribe, amend, and may interpret, subject to this article, such rules as may be 
necessary to insure the efficiency of the service, and the selection and retention of 
employees upon a basis of merit and fitness. The rules shall not apply to bargaining unit 
members if the subject matter is within the scope of representation, as defined in Section 
3543.2 of the Government Code, and is included in a negotiated agreement between the 
governing board and that unit. The rules shall be binding on the governing board, but shall 
not restrict the authority of the governing board provided pursuant to other sections of this 
code. (EC 45260)  
 
The Commission recognizes that no set of rules can contemplate all possible 
combinations of circumstances affecting particular cases. These Rules are to be applied 
with consideration of their intent; however, specific, applicable provisions of the Rules shall 
not be waived, ignored, or superseded because of the special circumstances of particular 
cases. The Commission is open to amend the Rules with prospective application; 
however, no rule amendment or new rule shall have retroactive applicability. All statutory 
provisions under a merit system shall govern and the omission of a specific reference to 
a particular statutory provision is in no way to make such provisions inapplicable.  

 
 
 
 

45



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

8 
 

C. Judicial Review  
 
If judicial review or a change in law invalidates any portion of these Rules, such finding or 
amendment shall not affect the validity of other rules or provisions.  
 

D. Additions, Deletions, or Amendments of Rules 
 

1. All proposals, from any source, to amend, delete, or add to these Rules will be 
considered a "first reading" at the meeting in which they are first presented to 
the Commission. They will not, unless a critical emergency exists, be acted 
upon at that meeting.  

 
2. At the "first reading" the Commission will set a date for Commission action on 

the proposal, which date will not be less than two weeks later. It shall also 
instruct the Personnel Director to refer the proposal to interested persons or 
organizations for comment and recommendation.  

 
3. Insofar as possible, interested parties shall submit their reactions to the 

proposals in writing on or before the stipulated agenda deadline date and shall 
have the right to present reactions to the Commission orally at the appropriate 
Commission meeting.  

 
1.2  Definitions  
 
Unless otherwise required by context and/or prevailing law, words used in these rules are 
understood to have the following meaning: 
 
ACCELERATED HIRING RATE: An initial hiring rate at other than the beginning of the range for 
the class, which rate must be specifically authorized by the Personnel Commission for the 
particular class. Such rates are based on anticipated or actual recruitment difficulty.  
 
ACT or THE ACT: The Act shall mean those sections of the Education Code of the State of 
California applying to the merit system for classified employees.  
 
ADMINISTRATIVE CLASS: The class meeting the criteria outlined in the rule on overtime whose 
incumbents do not receive payment or compensating time off for overtime.  
 
ALLOCATION: The official placing of a position in a given class and the assignment of the class 
title to the position.  
 
ANNIVERSARY DATE: The date on which an employee is granted an earned salary increment. 
This is the first day of the pay period closer to the completion of the required period of service.  
 
APPEAL: A protest by an employee regarding an administrative action actually or potentially 
detrimental to him.  
 
APPLICANT: A person who has filed an application to take a merit system examination.  
 
APPOINTING AURTHORITY or APPOINTING POWER FOR CLASSIFIED EMPLOYEES: The 
Board of Trustees, San Dieguito Union High School District.  
 

46



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

9 
 

APPOINTMENT: The official act of the appointing authority in approving the employment of a 
person.  
 
BEREAVEMENT LEAVE: Paid leave of limited duration granted to an employee upon the death 
of a relative as defined.  
 
BOARD: The Board of Trustees, San Dieguito Union High School District.  
 
BUMPING RIGHT: The right of an employee, under certain conditions, to displace an employee 
with less seniority in a class.  
 
CANDIDATE: A person who has competed in one or more portions of a merit system examination.  
 
CERTIFICATED SERVICE: All employees required by law to possess credentials issued by the 
State Department of Education and the positions which are limited to those who possess such 
credentials.  
 
CERTIFICATION: The submission by the Commission of the names of eligibles from an 
appropriate eligibility list or from some other source of eligibility to the appointing power or to the 
department which selects employees prior to approval of the appointing power.  
 
CLASS: A category of positions with similar duties and responsibilities, to which the same title, 
salary, entrance qualifications, and tests of fitness apply.  
 
CLASS SPECIFICATION (JOB DESCRIPTION): A formal statement, approved by the 
Commission, of the nature and level of duties and responsibilities of the positions in a class, and 
containing the qualification requirements of the positions in the class.  
 
CLASSIFICATION: The art of placing a position in a class.  
 
CLASSIFIED SERVICE: All positions and employees in the District's service to which the merit 
system provisions of the Education Code apply and which are not exempted by these provisions.  
 
COMMISSION: The three-member Personnel Commission established pursuant to the merit 
system provisions of the Education Code for the San Dieguito Union High School District.  
 
DAY: The period of time between any midnight and the midnight following.  
 
DEMOTION: A change in assignment of an employee from a position in one class to a position in 
another class that is allocated to a lower maximum salary rate.  
 
DISCHARGE OR DISMISSAL: Separation from service for cause.  
 
DISTRICT: The San Dieguito Union High School District.  
 
DUAL CERTIFICATION: A procedure authorized by the Commission under specific conditions, 
which provides for simultaneous certification from an open eligibility list and a promotional 
eligibility list according to examination scores.  
 
EARNED SALARY STATUS: For a permanent employee who has resigned, been laid off, or 
taken a voluntary demotion or reduction to limited-term status, the current flat rate of or the highest 

47



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

10 
 

step achieved in a class in which the employee had permanency and a regular assignment at the 
time of termination or reduction.  
 
ELIGIBILITY LIST: A rank order list of the names of persons who have qualified in a merit system 
examination for the selection of classified employees for a specific class. In the event of tie scores, 
more than one name may hold the same rank.  
 
ELIGIBLE: Noun: a person whose name appears on the eligibility list. Adjective: legally qualified 
to be appointed.  
 
EMERGENCY APPOINTMENT: An appointment for a period not to exceed 15 working days to 
prevent the stoppage of public business when persons on eligibility lists are not immediately 
available.  
 
EMPLOYEE: A person who is legally an incumbent or a position or who is on authorized leave of 
absence.  
 
EMPLOYMENT LIST: A list of names from which certification may be made. Includes eligibility 
lists, reemployment lists, and lists of persons who wish to transfer, change location, demote, be 
reinstated after resignation, or be restored after voluntary demotion or reduction to limited-term 
or part-time status.  
 
ENTRANCE QUALIFICATIONS: Mandatory and desirable experience and education 
qualifications prescribed for those who wish to compete in merit system examinations for a 
specific position or class.  
 
EXAMINATION: The process of testing and evaluating the fitness and qualifications of applicants.  
 
EXHAUSTED LIST: A list of eligibles from which it is impossible to fill a regular full-time or part-
time vacancy. A list may be considered exhausted when only two eligibles remain. A list may be 
exhausted for part-time positions, yet remain in effect for full-time positions, or vice versa.  
 
FIELD OF COMPETITION: Those categories of persons (either from within or outside the District) 
authorized by the Personnel Commission to participate in a merit system examination for a 
specific class.  
 
FISCAL YEAR: From July 1 to June 30 inclusive.  
 
FULL-TIME POSITION: A position for which the assigned time, when computed on an hourly, 
daily, weekly, or monthly basis, is equal to or greater than 87.5 percent of the normal assigned 
time of the majority of employees in the qualified service.  
 
GRIEVANCE: An employee complaint concerning conditions of employment, not including 
appeals of disciplinary actions or requests for classification study or salary review.  
 
HEARING: Formal review in the presence of the parties involved, of evidence in connection with 
an action affecting an employee, concerning which the employee has filed an appeal.  
 
HEARING OFFICER: A qualified person employed by the Personnel Commission to hear and 
make recommendations on appeals from disciplinary action for nonmedical reasons.  
 

48



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

11 
 

ILLNESS: Any pronounced deviation for a normal, healthy state which makes it disadvantageous 
to the District and/or detrimental for an employee to be at work.  
 
INCUMBENT: An employee assigned to a position and currently serving in or on leave from that 
position.  
 
INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT OR INDUSTRIAL ILLNESS LEAVE: Absence because of injury or 
illness which arose out of and in the course of employment with the District.  
 
INTERVIEW: Part of the selection process, usually the final portion of an examination, for the 
purpose of evaluating education, experience, and personal qualifications of the candidates. Also 
known as oral interview. Also the meeting between an eligible and the selecting department 
delegate to discuss a possible appointment to a specific vacancy.  
 
INVESTIGATION: A fact-finding procedure related to an appeal, complaint, or grievance. An 
investigation is less formal than a hearing.  
 
INVOLUNTARY DEMOTION: A change in assignment of an employee from a position in one 
class to a position in another class that is allocated to a lower maximum salary rate when the 
change is imposed as a disciplinary action for cause.  
 
LAYOFF: Separation from a permanent position because of lack of work or lack of funds, or 
because the position has been abolished or reclassified, or because an employee has exhausted 
all leave privileges after illness or accident.  
 
LEAVE OF ABSENCE: An approved absence from duty, with or without pay, for a prescribed 
period of time from a class, but not necessarily from a specific position within the class.  
 
LIMITED TERM: A term used in the Education Code to designate employment for periods not to 
exceed six months, or employment during the authorized absence of a permanent employee 
(synonymous with "temporary").  
 
LIMITED-TERM EMPLOYEE: An employee who is serving in a provisional appointment, or as a 
substitute for a regular employee, or in a position established for a limited period of six months or 
less.  
 
MERGING: The art of combining two or more eligibility lists for the same class, established not 
more than one year apart, in order of the scores of eligibles. Each individual eligibility list within a 
merged list expires one year after its promulgation.  
 
MERIT SYSTEM: A personnel system in which merit and fitness govern each individual's 
selection, progress, and retention in the service.  
 
MILITARY LEAVE: Authorized absence to engage in ordered military duty.  
 
MULTIPLE ASSIGNMENT: A limited-term classified assignment in addition to a regular classified 
assignment.  
 
NOTICE OF UNSATISFACTORY SERVICE: A form used as a written reprimand. Such notice 
may be used to lay a foundation for taking disciplinary action.  
 

49



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

12 
 

OPEN EXAMINATION: An examination which is not restricted to persons who are current 
permanent employees of the District, i.e., may be taken by any person otherwise qualified.  
 
OVERTIME: Authorized time worked by an employee in excess of eight hours a day and/or 40 
hours a week, or in excess of five consecutive days in a workweek for employees who work an 
average of four hours or more per day. An employee who works an average of less than four 
hours a day is paid overtime or provided with compensating time off for authorized time worked 
on the seventh day of his workweek.  
 
PART-TIME POSITION: A position for which the assigned time, when computed on an hourly, 
daily, weekly, or monthly basis, is less than 87.5 percent of the normally assigned time of the 
majority of employees in the classified service.  
 
PERFORMANCE EVALUATION: An evaluation of the work and conduct of an employee; the 
form used for this purpose.  
 
PERMANENT EMPLOYEE: In reference to District employment status, an employee who had 
completed his/her initial probationary period in the classified service. In reference to employment 
status in a specific class, an employee who has competed a probationary period for that class.  
 
PERMANENT POSITION: A position established for a continuing and indefinite or unlimited 
period of time or for a fixed period in excess of six months.  
 
PERSONNEL COMMISSION: The three members appointed in accordance with Education Code 
provisions and responsible for maintenance of the merit system or classified employees.  
 
POSITION: A group of duties and responsibilities assigned by competent authority requiring the 
full or part-time employment of one person.  
 
PROBATIONARY PERIOD: The trial period of six months or 130 paid days of service immediately 
following an original or promotional appointment to a permanent position from an eligibility list.  
 
PROMOTION: A change in the assignment of an employee from a position in one class to a 
position in another class with a higher maximum salary rate.  
 
PROMOTIONAL LIST: An eligibility list resulting from a promotional examination limited to 
qualified employees of the District.  
 
PROMOTIONAL PROBATION: The trial period of six months or 130 paid days of service 
immediately following a promotional appointment to a permanent position from an eligibility list.  
 
PROVISIONAL APPOINTMENT: A temporary appointment to a permanent or limited-term 
position made in the absence of an appropriate eligibility list, not to exceed 90 working days 
except in specific circumstances.  
 
PROVISIONAL EMPLOYEE: A person employed under a provisional appointment.  
 
REALLOCATION: Movement of an entire class from one salary schedule, range, or hourly rate 
to another salary schedule, range, or hourly rate on the basis of either internal or external 
alignment or a change in the salary-setting basis for the class.  
 

50



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

13 
 

RECLASSIFICATION: The removal of a position or positions from one class and placement into 
another, usually based on a change in duties, responsibilities, or class concept.  
 
REEMPLOYMENT: Reassignment to duty of an employee who has been laid off or reassignment 
of a former employee: to a lower class than that from which the employee had resigned; or to 
limited-term status.  
 
REEMPLOYMENT LIST: A list of names of persons who have been laid off from permanent 
positions by reason of lack of work, lack of funds, abolishment or reclassification of position, 
exhaustion of illness or industrial accident leave, or other reason specified in these Rules and 
who are eligible for reemployment without examination in their former class, arranged in order of 
their right to reemployment.  
 
REGULAR APPOINTMENT: An appointment to a position of more than six months' duration 
made from an eligibility list or from some other list of persons who are legally qualified, e.g., 
reemployment or reinstatement.  
 
REGULAR EMPLOYEE: A person who has probationary or permanent status in the classified 
service.  
 
REINSTATEMENT: A reappointment (discretionary with the Board of Trustees) after resignation  
within 39 months after the last day of paid service, without examination, to a position in one of the 
employee's former classes, or a related lower class, or after reduction to a limited-term status, to 
permanent status. Also refers to a return to work after appeal from disciplinary action when so 
ordered by the Personnel Commission.  
 
RESIGNATION: A voluntary statement, preferably in writing, from an employee to be terminated 
from one or all assignments.  
 
RULE OF THREE RANKS: The scope of choice available to an appointment power in making a 
selection from an eligibility list; refers to selection from among those eligibles having any of the 
three highest scores who are ready and willing to be appointed to a specific position.  
 
SALARY RANGE: A series of consecutive salary steps that comprise the rates of pay for a 
classification. A current salary ranges consists of either four, five or six salary steps.  
 
SALARY RATE: A specific amount of money paid for a specified period of service, e.g., dollars 
per hour or month.  
 
SALARY SCHEDULE: A complete list of ranges, steps, and rates established for the Classified 
Service.  
 
SALARY STEP: A specific rate in a salary range. One of the consecutive rates that comprise a 
monthly or hourly salary range.  
 
SALARY SURVEY: The collection of current wage and salary data for the purpose of determining 
the prevailing wage for certain types of work in private industry and/or other public agencies. Also, 
the report of such data.  
 

51



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

14 
 

SENIORITY: Status secured by length of service counted in hours. Used for determining order of 
layoff as well as for certain informal purposes. May be used to calculate extra points for employees 
taking promotional examinations.  
 
SEPARATION: Leaving a position; includes resignation, dismissal, layoff, retirement, etc.  
 
SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL: Additional pay for night work.  
 
STATUS: Tenure which is acquired in a classification by reason of examination, certification from 
eligibility lists, election or appointment by the appointing power, and the successful completion of 
the probationary period.  
 
STEP ADVANCEMENT: Movement to a higher step of the salary range or schedule for a class 
as a result of having served the require number of days in paid status.  
 
SUBSTITUTE EMPLOYEE: An employee temporarily occupying a regular position during the 
absence of the incumbent.  
 
SUSPENSION: An enforced absence of an employee without pay for disciplinary purposes or 
pending investigation of charges made against an employee.  
 
TEMPORARY: Employment on a basis other than permanent or probationary; i.e., in a limited-
term or provisional status.  
 
TRANSFER: A change in the assignment of an employee from a position in one class to a 
different position in the same class, or to a position in a similar or related class with the same 
maximum salary rate.  
 
UNCLASSIFIED SERVICE: All positions and employees not in the classified or certificated 
service, i.e., those exempted by law. Includes part-time playground positions where an employee 
is not otherwise employed in a classified position, full-time day students employed part-time, 
apprentices, part-time students employed part time in any college work-study program, and 
professional experts and community representatives employed in consulting or advisory 
capacities on a temporary basis for a specific project.  
 
UNSATISFACTORY SERVICE: The performance of assigned duties in a manner which is 
detrimental to the good of the service or the failure to perform them, or the performance of actions 
while on duty which are detrimental to the good of the service.  
 
VETERANS' CREDIT: Five additional points added to a passing score in entrance examinations, 
for military or related service rendered during a time of war or national emergency. An additional 
five points are added for disabled veterans.  
 
VOLUNTARY DEMOTION: A change in assignment of an employee from a position in one class 
to a position in another class that is allocated to a lower maximum salary rate when the change 
is requested by the employee and approved by the District.  
 
WAIVER: The voluntary relinquishment by an eligible of a right to be considered for a specific 
appointment from an employment list in one or more positions, locations, or for a specific or 
unlimited period of time.  
 

52



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

15 
 

WORKDAY: That part of a 24-hour period during which an employee is scheduled to work in 
accordance with the employee's specific assignment.  
 
WORKING DAY: Any day for which an individual employee received compensation, regardless 
of the number of hours in a day for which the District's central office is open to the public for 
business purposes.  

 
1. A work shift that begins in one calendar day and ends in the succeeding calendar day 

shall be considered one working day.  
 
2. A calendar day for which only overtime compensation is received shall not be 

considered a working day.  
 
WORKWEEK: Forty hours, usually served in five consecutive calendar days within a seven-day 
cycle, is the regular workweek for the majority of classified employees.  
 
WORK YEAR: The portion of the year for which work is authorized.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

53



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

16 
 

 

CHAPTER 2 

THE PERSONNEL COMMISSION 
 
2.1 Establishment of the Personnel Commission and Membership 
 

The Personnel Commission of San Dieguito Union High School District was established, 
under the Act, when the classified employees petitioned the Board of Trustees in 
September 1972, and the Board elected to become a merit system effective December 1, 
1972.  

 
2.2  Appointment of Commissioner  
 

The Act provides for three commissioners. One commissioner is appointed by the Board 
of Trustees. A second commissioner is nominated by the classified employees and 
appointed by the Board of Trustees. A third commissioner is appointed by the other two 
commissioners. (EC45245)  

 
A.  Minimum qualifications for appointment as a Personnel Commissioner  

 
The person appointed shall be:  

 
1. A registered voter;  
2. A resident within the territorial jurisdiction of the school district; and,  
3. A known adherent to the principle(s) of the merit system.  

 
No member of the governing board of the district, county board of education, or current 
employee of the district may serve on the commission. (EC45244)  

 
B. The commissioner appointed by the other two commissioners shall be chosen after 

interviews of candidates and the decision has been made by the other two 
commissioners in closed session. If a stalemate occurs, the appointment will be made 
by the Superintendent of Public Instruction. (EC45246)  

 
2.3  Terms of Commissioners  
 

A. By law, the term of each commissioner is for three years and expires at noon, 
December 1. The term of one Commissioner expires each year. On or about 
September 1 of each year, the Personnel Director shall notify the appointing authority 
of the name and home address of the commissioner whose term will expire and 
whether or not the commissioner will accept reappointment. Vacancies, whether for 
full or unexpired terms, shall be filled in accordance with Education Code Section 
45245 and 45246.  

 
B. Commissioners who fail to attend more than three meetings in a year may be removed 

by the appointing body in each case, on receipt of a letter from the other two 
commissioners after approval of the letter in an open meeting of the commission, and 
after written notification to the commissioner in question.  

54



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

17 
 

 
2.4  Officers of the Commission 

 
A. At its first meeting following December 1 of each year, the Commission shall elect one 
of its members as chairperson and another as vice chairperson to serve a term of one 
year or until their successors are duly elected.  
 
B. The chairman approves the agendas and chairs the meetings. The vice chairman 
performs these duties in the absence of the chairman.  
 

2.5 Quorum 
 
 Two members shall constitute a quorum for any regular or special meeting of the 

Commission.  The affirmative vote of two members shall be necessary to carry any motion 
or take any action. 

 
2.6  Regular Meetings  
 

A. At the first meeting in December the Commission shall adopt a meeting calendar for 
the ensuing year. Subject to cancellation or proper change, the Commission shall meet 
monthly. When the regular meeting date falls on a holiday, the Commission shall meet 
on the next succeeding business day, unless at a prior regular meeting it designates 
some other day for its meeting.  

 
B. In case of emergency, the Commission may meet at some other time and/or place, 

provided that at least 24 hours’ notice is given to all commissioners and to employee 
and administration representatives and posted on the Commission’s website. If a 
situation exists which disrupts or threatens to disrupt public facilities, an emergency 
special meeting may be called without requiring the minimum 24 hour notice. The 
Commission may adjourn any regular or adjourned meeting to a time and place 
specified in the order of adjournment. When so adjourned, the adjourned meeting is a 
regular meeting for all purposes. When an order of adjournment of a regular or 
adjourned meeting fails to state the hour at which the adjourned meeting is to be held, 
it shall be held at the hour designated for regular meetings.  

 
2.7  Special Meetings  
 

Special meetings may be called at any time by the chairman and shall be called upon the 
written request of any two members. Written notice shall be delivered personally, by Email, 
or by mail to each member of the Commission. Notice must also be given to each of the 
following who have filed written requests for such notice: each local newspaper of general 
circulation, radio or television station, and recognized employee or other organization. 
Such notice must be delivered personally or by Email at least 24 hours before the time of 
such meeting or specified in the notice. A copy of the notice shall be posted on the 
Commission’s website. The order shall specify the time and place of the special meeting 
and the business to be transacted. No other business shall be considered at such meeting 
by the Commission.  

 
 

55



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

18 
 

2.8  Public Meetings  
 

All regular and special meetings of the Commission shall be open and public, and all 
persons shall be permitted to attend any meeting of the Commission. This rule shall not 
be construed as permitting employees to be absent from duty to attend Commission 
meetings.  

2.9  Closed Session  
 

The Commission may hold closed sessions as permitted by Government Code Section 
54950, et seq. The Commission shall not consider any matter in executive session relating 
to an employee unless the employee has been notified of the right to a public hearing and 
has declined the public hearing or properly filed to request same in writing. The 
Commission may hold closed sessions also to consider administrative matters relative to 
its own staff and to consider examination materials as provided in these Rules. Any 
minutes kept of closed sessions are not subject to public review. Personnel decisions 
made in closed session must be announced in public meeting and recorded in the minutes.  

2.10  Prohibition of Commission Gathering Privately  
 

Two or more commissioners may not meet for the purpose of transacting Personnel 
Commission business unless it is in one of the authorized and publicly announced 
meetings.  

2.11  Commission Compensation  
 

A.  Commissioners are compensated at a rate of $50 per meeting. (EC45250)  
 
B. Commissioners are reimbursed for meals and travel expenses while attending 

meetings of the California School Personnel Commissioners Association, The San 
Diego County Personnel Commissioners Association, or other special meetings, 
workshops, or conferences approved by the commission.  

 
2.12  Communication  
 

A. Agenda and Supporting Data  
 
Insofar as possible, at least 72 hours (excluding weekends and holidays) prior to every 
regular or at least 24 hours prior to every special commission meeting, the agenda 
shall be provided to the Commissioners, all classified employees and the 
representatives of all verified employee organizations representing District classified 
employees as well as the District administration. When practical, supporting data will 
be furnished in advance. The agenda will also be posted on the Commission’s website 
and distributed to news media which have requested it.  

 
B. Written and Oral Presentations  
 

Individual employees, employee organizations, and other interested parties may 
submit their written views on any matter before the Commission or matters they wish 
the Commission to consider, and will be provided reasonable opportunity to present 

56



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

19 
 

their views orally. The Commission will consider their comments and 
recommendations prior to arriving at a course of action.  

 
1. Individuals wishing to address the Commission on any subject within the 
jurisdiction of the Commission not listed elsewhere on the agenda may do so under 
the “Public Comments” item.  

 
2. In accordance with the Brown Act, unless an item has been placed on the 
published agenda, there shall be no action taken. The Commission may 
acknowledge receipt of the information, refer it to staff for further study, or refer the 
matter to the next agenda.  

 
3. Individuals or groups who seek interviews with particular Commissioners as to 
matters which may later be placed before the Personnel Commission for decision 
shall be referred to the Commission staff office with the explanation that it is against 
the policy of the Commission to take up such matters except at open meeting with 
the majority of the Commission present. The Commission may designate one of 
its members to investigate a specific subject. (EC 45260)  

 
2.13  Commission Minutes  
 

The Personnel Director shall record in the minutes the time and place of each meeting, 
the names of the Commissioners present, all official acts of the Commission, and the votes 
of the Commissioners. When requested by the Commissioner, a Commissioner’s dissent 
or approval and reasons shall be recorded. The minutes shall be written and presented 
for correction and approval at the next regular meeting. The minutes or a true copy thereof 
shall be open to public inspection. Copies of the official minutes shall be sent to recognized 
employee organization representatives who have requested them.  

 
2.14  Status of Commission Employees  
 

The Personnel Director and other persons required to carry out the responsibilities of the 
Commission shall be appointed by and responsible to the Personnel Commission. 
However, they shall be considered part of the classified service, and the rules, procedures, 
benefits, and burdens pertinent to the classified service shall apply to Commission 
employees, except as the Commission may specifically direct. (EC45264) 

 
2.15  General Duties of the Personnel Director  
 

A. The Personnel Director shall perform all of the duties and carry out all of the functions 
imposed by law and these Rules. The Director shall act as secretary to the 
Commission and shall issue and receive all notifications on its behalf. The Director 
shall direct and supervise the Commission staff and conduct administrative 
transactions consistent with the law and necessary to the proper functioning of the 
office and staff of the Commission.  

 

57



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

20 
 

B. The Personnel Director shall conduct classification, salary, and rules studies and shall 
make other investigations as directed by the Commission or as the Director deems 
necessary.  

 
C.  In cases where two or more rules appear to be in conflict, or when no rules provide a 

clear-cut answer to a problem, the matter shall be decided by the Personnel Director 
subject to appeal to the Commission. (EC45266)  

 
2.16  Commission Budget  
 

A. The Personnel Director shall prepare a proposed budget for consideration by the 
Commission in sufficient time for the Commission to conduct public hearings prior to 
adoption no later than May 31 of each year.  
 

B. At the time the Commission schedules the public hearing, it shall direct the Personnel 
Director to forward a copy of the proposed budget to the Board of Trustees and notify 
the Board of the time, date, and place of the public hearing. Board and administration 
representatives shall be invited to attend the public hearing and present their views on 
the proposed budget.  
 

C. Prior to the adoption of its budget, the Commission will hear and fully consider all 
comments and suggestions that may be offered by District administration, the Board, 
or other concerned persons or organizations. Efforts shall be made to resolve any 
differences that may exist between the Commission and Board.  
 

D. When approved by the Commission, the budget shall then be submitted to the County 
Superintendent of Schools in accordance with the Education Code. (EC45253)  

 
2.17  Annual Report  
 

A. The Personnel Director shall prepare an annual report of Commission activities. When 
approved by the Commission, the annual report shall be submitted to the Board of 
Trustees.  

 
B. The report shall be prepared for Commission approval as soon after each fiscal year 

(July 1-June 30) as possible, and no later than a meeting in November. The report 
shall cover Commission activities for the preceding fiscal year. (EC45266)  

 
2.18  Counsel for the Commission  
 

The Commission may employ its own attorney, County counsel, or the counsel of the 
Board of Trustees, whichever is deemed appropriate by the Commission to aid and 
represent the Commission in all legal matters. The reasonable cost of employing counsel 
shall constitute a legal charge against the funds of the District. (EC45313)  

 
2.19 Violations of Education Code  
 

A. No warrant shall be drawn by or on behalf of the Trustees of the District for the payment 
of any salary or wage to any employee in the classified service unless the assignment 
bears the certification of the personnel director that the person named in the 

58



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service

21 

assignment has been employed and assigned pursuant to the Education Code Article 
45310 and the Rules of the Commission. Whenever the Commission, after a public 
hearing, finds that any appointment has been made in violation of this article or the 
Rules of the commission as they apply to examination procedures, the Commission 
may order that no salary warrant shall thereafter be drawn to the employee so 
appointed, for services rendered after the date of said order. Any violation of the 
Education Code Article or the Rules of the Commission as they apply to examination 
procedures shall constitute grounds for the dismissal of the employee or employees 
guilty of such violation.  

B. Any person who willfully or through culpable negligence violates any of the provisions
of Education Code Article 45317 is guilty of a misdemeanor. It is also unlawful for any
persons to:

1. Willfully by themselves or in cooperation with another person to defeat, deceive,
or obstruct any persons with respect to their right of examination, application, or
employment under this article or commission Rule.

2. Willfully and falsely to mark, quote, estimate, or report upon the examination or
proper standing of any person examined or certified under this article or
Commission Rule, or to aid in so doing or make any false representation
concerning the same or the person examined.

3. Willfully to furnish to any person any information regarding contents of an
examination for the purpose of either improving or injuring the prospects or
chances of any person examined, or to be examined under this article or
Commission Rule.

C. The Personnel Commission may file misdemeanor charges with the District attorney
against any person suspected of violating these provisions of the Commission Rules.
(EC45317)

59



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

22 
 

 

CHAPTER 3 

CLASSIFICATION 
 
3.1 Positions Included in the Classified Service  
 

All positions established by the Board of Trustees which are not exempt from the classified 
service by law shall be a part of the classified service. All employees serving in classified 
positions shall be known as the classified service. (EC45256)  

3.2 Positions Excluded From the Classified Service  
 

A. General: Positions required by law to have certification qualifications, part-time 
playground positions where the employee is not otherwise employed in a classified 
position, full-time day students employed part-time, apprentices, and professional 
experts employed on a temporary basis for a specific project by the Board or by the 
Commission when so designated by the Commission shall be exempt from the 
classified service. (EC45256)  
 

B. With regard to persons employed under provisions of the Education Code (EC45256), 
if a permanent classified employee is appointed to serve in such an exempt position, 
the employee shall retain status as a permanent employee. If the employee is 
terminated from the exempt position, bumping rights shall be granted in the former 
class in the same manner as if the employee had been laid off for lack of work or lack 
of funds.  

 
C. Special Categories: The Board of Trustees may create positions of staff assistants or 

field representatives to directly assist the Board or individual Board member. Such 
positions, if created, are exempted from the provisions of these Rules insofar as they 
relate to position classification, recruitment, employment, and salary setting. 
(EC45112)  

 
D. Persons employed in such positions shall be members of the classified service for all 

purposes except that they may not achieve permanency in the classified service as a 
result of this service except as provided by the Code. (EC45112)  

 
E. “Part-Time” Defined: A part-time position, for the purpose indicated in this Rule, is one 

for which the assigned time when computed on a monthly basis is less than 87.5 
percent of the time normally assigned to the majority of the classified employees in the 
classified service for one month’s pay period. For a 20-day work month this amount 
would be less than 140 hours for the month (an average of 7 hours per day, 35 hours 
per week). (EC45256)  

 
F. Effect of Exemption: Any position or employee lawfully exempted from the classified 

service shall be excluded from the benefits and burdens imposed by these Rules, 
except as provided by law or the Board of Trustees.  

 

60



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

23 
 

3.3  Employment of Professional Experts and Community Representatives  
 

A. When a professional expert is to be employed by the Board of Trustees, the 
Superintendent of Schools, or the Commission, there shall be submitted to the 
Director, a description of the project, its duration, and the duties to be performed. 
Professional expert assignments shall not be made to avoid payment of overtime to 
the assigned employee, nor shall a limited-term position be filled by a professional 
expert assignment if the duties and responsibilities fit an existing class for which a 
reemployment or eligibility list exists. (EC45256, 45258)  
 

B. When the person is known who is to be appointed as a professional expert, name and 
data relative to the person’s qualifications shall be submitted to the Personnel Director. 
In order to be exempted from the classified service or professional expert, individuals 
must be recognized as such by reputable members of their profession.  

 
3.4  Assignment of Duties  
 

The Board of Trustees shall prescribe the duties and responsibilities of all positions in the 
classified service except those on the Personnel Commission Staff.  

 
3.5 Classification Plan  
 

A. The Personnel Commission shall classify all employees and positions in the classified 
service, with due advance notice to all interested parties. To classify shall include, but 
not be limited to, allocating positions to appropriate classes, occupationally ranking 
classes, determining relationships, and preparing written class specifications. 
(EC45256)  

 
B. The classification plan shall consist of classes placed in groups according to general 

occupational nature and listed in a series by specific occupation and by salary range. 
 
C. The Commission may establish, redefine, merge or abolish classes.  

 
D. The Commission will consider recommendations from the District and the exclusive 

bargaining representative before taking final classification action on positions that 
belong to the bargaining unit.  

 
E. The Commission will ensure that the District and the exclusive bargaining 

representative have reasonable notice of proposed classification or reclassification. If 
the District and the exclusive representative have a mutually agreed joint forum, the 
Commission will use that avenue for communication. If such forum is not available, the 
Commission will communicate directly with the District and the exclusive bargaining 
representative.  

 
3.6  Class Specifications  
 

For each class of positions, as initially or subsequently established by the Commission, 
there should be established and maintained a class specification which shall include:  
 
A. The official class title;  

61



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service

24 

B. A definition of the class, including a summary of the duties;

C. Examples of duties;

D. Some of the required skills, knowledge, and abilities;

E. The minimum qualifications for the class;

F. Any special license or desirable skills (e.g., bilingual);

G. Any special designations (e.g., supervisory, administrative, executive) and the length
of the probationary period;

H. The date the class specification was adopted. Minimum qualifications may never
require a teaching, administrative, or other credential, nor may they require work
experience which essentially would restrict applicants to credential holders. Titles may
not be assigned that would restrict competition to holders of credentials.

3.7 Interpretation of Class Specifications

A. The definition and typical tasks are descriptive and explanatory only and not restrictive.
They indicate the kinds of positions that should be allocated to the respective classes
as determined by their duties, responsibilities, and qualification requirements, and do
not prescribe what these details shall be in respect to any position. The use of a
particular expression or illustration as to duties, responsibilities, qualifications,
requirements, or other attributes is typical or descriptive of the class and does not
exclude others not mentioned but of similar kind and/or quality as determined by the
Personnel Commission.

B. In determining the class to which any position shall be allocated, the description for
each class is considered as a whole. Consideration is given not to isolated clauses,
phrases, or words, apart from their context and from illustrative information in other
parts of the specifications, but to the general duties, responsibilities, specific tasks,
and qualification requirements as affording a picture of the positions that the class
includes.

C. Each class specification should identify its proper relationship to other descriptions,
particularly those of classes in the same series and group of classes, in such manner
as to maintain a proper gradation in the series in which the class is located and proper
differentiation within the group of classes.

D. Qualifications commonly required of the incumbents of all or many offices or positions,
such as freedom from disabling defects such that would render a candidate unable to
perform the full range of duties and responsibilities of the position citizenship (see
Labor Code), honesty, sobriety and industry, even though not specifically mentioned
in the specifications, are implied in the qualification requirements. This section does
not restrict the Board from employing the handicapped to meet affirmative action goals.

62



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

25 
 

E. The Qualification requirements, when considered with other parts of the specifications, 
are to be used as a guide in the announcement and preparation of tests and in the 
evaluation of the qualification of candidates seeking appointment to position allocated 
to the class, but do not require a particular form or content of test or testing procedure.  
 

F. The class title shall always be used with the meaning set forth in the remainder of the 
specification.  

  
3.8  Classification of New Positions  
 

A. When a new position is established, the District shall submit a written statement to the 
Commission staff for review.  
 

B. The Personnel Director, subject to approval by the Commission, shall study the 
information and may classify the position to an existing class.  

 
C. If the Director finds that a new class is required, the Director shall prepare a report, a 

class description, and a recommendation to the Commission regarding occupational 
ranking and allocation of the new class to a salary range. (EC45276)  

 
D. The Personnel Commission shall communicate its action to the Board of Trustees.  

 
3.9  Working Out of Classification  
 

Employees are not expected to work out of classification, but when required to do so, the 
fact shall be reported to the Personnel Director who shall immediately investigate and 
report to the Personnel Commission. An employee may be required to perform duties out 
of classification when the duties relate to that classification, but not for a period of more 
than five working days within a 15-calendar-day period. The salary of an employee 
working more than five days within a 15-calendar-day period shall be adjusted upward for 
the entire period of required work out of classification. After review, the Commission shall 
take such action as necessary based upon the facts. This rule shall not be construed as 
permitting an employee to refuse to perform duties assigned by the employee’s 
supervisor. (EC45110)  

 
3.10  Changes in Duties of Positions  
 

When the duties of a position are permanently changed, the District shall prepare a 
position description and submit such data to the Commission. The Personnel Director shall 
investigate the data and make a determination if the position should be reclassified. If the 
Director finds that a position should be reclassified to an existing class, such data shall be 
presented to the Commission for action including class description, proposed class salary, 
proposed occupational ranking and a determination regarding gradual assignment of 
duties.  

 
3.11  Effect of Classification Changes on Incumbents 
  

A. If the duties have been assigned gradually (not a reorganization or sudden change of 
duties), an employee shall be reclassified along with the position if he or she has been 

63



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service

26 

in one or more of the positions being reclassified for three or more years and the most 
recent performance evaluation was at least satisfactory. (EC45285)  

B. If a person is in a position which is being reclassified and has not been in the position
for three or more years, he or she must compete in a new examination, and pass the
examination and place on the eligibility list to be promoted. (EC45285)

C. An examination will be given when there is a reorganization or sudden change in
duties.

D. When a position is reclassified downward, the incumbent shall be given the opportunity
to be reassigned to an available vacant position in the present class.

E. When a position is reclassified downward and the incumbent chooses to retain
placement in the position rather than reassignment to a vacant position in the present
class, he or she shall receive the salary in the salary range of the lower class closest
to the former salary and shall not be granted reemployment rights.

F. When an employee is reclassified upward with a position, he or she shall be ineligible
to be reclassified upward again with the position for two years.

G. When a position has been reclassified to another class which is at the same level, the
incumbent of the position who has chosen to be reclassified shall be granted status in
the new class without further examination.

H. When a position or group of positions is reclassified to a class on the same salary
schedule, the employee may elect to be reclassified with the same position or to
exercise any applicable bumping rights. The reclassified employee shall not be
required to qualify by examination for the new class or, if the current duties have been
performed for 6 months, to complete a new probationary period.

I. When two or more classes are merged because of change in the classification plan,
the seniority in the new class of any continuing employee whose former class has
been abolished shall include applicable service in the abolished class.

J. Any displacement of a regular employee resulting from reclassification of a position,
positions, or class of positions, shall be considered a layoff for lack of work, and an
appropriate reemployment list shall be established; displaced employees shall be
eligible for reemployment for a period of 39 months with regard to the period of
eligibility. (EC45298)

K. This Rule shall be followed in all instances of reclassification whether it results in
upgrading, downgrading, lateral class movement, bumping, or complete displacement
of incumbents.

3.12  Review of Positions 

A. The Personnel Director shall study positions as necessary to determine proper
classification and shall cause all positions to be reviewed periodically. If the Director
finds that a position or positions should be reclassified, the Administration shall be

64



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

27 
 

advised by these findings. If the Administration verifies the duties of the position or if 
the duties are not revised to fit within the current classification, the Director shall report 
these findings and recommendations to the Commission. Reports of findings shall also 
be made to the Commission in cases where the review indicates no change in 
classification is necessary. 

  
B. Requests for classification study of existing positions shall be presented to the 

Personnel Director together with a statement of the reasons for requesting the study. 
Requests for study may be initiated by the administration with the approval of the 
Superintendent, or by employees or employee organizations. Requests initiated by the 
Administration shall be accompanied by a statement of the current authorized duties 
of the position(s) and any prospective changes. (EC45285)  

 
C. The Personnel Commission shall authorize an overall classification study to be 

conducted as it may deem necessary and appropriate to maintain the integrity and 
internal alignment of the classification plan. However, individual positions may be 
reviewed, when needed, under the following conditions:  

 
1. The position has changed and the employee is performing new duties since the 

last time the position was studied (i.e. new technology or equipment, a new service 
being provided or a change in physical working conditions).  
 

2. The job description does not accurately reflect the duties presently being 
performed or the skills, knowledge and abilities required of the position.  
 

3. The position is performing a greater variety of tasks or higher level duties and not 
an increase in workload since the last classification study.  
 

4. The district has difficulty recruiting and retaining qualified employees.  
 
Employees are asked to meet with the Personnel Director to determine whether or not 
their job description has been changed according to these guidelines. The 
Commission may authorize the study once the employee has met with the Director 
and reviewed the above conditions.  

 
When an employee is reclassified upward, eligibility for further reclassification shall be 
in accordance with Rule 3.11(F).  

 
For bargaining unit members, reclassification is subject to negotiations.  

 
3.13  Effective Date of Reclassification  
 

A. Reclassification of a position shall become effective on the date prescribed by the 
Commission and shall not have retroactive effect. Effective dates must be set 
sufficiently in the future to allow time for examinations to be completed, but not more 
than six months.  
 

B. When a group of positions, constituting one or more job families, are reclassified, the 
effective date of the reclassification may be determined by meet and negotiation 

65



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service

28 

between the Board’s Representative and the Representative of the recognized 
employee group(s).  

3.14  Positions Requiring Multiple Languages 

A. The Board of Trustees may, with the approval of the Commission, designate positions
which require the holder of the position to speak, read, and write a language in addition
to English. The Commission shall then establish an appropriate class specific to the
particular language requirement, if it does not already exist. (EC45277)

B. The Board must clearly set forth valid reasons for placing language requirements on
a position.

C. When a vacancy occurs in a position which has approved language requirements, the
Board will notify the Commission that the need for language requirements continues
to be a part of the position.

D. If a request from the Board to designate a position for language requirements is
challenged, the Commission shall cause a proper investigation to be made and shall
consider the findings and all other pertinent data presented by any concerned and
responsible source prior to taking final action on the request.

66



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service

29 

CHAPTER 4 

RECRUITMENT BULLETINS AND APPLICATIONS 

4.1 Policy Regarding Conducting Examinations  

A. In order to maintain the Board of Trustees established staffing levels, the Commission
shall, through the Personnel Director, give examinations and develop eligibility lists in
anticipation of vacancies.

B. No examination announcement may be made and no part of any examination may be
held until the Board of Trustees has approved the prescribed position duties and the
Commission has completed the position classification including establishment of minimum
education and work experience requirements. (EC 45276)

4.2 Pre-Examination Information 

The Commission may request job analysis data as deemed necessary so that the 
Commission is assured that each examination is job related and properly tests the relative 
fitness of the candidates.  

4.3 Competitive Basis for Examinations 

A. The Personnel Director shall determine the field of competition (Open/Promotional) for
every examination subject to approval by the Commission.

B. Continuous examinations will be authorized for selected classifications for which there
is an ongoing need to fill positions and there are not enough candidates to meet such
needs in one examination administration. (EC 45292)

C. The Commission may establish certain examinations as promotional or as open and
promotional. Promotional examinations shall be restricted to permanent employees of
the District who meet the prescribed qualifications of the class. (EC 45272, 45284)

D. Competitive examinations for positions in the classified service shall be open to all
applicants, except for promotional-only examinations, who meet the minimum
qualifications and who are not rejected as provided in Rule 4.8.

E. Age shall not be a factor in admitting applicants to examinations. (EC 45134)

4.4 Recruitment Bulletins and Notice of Examinations 

Whenever it is necessary to fill existing or anticipated vacancies in the classified service 
and an appropriate eligibility list does not exist as determined by the Commission, the 
Commission shall direct the holding of an examination to provide eligibles. At least 15 
working days advance public notice of such examinations shall be given. The recruitment 
bulletin (notice) shall contain the following data:  

67



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service

30 

A. Information regarding the location of employment, the expected number of vacancies,
and other conditions of employment;

B. Class Title;

C. Salary range and any salary differentials;

D. Description of the scope of duties and responsibilities of the position and class;

E. Normal assignment for the majority of employees in the class expressed in hours per
day and months per year;

F. Minimum qualifications;

G. General summary of the skills, knowledge, and abilities to be examined in each test
and the relative weights of each test;

H. Last date to file application and the place to file the application;

I. Information regarding licenses and language skills;

J. Veterans' points allowance, if entrance examination;

K. Competitive basis for the examination;

L. Appointment information such as finger-printing, TB tests, physical examinations, oath
of allegiance, length of probationary period;

M. Such other information as will assist the employees and the public in fully
understanding the nature of the employment and procedures necessary to participate
in the examination. (EC. 45278, 45272, 45280)

4.5  Recruitment Programs 

A. A copy of each recruitment bulletin shall be sent to each District work location for
posting.

B. For open examinations there should be widespread distribution of recruitment
materials as determined by the Personnel Director.

C. Eligibles who have waived appointment shall be notified when a new examination for
the class is to be held.

4.6 Filing of Applications 

A. All applications must be completed on official forms furnished by the Commission and
received in the office specified after the recruitment bulletin is published and on or
before the date filing is actually closed.

68



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

31 
 

B. Whenever application filing periods fall within time when employees will not be 
required to work, such as winter break or summer recesses, such notices will be 
mailed to employees. Employees on vacation or leave of absence shall keep the 
personnel office informed of their interest in future examinations. It is the responsibility 
of the employee to inform the personnel office of their interest in opportunities and 
change of address. (EC 45278)  
 

C. Applicants taking more than one examination must file a separate and complete 
application for each such examination.  
 

D. For equal employment opportunity purposes, questions regarding ethnic/sex data shall 
be placed on a separate or separable attachment to the application and the completion 
of such questions shall be voluntary.  

 
4.7 General Qualifications of Applicants  
 

A. All applicants must be United States citizens or be legally authorized to work in the 
United States, possessing appropriate work permit cards.  
 

B. All applicants must meet the minimum qualifications and be mentally and physically 
able to perform the duties of the position for which they are applying. Handicapped 
persons shall be given equal employment opportunity and reasonable accommodation 
for employment shall be made.  

 
4.8 Disqualification of Unfit Applicants, Candidates, and Eligibles  
 

An applicant or candidate may be refused an entrance examination, and an eligible may 
be refused certification or appointment for any of the following reasons:  
 
A. Failure to meet the general qualifications of Rule 4.7;  
 
B. Failure to execute the oath of allegiance required by the State of California;  
 
C. Advocacy of overthrow of the Government of the United States or the State of 

California by force, violence, or other unlawful means;  
 
D. Conviction of or pleading guilty in court to a narcotics offense or a conviction of a crime 

involving moral turpitude, or any sex offense, or mistreatment of children, various 
felonies and misdemeanors of a serious nature (EC 45122.1, 45123, 45124);  

 
E. Making a false statement or omitting a statement as to any material fact on the 

application form;  
 
F. Practicing any deception or fraud in connection with an examination or to secure 

employment;  
 
G. Behaving in a manner during any phase of the recruitment or selection process which 

could pose a threat to the safety of the individual or others, is disruptive or 
inappropriate, or could be destructive to property.  

 

69



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

32 
 

H. Dismissal from previous employment for cause if the cause would have subjected the 
applicant to dismissal by the District;  

 
I. Previous dismissal for cause from the District unless the District waives this 

subsection;  
 
J. Physical or mental health condition which cannot be reasonably accommodated in a 

manner which would enable the individual to perform the essential functions of the 
classification (EC 45122);  

 
K. Discharge other than honorable from the armed forces of the United States;  
 
L. Failure to report for duty after a previous assignment had been offered and accepted;  

 
M. Failure, after due notice, to report promptly for review of any of the above bases for 

rejection;  
 

N. Refusal to furnish testimony at a hearing or investigation before the Personnel  
Commission or Board of Trustees; 

 
O. Unsuccessfully competed in the same examination within the past three months. 

 
P. Unprofessional conduct, unacceptable attendance, or any other reason outlined in 

Rule 13.1, while working as a limited-term or substitute employee with the District 
unless the District waives this subsection.  

 
4.9 Rejection and Appeal of Rejection  
 

A. Applicants, candidates, and eligibles who are rejected for any of the reasons 
enumerated in Rule 4.8 shall be notified in writing by the Personnel Director. The 
notification shall state:  

 
1. The reason(s) for rejection;  

 
2.  The length of time the person shall be ineligible to be considered for an examination 

or appointment to a position in the District; and  
 
3.  That, within seven calendar days, the individual may appeal (through the Personnel 

Director) for administrative review, and that failure to appeal for administrative 
review makes the rejection final and conclusive.  

 
B. Applicants who have appealed the disqualification shall provisionally be permitted to 

take the examination pending the final decision except in cases in which the Director 
has determined that the disqualification is based on a conviction in accordance with 
Rule 4.8(D) or when the disqualification is due to a concern for the safety of the 
applicant, other individuals, or property.  
 

C. Upon receipt of the appeal, the Director shall hear all of the evidence as presented by 
the applicant. Evidence may be presented by email, over the phone or in person. The 

70



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

33 
 

applicant making the appeal shall be notified of the Director's decision not more than 
30 days after filing the appeal.  
 

D. If there has been an administrative review, as provided above, and the rejection is 
sustained, the individual shall be:  

 
1. Given a written notice outlining the reason(s) for sustaining the rejection; 

 
2. Informed of the right to make a written appeal of the rejection and/or period of 

disqualification, within seven calendar days, to the Personnel Commission. The 
appeal may be based on any of the following reasons:  
 
a. Discrimination based on actual or perceived ancestry, age, color, disability, 

gender, gender identity, gender expression, nationality, race or ethnicity, 
immigration status, religious beliefs or customs, sexual orientation, parental, 
pregnancy, family or marital status, military status or association with a person 
or a group with one or more of these actual or perceived characteristics;  

b. Abuse of discretion; or  
c. Inconsistency of the reasons given for the rejection and the facts.  

 
E. Upon receipt of the appeal, the Commission shall set a date for hearing, hear all of the 

evidence, and render a decision. Its decision shall be transmitted in writing to all 
concerned and shall be final. (EC 45274)  

 
4.10 Action When Rejection Is Not Sustained  
 

If a rejection is not sustained by the Personnel Director or the Personnel Commission, the 
Personnel Director shall institute immediate action to ensure the rights of the applicant, 
candidate, or eligible as if the rejection had not been made. However, appointments made 
in the interim shall not be disturbed unless they were fraudulently made.  

 
4.11 Confidentiality of Information  
 

All applications and examination papers are confidential records of the District and shall 
not be returned to the applicants. Examination records and names of applicants shall not 
be available to the public or to any person for any purpose not directly connected with the 
examination and shall be considered confidential but shall, within reasonable time limits 
(not to exceed 90 days) be made available to candidates or their representatives. (EC 
45274)  

 
4.12 Veterans' Preferences  
 

A. Veterans' and disabled veterans' preference points shall be added to passing scores 
in open examinations in the amount prescribed by the Education Code. Veterans shall 
receive five (5) points; disabled veterans shall receive ten (10) points. A veteran, for 
the purpose of this rule, includes any person who has served a minimum of 30 days 
of active service in the United States armed forces in time of war, or national 
emergency declared by the President of the United States of America, and who has 
been discharged or released under conditions other than dishonorable. Armed forces 
includes the Army, Navy Marines, Air Force, Coast Guard, Merchant Marine or 

71



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service

34 

National Guard or service as a nurse on active duty with the Red Cross. A disabled 
veteran is an individual classified by the U.S. Veteran’s Administration to be ten 
percent (10%) or more disabled as a result of service in the armed forces of the United 
States. (EC 45294, 45295, and 45296)  

B. In order to obtain credit, the applicant shall furnish satisfactory proof of qualifying
military service (usually the DD214 Form) at the time of the examination prior to
establishment of the eligibility list. No adjustment of rank on the list shall be made
when such proof is presented thereafter.

72



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

35 
 

 

CHAPTER 5 

EXAMINATION 
 
5.1  Purpose and Character of Examinations  
 

A. The purpose of an examination is to provide equal opportunity for all qualified 
candidates to demonstrate their relative fitness in relationship to the skills, knowledge, 
and abilities required for the class.  

 
B. Examinations may be written, oral, or in the form of a practical demonstration of skill 

and ability, or any combination of these. Any investigation of education, experience, 
character, or identity, and test of technical knowledge, manual skill, or physical and 
mental fitness which, in the judgment of the Personnel Commission serves this end, 
may be employed. (EC 45273)  

 
5.2 Examination Procedures  
 

A. Competitors in any exam component must take the required exams on the prescribed 
date unless an alternate date is approved by the Director, Classified Personnel. 
Alternate exam dates shall not delay the certification process for current vacancies. 

 
B. Copies of the questions in a test shall not be made by competitors or other 

unauthorized persons.  
 
C. Where written tests are required, they shall be so managed that none of the test papers 

will disclose the name of any competitor until all papers of all competitors in a given 
examination shall have been marked and rated.  

 
D. Any competitor in any examination who places any identifying mark on the test papers 

(other than the identifying mark prescribed at the time of examination) or makes any 
attempt to disclose to others the identity of the papers prior to completion of the 
examination shall be disqualified. 

 
E. Any attempt by a candidate to influence or induce any employee or examining 

assistant who has access to confidential materials to give said candidate an advantage 
or to obtain a special rating shall be grounds for disqualification and filing misdemeanor 
charges with the County Attorney, District Attorney, or an equivalent official. (EC 
45317)  

 
F. If an employee or Commission staff member provides any candidate prior to an 

examination with questions or answers pertaining to an examination, that person shall 
be subject to disciplinary action. This, too, may be the subject of misdemeanor charges 
filed. (EC 45317) 

 
G. Handicapped persons shall be given equal employment opportunity when competing 

in examinations.  
 

73



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service

36 

5.3 Examination Values 

The relative values of the different parts of the examination shall be determined by the 
Commission and set forth in the announcement of the examination. All examination papers 
shall be prepared and rated under the direction of the Personnel Director.  

5.4 Rating Required 

Competitors may be required to attain a designated minimum rating in each part or 
combined parts of the examination to qualify for participation in the next succeeding part. 

5.5  Notice of Examinations 

A. Employees of the District shall be given time off to participate in exams, provided the
supervisor is given reasonable notice. In case of a work emergency preventing release
of the employee for examination purposes, late test administration shall be arranged.

B. Applicants shall be sent written notification of the date, time, and place of a test; and
said notification shall be mailed in time to provide adequate notice in advance.

C. Candidates may be required to possess and present proper identification that contains
their picture (e.g. driver's license) in order to enter the examination.

5.6  Review of Examination 

A. When the written test papers of all competitors have been rated, all candidates will be
notified of their scores. If candidates file requests to review their test papers within five
working days after test results have been mailed, they shall be notified of the place,
date, and time of the review. At the time of the review, a protest sheet will be provided
for the protest of any question. The purpose of the protest is for developing accurate
testing and grading systems, and protests will not be accepted merely because a
candidate disagrees with the answer. Protests shall only be accepted when the
candidate has made a written statement noting: the specific question, criterion, etc.,
being questioned; the proper answer as perceived by the candidate; and substantive
evidence justifying that proper answer citing names of experts, texts, etc. No candidate
may copy or remove from the review room any questions or answers. (EC 45274)

B. The protest sheets, if any, shall be filed with the Personnel Director within 24 hours.
The Personnel Director shall review and act upon all requests. More than one answer
may be allowed to a question, or a question may be disqualified. If protests result in
any change, the test papers of all applicants will be reviewed and re-rated accordingly.

C. The Personnel Director shall inform the protesting candidate of the decision. If the
decision is against the protest, the candidate may appeal to the Personnel
Commission, but the appeal shall not delay other parts of the examination process.

5.7  Examination Papers 

All examination papers and applications submitted by competitors are the property of the 
Personnel Commission and are confidential records.  

74



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

37 
 

 
5.8  Qualifications Appraisal Interview (Oral Examination)  
 

A. If an examination includes a Qualifications Appraisal Interview (QAI), those 
competitors eligible for the QAI will be examined at the earliest practicable date after 
conclusion and rating of the earlier test(s).  

 
B. A QAI panel will consist of two or more persons. The oral examination may be 

designed to evaluate candidates' technical knowledge and skills or directed toward 
evaluating general fitness for employment in the class. When the oral examination is 
directed to evaluate technical knowledge and skills, at least two members of the panel 
shall be technically qualified in the specified occupational area. (EC 45273)  

 
C. The proceedings shall be electronically recorded and the recordings shall be 

maintained for 90 days after the establishment of an eligibility list. These records are 
confidential and shall not be available to the public but shall be available to a candidate 
or his representative in the event a protest is filed. (EC 45273)  

 
D. Members of the Board of Trustees and of the Personnel Commission shall not serve 

on an oral panel. Under no circumstances shall a supervisory employee, under which 
a successful competitor may serve, be designated as an oral examiner. (EC 45273)  

 
E. A candidate may review a QAI rating with the Personnel Director, and, if rejected, may 

appeal to the Commission at any time after notification of the final score, but within 5 
days after the results have been mailed. The Commission may alter the QAI rating if it 
finds justification for the protest and order the competitor's examination score adjusted 
accordingly. No change in an eligibility list shall invalidate any appointment which was 
made prior to the ordered adjustment unless the appointment was fraudulent. (EC 
45274)  

 
5.9  Computing Final Scores  
 

A. When computing grades, scores shall be computed to the third decimal and rounded 
to the nearest whole percent.  

 
B. All scores shall be computed, properly weighted, and added, resulting in a final score.  

 
C. Any person who fails to meet the minimum pass point score shall be considered to 

have failed the examination.  
 
5.10  Seniority Credit - Promotional Examinations  
 

In promotional examinations only, seniority credit shall be added to the final passing 
scores of candidates in the amount of one quarter of one point for each year of service, 
not to exceed a total of five points: (e.g., 1 year=.25 points; 5 years=1.25 points; 10 
years=2.5 points; 20 years=5.0 points). Credit shall be granted for time spent in regular 
status (see definition) in the classified service and on leave from the classified service 
while otherwise employed in this District. A full year's credit shall be granted to employees 
whose regular position is assigned on less than a calendar year basis. Credit shall be 
calculated for units of not less than a half year. (EC 45280)  

75



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

38 
 

 
5.11  Notice of Final Score  
 

All competitors shall be notified of their final scores for each portion of the examination, 
additional veterans' or seniority credits, the total score, and standing on the eligibility list, 
if qualified.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

76



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service

39 

CHAPTER 6 

EMPLOYMENT LISTS 

6.1  Establishment and Life of Eligibility Lists 

A. After an examination, the names of successful competitors shall be arranged on a list
in the order of examination score plus additional points where applicable. In order to
maintain confidentiality, the posted list will identify eligible by their applicant
identification number. The list shall be presented for approval of the Personnel
Commission.

B. Eligibility lists may be established by the Personnel Commission for 6 months or 1 year
upon the recommendation of the Personnel Director. Eligibility lists may be extended
for an additional period of one year or less. The Commission may, after due notice to
eligibles, terminate an eligibility list before the list has expired. (EC 45300)

6.2  Reemployment Lists 

There shall be established for each class, as necessary, a reemployment list which shall 
take precedence over all other employment lists in appointment. This list shall contain the 
names of all regular classified service employees who have been laid off or demoted from 
any position because of lack of work or lack of funds. Employees who acquire leaves of 
absence for military reasons and those who are ordered, pursuant to the laws of the United 
States, to serve in any civilian war effort or war industry, shall take precedence by having 
their names placed over other names on the reemployment list in any given class. (EC 
45298)  

6.3  Eligibility after Appointment 

An eligibility list shall be used for full-time, part-time, regular, and limited-term assignments 
in the class. An eligible who accepts employment to a position designated as less than 8 
hours per day and/or less than 12 months per year shall continue to be eligible for 
employment to positions with more hours, days, or months, and an eligible who accepts 
limited-term employment shall continue to be eligible for regular appointment, for the life 
of the eligibility list.  

6.4  Removal of Names from Eligibility Lists 

The name of an eligible candidate may be removed from an eligibility list by action of the 
Personnel Director for any one of the following reasons:  

A. A written request by the eligible for removal;

B. Failure to respond within 5 working days after an inquiry regarding availability for
employment has been mailed;

77



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service

40 

C. Failure to respond for an interview after certification;

D. Two waivers of an offer of regular, full-time employment; or

E. Acceptance of a 12 month, 8 hour position in the classification.

F. Three waivers of certification (Rule 6.10).

G. Any of the causes listed in Rule 4.8.

6.5  Order of Precedence in Certification from Eligibility Lists 

Names shall normally be certified for appointment from appointment lists in the following 
sequence:  

1. Reemployment list
2. Promotional eligibility list
3. Open eligibility list

In the case of dual certification (see Rule 6.6), the Commission may certify eligibles from 
promotional and open eligibility lists simultaneously. (EC 45280, 45284)  

6.6  Dual Certification 

When the same examination is held on an open competitive and promotional basis, the 
Commission may, prior to the examination, authorize dual certification from the resultant 
eligibility lists. The three ranks certified shall be those of the open and promotional eligibles 
who have the highest examination scores, without veterans' credit but including seniority 
credit for promotional eligibles, and their ranks shall be adjusted accordingly. Certification 
shall be made of the three highest ranks. (See Rule 4.3 (C)). (EC 45295, 45296, 45280, 
45284)  

6.7  Other Sources of Eligibility 

In the absence of a reemployment list for a class, a vacancy may be filled by transfer, 
demotion, reinstatement, restoration to former class after voluntary demotion, or other 
means as provided in Chapter 9 or other applicable sections of the Rules, without regard 
for the existence of eligibility lists. (EC 45272)  

6.8  Procedure When Fewer Than Three Ranks Remain 

When fewer than three ranks are available for certification, the available ranks shall be 
certified; however, the appointing authority may choose not to appoint any of them and 
may request that a new eligibility list be established. (EC 45272)  

6.9  Procedure of Certification and Appointment from Eligibility Lists 

A. When a position is to be filled, the appointing power shall notify the Personnel Director
of the vacancy and of the date of the anticipated need. The request for certification

78



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service

41 

shall state the class title, hours, location of employment, and other pertinent 
information as required by the Director.  

B. The Personnel Director shall ascertain the availability of eligibles and shall certify the
three highest ranks to the appointing power in accordance with these Rules. (EC
45272)

C. The appointing power shall make a selection from the persons certified and shall notify
the Director, who shall see that the necessary employment procedures are carried out.
(EC 45272)

6.10  Waivers of Certification 

A. An eligible may waive certification to specific locations or shifts, to part-time or full-time
positions, and to limited-term or permanent positions by filling a prescribed form at the
Personnel Office.

B. Eligibles may revise or withdraw their unavailability in writing, and then shall be
certified.

C. Eligibles may waive certification twice and upon the third instance shall be removed
from the eligibility list (see Rule 6.4).

6.11  Certification from the List for another Class 

If there is no eligibility list for the class in which the vacancy occurs, certification may be 
made from a list for another class at the same or higher salary level if the duties and 
qualifications for which the examination was given include substantially all of the duties of 
the position to be filled, provided that the Personnel Commission finds that the use of the 
list is in the best interest of the District and that the necessary skills and knowledge were 
adequately tested in the examination.  

6.12  Withholding Names from Certification 

The name of an eligible may be withheld from certification when: 

A. The eligible expresses unwillingness or inability to accept appointment;

B. The eligible fails to respond within five working days next following the mailing of
written inquiry regarding availability for permanent employment or request to appear
for an interview regarding such employment;

C. The eligible fails to appear for duty at the time agreed upon after having previously
accepted an appointment;

D. The eligible cannot be reached in time for appointment when immediate temporary
employment is required (this provision shall apply only to such immediate temporary
employment);

79



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

42 
 

E. The eligible fails to present the license, registration, certification, or any other 
credential required without a valid reason beyond the eligible's own control (the name 
of any such eligible shall be restored by the Personnel Director for certification when 
the particular requirement has been met); or  

 
F. For any reason listed in Rule 4.8.  

 
6.13  Restoration to Certification  
 

When the name of a person has been withheld from an eligibility list or from certification 
or has been removed from the list, the name may be placed on the list or restored to it by 
the Personnel Commission under the following circumstances:  
 
A. When the withholding or removal was because of the waiver or inability of the eligible 

to accept employment, or failure to respond to an inquiry as to availability, or failure to 
appear for an interview, or to report for duty, and the eligible presents a good and valid 
reason and certifies to the Personnel Commission of the willingness and ability to 
accept appointment; or  
 

B. When the withholding or removal was for a reason stated in Rule 4.8 and such action 
was improper or the defect has since been corrected. 

 
6.14  Duties of Eligibles  
 

A. Notification that the eligible has been selected for employment shall be made by 
telephone, letter, or certified mail, and acceptance shall be received by the Personnel 
Director within five working days.  
 

B. An eligible who has been certified shall be allowed two weeks to report for duty after 
an offer of permanent employment has been made. If unable or unwilling to report by 
the end of two weeks, the eligible may be considered to have refused appointment 
and the appointing power may request certification of another name from the eligibility 
or reemployment list.  

 
1. The date of the offer of appointment shall be the date on which the eligible is 

notified of selection by the Personnel Director.  
 

2. The appointing power may allow a period longer than two weeks at its discretion.  
 

3. When appointment is to a limited-term position, the eligible must be available on 
the date specified by the appointing power.  

 
C. Every person who has been placed on an eligibility list or reemployment list shall 

promptly and in writing file with the Commission a correct telephone number, mailing 
address, and place of residence. This mailing address shall be the place to which the 
Commission and the Personnel Director shall direct all notices necessary in carrying 
out the provisions of the Act and these Rules. Each such person shall promptly notify 
the office of the Commission of any change in mailing address or place of residence, 
stating the list or lists on which the person's name appears, together with the new 
corrected information. Failure or neglect on the part of any such person to file such 

80



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

43 
 

information may, at the discretion of the Commission, operate as a waiver of the 
person's order of certification and/or appointment from any such list or lists.  

 
6.15  Subjects Regarding Which No Questions Shall Be Asked  
 

No questions relating to political or religious opinions or affiliations, race, color, national 
origin or ancestry, sex, pregnancy, marital status, or illness or disability shall be asked of 
any applicant, or any eligible whose name has been certified for appointment, nor shall 
any discrimination be exercised therefore. (EC 45293)  

 
6.16  Transfer of Exam Scores  
 

Candidates competing for placement on an eligibility list may, at their option, transfer their 
written and/or performance exam score(s) from one recruitment to another provided the 
exam is sufficiently similar, as determined by the Director, Classified Personnel, and the 
exam was administered within the last two years. Requests must be submitted in writing 
prior to the application filing deadline.  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

81



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

44 
 

 

CHAPTER 7 

ASSIGNMENTS 
 

7.1 Limited Term Employment  
 

A. A substitute assignment may be made not to exceed in duration the authorized 
absence of the regular employee. Also, a substitute assignment may be made in a 
lower class related to that of the absent employee if the assigned duties are reduced 
in level accordingly.  

 
B. The appointing authority may fix duties of a position the duration of which is six months 

or less; such positions shall be designated “limited term.” Such positions are subject 
to classification by the Personnel Commission, except that the Personnel Director may 
classify them subject to later ratification if the good of the service demands expeditious 
action.  

 
7.2  Eligibility for Limited Term Employment  
 

Limited term appointments shall be made in accordance with procedures for regular 
appointments, except as provided below:  
 
A. If an eligible has been appointed from an eligibility list to a limited term position, that 

person’s eligibility for limited term or permanent appointments in the same or related 
lower class shall continue after the eligibility list has expired. The same privilege of 
continued eligibility shall apply to a former employee who resigned in good standing 
and who accepted a limited term appointment within 39 months after resignation. The 
names of such persons shall be used for limited term appointments and shall be 
certified there from before the current eligibility list is used.  

 
B. Refusal to accept a limited term assignment shall not affect the person’s eligibility for 

regular openings.  
 
C. Persons on a reemployment list shall be offered opportunities to accept limited term 

assignments.  
 
D. If a permanent employee serves in a higher or equal classification on a temporary or 

limited term basis, that employee will be placed on a separate eligibility list for that 
classification. The employee must serve for a minimum of six months continuous 
service in the assignment and have a record of satisfactory performance on the 
probationary employee performance schedule. This separate eligibility list will be valid 
for 39 months from the date of its establishment.  

 
E. When it is known in advance that a vacancy will occur that is to be staffed as limited 

term for longer than 90 days (such as staffing a vacancy for an employee granted a 
leave of absence), the Personnel Commission shall take steps to circulate the 
opportunity among permanent employees to determine their interests. Preference will 
be given to those district employees on an existing eligibility list. In the event that an 

82



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service

45 

eligibility list does not exist and qualified employees submit their names in response 
to a vacancy notice, the appointing authority (the supervisor) will select from those 
employees showing interest. Should fewer than three employees show an interest, the 
supervisory has the option to consider outside applicants as well. The Personnel 
Commission may choose to waive this rule for higher level technical positions. If 
performance in a temporary position is not satisfactory, the employee shall be returned 
to his/her former position without regard to appeal under Chapter 13 of these rules.  

7.3  Compensation for Limited Term Employment 

A. When a regular employee is given a limited term appointment in a class at a salary
range higher than the employee’s regular class, in lieu of all or part of the regular
employment, the employee’s rate of pay in the limited term appointment shall be set
in the same manner as for a promotion (Rule 14.5).

B. Former regular employees who are reinstated as limited term employees within 39
months after resignation shall be paid in accordance with Rule 9.4 on reinstatement.
The salary step so determined shall be applicable to all future limited term
appointments of that employee in that class until the employee loses eligibility for such
appointments.

C. All other limited term employees shall be paid at the hiring rate for regular
appointments in that class.

7.4  Rights and Benefits during Limited Term Employment 

A. Regular employees who are serving in limited term appointments while retaining
regular status in another class shall continue to earn and be granted all rights and
benefits of a regular employee.

B. All other limited term employees shall be granted only those benefits provided by law.
No seniority or credit toward completion of probation or any other benefit shall accrue
from service in a limited term appointment, except as provided under Paragraph A of
this Rule. Limited term employees who are appointed to regular assignment shall be
given credit for the most recent unbroken service for the purpose of establishing the
anniversary date for salary placement, but such service shall not count for the required
probationary period.

C. Limited term employees working three months of continuous service are provided
benefits as outlined in Chapter 14.14, Section I.

7.5  Terminations of Limited Term Employment 

A. Limited term appointments shall be subject to termination at any time except during
the assigned shift.

B. Limited term employees may be dismissed for cause, which cause shall be made
known to them and to the Personnel Director in writing. The Personnel Director may
remove the employee’s name from the special list for limited term appointments, if the
Director’s investigation supports such an action.

83



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

46 
 

 
7.6  Provisional Appointments: Restrictions  
 

A. When the Personnel Director certifies that no eligibility list exists for a position in the 
classified service, an employee may receive provisional appointments which may 
accumulate to a total of 90 working days. A 90-calendar-day interval shall then elapse 
during which the person will be ineligible to service in any full-time provisional capacity. 
(EC 45287)  

 
B. No person shall be employed in provisional capacities under a given governing board 

for a total of more than 126 working days in any fiscal year, except that when no one 
is available on an appropriate eligibility list for a part-time position, successive 90-
working-day provisional appointments may be made to the part-time position for a total 
of not more than 126 working days in a fiscal year. (EC 45287, 45288)  

 
7.7  Terminating Provisional Appointments  
 

A. The services of a provisional appointee shall be terminated within 15 working days 
after the date on which an eligibility list has been established, provided that this 15-
day period does not extend beyond the 90-working-day provisional assignment, or the 
additional 36 working days, if authorized.  

 
B. A provisional appointment may be terminated at any time at the discretion of the 

appointing power.  
 
7.8  Emergency Appointments  
 

A. If it should become necessary in time of emergency to fill positions in the classified 
service to prevent the stoppage of public business, the Board of Trustees, through its 
authorized department heads, may make emergency appointments without reference 
to eligibility lists for a period not to exceed 15 working days. (EC 45290)  

 
B. When such emergency appointments are made, it shall be the duty of the Board of 

Trustees to notify the Personnel Director in writing, naming the appointee or 
appointees, date of appointment, nature of duties performed, and giving a statement 
justifying the emergency nature of such appointments. Time served under such 
emergency appointments shall be considered as part of the period permitted under 
the Education Code for provisional appointments.  

 
7.9  Assignments of Disabled Employees  
 

A. When a permanent employee becomes unable to perform the duties of the 
classification because of illness or injury as determined by the appointing authority, 
after confirmation by medical authority, effort shall be made to place the employee in 
a position the duties of which are within that employee's capabilities. Reassignment, if 
any, shall be at the discretion of the appointing authority and in accordance with 
applicable Federal and state laws and regulations.  

 
1. A disabled employee's duties in the regular position may be altered in 

accordance with the disability. Such changes in duty shall be informally 

84



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

47 
 

reported to the Personnel Director, who shall determine whether the position 
requires classification study.  

 
2. A disabled employee may accept demotion or transfer to a less demanding 

class, with approval of the Commission.  
 
3. A disabled employee may be assigned to a position in a higher class, with the 

approval of the Commission, but shall receive no salary benefit from such an 
assignment until the employee can be appointed to the higher class in 
accordance with the Rules and procedures on eligibility and appointment.  

 
B. A disabled person may refuse assignments to other classes without effect on the 

employee's rights under sick-leave provisions of the law and Rules. However, there is 
no obligation for the appointing authority to renew offers of reassignment which have 
been refused or to make alternative offers.  

 
7.10 Assignment of Retirees  
 

A. Eligibility of Employment  
 
Any person receiving a retirement allowance from the Public Employee's Retirement 
System may be employed for up to 960 hours in a calendar year whenever other eligibles 
are not available and the retiree's skills or knowledge is needed, or during an emergency  
 
The restriction applies to work with this District and other employers subject to PERS. The 
employee's employment and continuance in employment is discretionary with the 
Governing Board. (EC 45135)  
 

B. Compensation of Retirees  
 
A retired employee shall be entitled to the salary earned to include overtime 
compensation.  
 
Retired personnel shall normally be paid on the first step of the salary range of the class 
to which assigned, but may be paid on a higher step upon the recommendation of the 
appointing authority.  
 

C. Assignment of Retirees  
 
A retired employee employed under this Rule is not subject to reinstatement to PERS nor 
does the compensation paid provide for retirement allowance adjustment.  
 
The appointing authority shall certify to the Director Classified Personnel that a retiree 
employed under this Rule meets the provisions thereof and the combined calendar-year 
employment by employers subject to PERS does not exceed 960 hours per year as 
established by PERS.  

  
 
 

85



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

48 
 

7.11 Payroll Audit  
 

A. Official Roster  
 
The Director of Classified Personnel shall maintain an official roster containing the names 
and complete employment records of all employees holding positions under the provisions 
of these Rules. (EC 45310)  
 
B. Auditing Procedure  
 
All payrolls or claims containing the names of any person or persons to be paid for services 
rendered in positions subject to the provisions of the Act shall be submitted to the Director 
Classified Personnel, who shall cause such payrolls or claims to be examined to determine 
whether the employees whose names appear thereon are employed in accordance with 
law. (EC 45310)  
 
If, upon examination of a payroll or claim, the names, titles, periods for which payments 
are to be made, and rates of pay of the persons to be paid are found to be in accordance 
with the provisions of the Act and these Rules, certification of that fact shall be made upon 
such payroll or claim by the Director Classified Personnel or an authorized representative. 
(EC 45310)  
 
The Personnel Director shall make periodic audits of all payrolls, and if assignments are 
not in accordance with law and rules, he shall withdraw his certification and follow Rule 
7.11(C).  
 
C. Procedure to Follow When Violation Is Found  
 
If, upon examination of a payroll, it is found that any person has been employed in violation 
of any provision of the Act or Rules and, after a public hearing has been held and an order 
issued by the Commission, notice of such violation shall be made upon the payroll or 
service report, and the notice shall serve as official notification to the Board of Trustees 
that the drawing, signing, or issuing of any warrant on the Treasurer or other disbursing 
officer of the County for the payment of salary or compensation to such person is unlawful. 
(EC 45310)  
 
The Personnel Director shall make periodic audits of all payrolls, and the notice shall serve 
as official notification to the Board of Trustees that the drawing, signing, or issuing of any 
warrant on the Treasurer or other disbursing officer of the County for the payment of salary 
or compensation to such person is unlawful. (EC 45310)  

 
7.12  New Employee Clearances  
 

A. Physical Examinations  
 
1. New employees in a classified position, as a substitute, relief, limited term, or 

provisional employee, shall be required to comply with appropriate provisions 
of the Education Code pertaining to physical examinations (EC 45122)  

 

86



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

49 
 

2. All new employees may be required by the Board of Trustees to undergo, at 
District expense, a complete physical examination, including drug and alcohol 
screen, from a licensed physician prior to the first working day. The Board of 
Trustees reserves the right to refuse employment to any person whose report 
of physical examination reveals a physical condition which the Board considers 
would reduce the effectiveness of the applicant or cause injury to the employee 
or others that come in contact with the employee during the working day if 
employed in the position for which application was made. The cost of physical 
examinations which are required by the District subsequent to employment 
shall be borne by the District.  

 
3. In addition to any other examination that may be required by these rules, school 

bus drivers must have a valid school bus drivers' certificate which requires a 
separate medical examination to meet the minimum medical requirements of 
Section 12517.2 of the California Vehicle Code and licensing regulations of the 
California Department of Motor Vehicles.  

 

B. Tuberculosis Test  
 
1. Prior to employment, each person is required to submit adequate proof that he 

has undergone a test for tuberculosis and has been found to be free of active 
tuberculosis. The examination must have been conducted within a four-year 
period preceding the date of employment.  

 
2. New employees are required to undergo an examination to determine that they 

are free from active tuberculosis at least once every four years after 
employment.  

 
3. The District shall maintain adequate records on each employee which indicate 

compliance with these Rules and the law.  
 
4. The cost of tuberculosis examinations which are required by the District 

subsequent to employment shall be borne by the District.  
 

C. Review of Criminal Records  
 

1. New employees shall submit to a criminal records check in accordance with 
prescribed procedures or shall forfeit eligibility for employment.  

 
2. All Criminal record reports are to be treated as confidential. Any employee 

charged with receiving and/or reviewing them who divulges information 
contained therein to an unauthorized person is subject to disciplinary action.  

 
3. The criminal records report from the California Bureau of Criminal Identification 

and Investigation and/or the Federal Bureau of Investigation will be reviewed 
together with the person's application form. If there is a criminal record, the 
appointing authority shall decide whether or not the person should be 
employed or retained in employment.  

 

87



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

50 
 

4. If an employee is to be dismissed because of information disclosed on the 
criminal records report, or if the appointing authority desires that an eligible be 
removed from an eligibility list because of such information, the Personnel 
Commission shall be notified of the recommended action and the reasons 
therefore.  

 
D. Oath of Allegiance  

 
New employees, as a matter of law, shall swear to an oath of allegiance to the Constitution 
of the State of California and the United States of America. This oath will be administered 
by the Director, Classified Personnel or his/her designee and signed by the employee and 
Director, Classified Personnel. (EC 44344) 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

88



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

51 
 

 

CHAPTER 8 

PROBATIONARY PERIOD 
 

8.1 Duration of Probationary Period  
 

A. A new employee appointed from an eligibility list shall serve a probationary period in 
a class for six months or 130 days of paid service, whichever is longer, before attaining 
permanency in the classified service. An employee who has been promoted shall 
serve a probationary period of six months in the higher class before attaining 
permanency in that class. Credit toward completion of probation shall be granted only 
for service in regular positions in the class after appointment from the eligibility list.  

 
B. For those classes designated as management or administrative, the probationary 

period shall be one year. (EC 45269, 45270, 45301)  
 
C. In the event that an employee is on extended paid sick leave for more than fifteen (15) 

consecutive days (e.g., half-pay sick leave or industrial accident or illness leave), the 
period of leave shall not be counted toward completion of the required probationary 
period.  

 
8.2  Rights of Probationary Employees 
  

A. New employees who resign in good standing during their initial probationary period 
shall, upon request, have their names restored in proper rank to the eligibility list. Such 
action shall not extend the life of the eligibility list or the period of eligibility for the 
employees.  

 
B. New employees who are suspended or dismissed during their initial probationary 

period shall be notified in writing of the actions taken and the reasons therefore. They 
shall not have the right of appeal. (EC45305)  

 
C. Employees who have permanent status in the classified service, and who have been 

promoted to a higher class, may be demoted involuntarily during the probationary 
period to their former class. They shall be notified in writing of the actions taken and 
the reasons therefore, and shall not have the right of appeal. (EC45305)  

 
D. Permanent employees who are suspended, or dismissed, or demoted, to other than 

their former class, during a probationary period retain full rights of appeal. (EC45305)  
 
E. Should the work for which probationary employees have been appointed prove 

temporary instead of permanent as certified, and should they be laid off without fault 
or delinquency on their part before their probationary period is completed, their names 
shall be restored in proper rank to the eligibility list and the time served shall be 
credited to them on their probationary period. Such action shall not extend the life of 
the eligibility list or the period of eligibility for the employees.  

 
 

89



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

52 
 

 

CHAPTER 9 

TRANSFER 
 

For bargaining unit members, transfers are conducted according to contract provisions. When the 
collective bargaining contract is silent, these Rules prevail. For classified management, 
confidential and non-represented employees, the following applies (see also Rule 6.7):  
 
9.1 Transfer Procedure  
 

A. Employees may be transferred at their request or for the good of the service from one 
position to another in the same class at the discretion of the District Superintendent, 
provided that such action shall not be taken for punitive or preferential reasons.  

 
B. Permanent employees may be transferred to positions in related classes, i.e., with 

similar qualification requirements and/or in the same job family, on the same salary 
schedules. The Commission, on appeal, shall determine if the qualification 
requirements of the two classes are sufficiently similar to permit the transfer.  

 
C. Transfers shall not change the employee’s salary rate, anniversary date, accumulated 

illness leave, and accumulated vacation credits, or in any other manner reflect 
adversely upon their rights as provided in law and these Rules.  

 
D. The Personnel Commission shall determine whether classes are sufficiently related to 

permit transfer between them. It shall consider similarity of duties, minimum 
qualifications, examination content, occupational group, and promotional field (above 
and below). In general, more latitude in transfers is permitted:  

 
1. As the employee’s seniority in the classified service increases;  
 
2. When the transfer request is based on reclassification, impending layoff, or 

health reasons; and  
 
3. When the employee meets the minimum requirements for the class.  

 
E. Permanent employees who transfer to a position in a related class on the same salary 

range, in which they have not previously completed a probationary period, shall be 
considered probationary in that class for a period of six months. At any time during the 
probationary period they may be returned to their former class without right of appeal, 
unless such action results in layoff, demotion, or reduction in assigned time. In the 
latter cases, the employee will have the same appeal rights as a permanent employee 
who is demoted or dismissed.  

 
F. Transfers shall have the following effect on seniority:  

 
1. Within the same class: none  
 

90



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

53 
 

2. From one class to another: employees shall not receive seniority credit in the 
new class for service in other classes; however, they shall retain such credit 
as seniority in the classified service. 

  
G. Transfer shall not be used as a device to alter the sequence of impending layoff, 

although employees whose positions are to be eliminated may transfer to other 
classes as this Rule allows.  

 
H. Reasons for any involuntary transfers shall be discussed with the employees by their 

immediate supervisors.  
 
I. Employees who are involuntarily transferred may request a meeting with the 

Personnel Director to discuss the transfer.  
  
9.2  Demotions  

 
A. Permanent employees may request voluntary demotion to a class for which they 

qualify with a lower maximum salary rate. Such requests require the approval both of 
their department head, and of the head of the department to which they are to be 
assigned.  

 
B. Voluntary demotion is a privilege available to probationary employees only in cases 

where they would otherwise be laid off for lack of work or lack of funds. However, 
permanent employees on promotional probation may request voluntary demotion to a 
class for which they qualify.  

 
9.3  Resignation  
 

When employees desire to resign from their positions, they shall present their 
resignations, preferably in writing, to the appointing authority, and a copy of such 
resignation shall immediately be filed by the appointing authority with the Personnel 
Director. A resignation does not impair any presently existing rights to other positions 
which an employee may hold on an open eligibility list.  

 
9.4 Reinstatement  
 

A. A former permanent employee who resigns in good standing may be reinstated in a 
vacant position in the former class and status within 39 months of the last date of paid 
service without further examination.  Also, such an employee may be reinstated in a 
vacant position in a lower related class, if qualified, or in limited status in the same or 
lower class. Such actions are discretionary with the appointing authority.  

 
B. An employee who has taken a voluntary demotion may be restored to a vacant position 

in the employee’s former class or in a vacant position in a related lower class, or 
determined by the Commission, within 39 months. Except when demotion was chosen 
in lieu of layoff, restoration is discretionary with the appointing authority.  

 
C. An employee who has accepted demotion in lieu of layoff for lack of work or funds has 

the right to be reemployed, in accordance with the employee’s seniority, in a vacant 
position in the employee’s former class within 39 months after demotion. Intervening 

91



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

54 
 

reassignments to other classes shall not abrogate that right. If the employee has not 
been reemployed in the former class within 39 months, the employee shall be eligible 
for appointment to a vacant position in that class, without examination, for an additional 
24 months, at the discretion of the appointing authority.  

 
D. Reinstatement or reemployment of a former employee who voluntarily resigned will 

have the following effects:  
 

1. Restoration to the former step in the current salary range for the class, or, if 
restored in a lower class, to the rate closest to that of the step to which the 
employee would be assigned if restored in the former class;  
 

2. If restored to permanent status, restoration of accumulated sick leave and seniority 
as of the date of the separation;  
 

3. Restoration of former anniversary date, but without step-advancement credit for 
the off-duty period;  
 

4. Restoration of all rights, benefits, and burdens of a permanent employee in the 
class to which restored.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

92



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

55 
 

 

CHAPTER 10 

PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL 
 

For bargaining unit members, performance evaluations are conducted according to contract 
provisions. When the collective bargaining contract is silent, these Rules prevail. For classified 
management, confidential and non-represented employees, the following applies:  
 
10.1  When Evaluations are to be Made  
 

All regular classified employees shall be evaluated by their immediate supervisors in 
accordance with the following schedule:  

 
A. For classified non-management probationary employees - during the second and the 

fourth months of service. A recommendation for permanent status shall be completed 
as specified in Rule 8.1(A).   
 

B. For classified management probationary employees - during the fourth and eighth 
months of service. A recommendation for permanent status shall be completed prior 
to completion of the one year probationary period.  
 

C. Permanent employees shall be reviewed at least once each year between May 1 and 
June 30 inclusive. Transferred or promoted employees will be evaluated by the former 
supervisor within 10 working days before the transfer or promotion, unless the May 1 
through June 30 review occurred less than 60 days earlier.  

 
10.2  Performance Appraisal Procedure  
 

The employee shall meet with his/her supervisor May 1 and June 30 inclusive, to be 
evaluated on past performance and to set performance objectives for the subsequent 
evaluation period. The evaluation form will be signed and dated by the rater and the 
employee. The evaluation report will then be forwarded to the next highest supervisor for 
review. The employee who receives a “Not Satisfactory” or “Requires Improvement” 
evaluation may request to meet with the reviewer of the evaluation. All reports with a 
summary evaluation of “Not Satisfactory” will be reviewed by the Director, Classified 
Personnel. An employee who receives a summary evaluation of “Not Satisfactory” will not 
be granted salary step advancement until a regularly scheduled evaluation report is 
carried out and he/she is rated at least “Satisfactory.” Prior to an unsatisfactory evaluation 
being given to a permanent employee, he/she must have a minimum of thirty (30) working 
days notice of the areas of deficiency and suggestions made on how to improve. If 
improvement has been made, such notice of improvement shall be attached to the 
evaluation.  
 
The reviewer will sign all copies indicating concurrence with the rater or will indicate 
disagreements. The reviewer will then return the rater’s and employee’s copy to them. The 
original copy of the report and any attachments will be sent to the Classified Personnel 
Office to be filed in the employee’s personnel file.  

93



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service

56 

The employee may request a meeting with the Director, Classified Personnel, to discuss 
and review his/her evaluation.  

10.3  Special Performance Appraisal 

A. At any time that an employee's performance has become less than satisfactory, a
supervisor may, with the approval of the department head, provide a minimum of thirty
(30) working days notice of an unscheduled evaluation. Such notice must include the
areas of deficiency and the suggestions made on how to improve. If improvement is
made during the 30 workdays, that information must be included in the evaluation
documentation.

B. A supervisor may, with approval of the department head, submit for inclusion in an
employee's personnel file documents reflecting an employee's significant
accomplishment or contribution to the improvement of the District's operations,
programs, or public service.

10.4  Performance Appraisal Form 

Performance evaluation reports shall be made on forms prescribed by the Commission. 

94



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

57 
 

 

CHAPTER 11 

LEAVES OF ABSENCE 
 

For bargaining unit members, Leaves of Absence are conducted according to contract provisions. 
When the collective bargaining contract is silent, these Rules prevail. For classified management, 
confidential and non-represented employees, the following applies:  
 
11.1  The Personnel Commission’s Authority  
 

The substance of Leaves of Absence for classified employees is the responsibility of the 
Board of Trustees. The Personnel Commission’s responsibilities are the procedural 
provisions of Leaves of Absence. The substance and the procedure are included in these 
Rules and Regulations for convenience.  

11.2 Vacation  
 

A. Permanent and probationary classified employees shall earn paid vacation benefits 
while on paid status, on a fiscal year basis, July 1 through June 30. (EC 45197) 
 

B. Earned vacation becomes a vested right after completing the six month period. (EC 
45197)  

 
C. Upon separation from service, employees shall be entitled to lump sum compensation 

for all earned and unused vacation, except if the employee has not completed six 
months service. (EC 45197)  

 
D. The rate at which vacation shall be paid shall be the employee’s current rate. An 

employee whose vacation is earned and begun under a given status shall suffer no 
loss of earned vacation credit for subsequent changes in conditions of employment 
during the vacation. (EC 45197)  

 
E. If an employee who has been granted vacation which was used and not earned leaves 

District employment, the District shall be entitled to deduct from the employee’s last 
pay warrant the amount of salary which was paid for any unearned vacation used. (EC 
45197)  

 
F. Vacation credits may be accumulated to a maximum of two (2) times the number of 

days earned yearly.  
 
G. Vacation credits shall be computed on regular paid time excluding overtime. (EC 

45197)  
 
H. Employees shall be notified annually of their accrued vacation.  
 

95



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

58 
 

I. Vacation schedules shall be prepared by the administration and every effort shall be 
made to enable vacation to be taken at times convenient to the employee, consistent 
with the needs of the District and the workload of the department.  

 
J. In the case of conflicts in vacation scheduling, the employee with the most hire-date 

seniority shall be given preference, providing that the less senior employee required 
to work has the necessary skills and/or required certificate to perform the work to be 
done as determined by the supervisor.  

 
K. Employees on a ten or an eleven-month schedule will take their vacation during the 

Winter and Spring vacation periods. If the full-earned amount cannot be taken during 
those periods, the balance will be taken at a time convenient to the District and the 
employee during the school year. If at the end of the fiscal year a ten- or eleven-month 
employee has earned vacation credits, he/she shall be paid for all earned but unused 
vacation unless he/she and his/her supervisor agree to allow the accumulation to be 
carried over as long as it does not conflict with Rule 11.2(F).  

 
L. Employees who become ill or become bereaved before the vacation has been 

completed shall immediately notify the District and shall make arrangements for 
rescheduling their vacation. (EC 45200)  

 
M. Holidays which occur during the employee’s vacation shall not be charged against the 

employee’s vacation time.  
 
N. Vacation may be taken at any time during the year. If the employee is not permitted to 

take vacation and accumulation exceeds the limit set forth in Section F of this Chapter, 
the employee shall be paid for any accumulation which exceeds said amount. (EC 
45197)  

 
O. The vacation accrual schedule for Regular Classified Employees shall be according to 

the following schedule: (EC 45197)  
 
Assignment 0-5 Years 

Days or Hours 

6-10 Years 

Days or Hours 

12 months 12                 96 15                120 

11 months 11                 88 13.75          110 

10 months 10                 80 12.50          100 

 

Assignment 11-15 Years 

Days or Hours 

6-10 Years 

Days or Hours 

12 months 18                   144 21                168 

11 months 16.50              132 19.25          154 

10 months 15                   120 17.50          140 

96



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

59 
 

 

Assignment 21+ Years 

Days or Hours 

12 months 24                 192 

11 months 22                 176 

10 months 20                 160 

 
P. Vacation benefits for Classified Management employees shall be according to the 

following schedule: (EC 45197) 
 

Assignment 0-4 Years 

Days or Hours 

5-9 Years 

Days or Hours 

12 months 20               160 22               176 

 
 
Assignment 0-4 Years 

Days or Hours 

5-9 Years 

Days or Hours 

12 months 24              192 25              200 

 
11.3  Personal Illness or Injury Leave  
 

A. Sick leave is the authorized absence of an employee because of illness or injury or 
exposure to contagious disease.  

 
B. A regular full-time classified employee (probationary and permanent) shall earn paid 

sick leave in the amount of twelve (12) days for each year of service. A classified 
employee employed less than full time shall earn that proportion of paid sick leave as 
the number of days employed compares to full-time employment. Unused sick leave 
may be accumulated without limit. (EC 45191)  

 
C. At the beginning of each fiscal year the sick leave “bank” of the employee shall be 

increased by the number of days of paid sick leave which would normally be earned 
in the ensuing fiscal year. An employee’s sick leave “bank” shall be adjusted if a 
change of assignment alters the amount of sick leave earnable.  

 
D. Sick leave may be taken at any time provided that new employees with probationary 

status only may use a maximum of six (6) days paid sick leave during their initial 
probationary period.  

 
E. Pay for any day of sick leave shall be the same pay the employee would have received 

if the employee had worked that day. (EC 45191)  

97



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service

60 

F. In order to receive compensation while absent on sick leave the employee must notify
his/her supervisor of the absence prior to the first working hour of the first day absent,
unless conditions make notification impossible. The burden of proof of impossible
conditions shall be upon the employee. (EC 45191)

G. Employees returning to work from leave after major surgery or major illness shall be
required to present a doctor's release verifying medical permission prior to returning
to work. By the end of the normal working hours on the day prior to his/her expected
return to work the employee shall notify his/her supervisor in order that any substitute
employee may be notified. If the employee fails to notify his/her supervisor and both
the employee and the substitute report, the substitute is entitled to the assignment and
the employee shall not receive pay for that day. (EC 45191)

H. If circumstances dictate, the Superintendent or his/her designee may require evidence
satisfactory to the District to verify authorized use of sick leave. (EC 45191)

I. Additional Sick Leave

1. After exhaustion of accumulated sick leave an employee who is ill or injured
may, upon request, use accumulated vacation to avoid leave without pay. (EC
45195)

2. An employee who has exhausted all other entitlement to paid sick leave shall
be granted additional paid leave at fifty percent (50%) of the regular salary.
Such leave shall not exceed one hundred (100) working days including days
of paid sick leave taken under Section 11.3.B. of this Chapter. (EC 45196)

3. A permanent employee who has exhausted all available paid leaves and who
is absent due to a non-industrial accident or illness may be granted additional
unpaid leave by the District, not to exceed six (6) months. The District may
renew this unpaid leave for two (2) additional six-month periods. (EC 45195)

J. Termination of Sick Leave

1. An employee who had been placed on paid or unpaid sick leave may return to
duty at any time during the leave, provided that the employee is able to resume
the assigned duties. If the leave has been for more than twenty (20) working
days, the employee shall notify the District of his/her return at least three (3)
working days in advance. A physician’s release may be required by the District
prior to returning to work. (EC 45191)

2. If, at the conclusion of all sick leave and other leave, paid or unpaid, granted
under these rules, the employee is still unable to assume the duties of his/her
position, the employee will be placed on a reemployment list for a period of
thirty-nine (39) months. Provided that the employee is able to resume the
assigned duties, his/her reemployment will take preference over all other
applicants, except for those laid off for lack of funds. (EC 45195)

3. If an employee resigns or is terminated and has used more illness or injury
leave than was earned, the amount used, but not earned, shall be deducted
from his/her final pay warrant.

98



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service

61 

K. Transfer of Sick Leave

Any classified employee of any California school district who has been an employee of the 
district or county office for a period of one calendar year or more and who terminates 
employment with that district or that county office for the sole purpose of accepting a 
classified position with the San Dieguito Union High School District and who subsequently, 
within one year of termination of his former employment, accepts a classified position shall 
be credited with all the earned but unused sick leave which was credited in the former 
school district or county office. (EC 45202)  

11.4  Personal Necessity Leave 

A. An employee may use not more than seven (7) days per year of regular illness or injury
leave for cases of personal necessity. (EC 45207)

B. Personal necessity leave shall be limited to circumstances that are serious
(emergency) in nature and/or that the employee cannot reasonably be expected to
disregard; and/or that necessitate immediate action; and/or that cannot be taken care
of after work hours or on weekends; and/or as approved by the Superintendent or
his/her designee. Each request for such leave shall be evaluated on an individual
basis. (EC 45207)

C. Employees desiring to use personal necessity leave shall secure prior approval within
three (3) days of the start of the leave from the administrative staff, in accordance with
District procedures. (EC 45207)

D. Employees shall not be required to receive advance permission for personal necessity
leave taken for: death or serious illness of a member of his/her immediate family;
accident involving his/her person or property or the person or property of a member of
his/her immediate family. In such cases, however, the employee shall be expected to
make every reasonable effort to comply with District provisions designed to secure
adequate substitutes. (EC 45207)

E. Employees returning from personal necessity leave must submit an appropriate
absence statement, in accordance with District provisions. (EC 45207)

F. Personal necessity leave shall not include items such as social obligations,
occupational investigation, recreational activities, personal business, work stoppage
and other concerted activities. (EC 45207)

11.5  Bereavement Leave 

A. An employee shall be entitled to a maximum of five (5) days of absence with full pay
at the death of any member of his/her immediate family. (EC 45194)

B. The term “immediate family” is defined as mother, father, sister, brother, husband,
wife, child, grandmother, grandfather, grandmother-in-law, grandfather-in-law,
grandchild, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, mother-in-law, father-in-law, sister-in-law,
brother-in-law, step-child or any permanent resident of the employee's immediate
household. (EC 45194)

99



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service

62 

11.6  Judicial-Government Leave 

A. An employee shall be granted leave to appear in court as a witness when subpoenaed.
An employee may be granted leave to respond to an official order from another
governmental jurisdiction other than as a litigant and not brought about through the
connivance or misconduct of the employee. (EC 44036, 44037)

B. An employee shall be granted a leave to appear for jury duty in the manner provided
by law. (EC 44036, 44037)

C. An employee shall receive his/her regular pay.

D. An employee shall not be granted paid leave to appear in court or other official
proceedings in which the employee is a litigant.

11.7  Industrial Accident & Illness Leave 

A. An employee in the classified service who is absent from duty because of an illness or
injury defined as an industrial accident or industrial illness under the provisions of the
District Workers’ Compensation Insurance laws shall be granted paid industrial
accident leave for each such accident or illness while receiving temporary disability
benefits provided that:

1. The employee has six (6) months service in the District. (EC 45192)

2. In the opinion of the District Superintendent or his/her designated
representative, the illness or injury constitutes an industrial accident or illness
or, if contested, it is ultimately determined to be work connected.

3. Any employee receiving benefits as a result of this section shall, during the
period of injury or illness, remain within the State of California unless prior
approval is granted by the Board of Trustees. (EC 45192)

B. Paid industrial accident leave shall be for not more than sixty (60) working days in any
one (1) fiscal year for the same illness or injury. (EC 45192)

C. Paid industrial accident leave shall be reduced by one (1) day for each day of
authorized absence regardless of the temporary disability allowance made under
Workers’ Compensation. Days absent while on paid industrial accident leave shall not
be deducted from the number of days of paid illness leave to which an employee may
be entitled under the Education Code or Chapter 11.3, Personal Illness or Injury Leave,
of these Rules. (EC 45192)

D. If the employee is still unable to return to duty after exhausting paid industrial accident
leave, the employee shall be placed on paid sick leave if eligible therefor. When sick
leave, vacation, or other available paid leave is used in conjunction with temporary
disability benefits derived from Workers’ Compensation, the employee’s salary shall
be reduced only in that amount necessary to provide a full day’s wage or salary when
added to the temporary disability benefits.

100



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service

63 

E. After all paid sick leave has been exhausted following a paid industrial accident leave,
an employee may choose to receive pay from accrued vacation or other earned leave
to the extent necessary to make up the employee’s regular salary when receiving a
temporary disability allowance without penalties from the District Compensation
Insurance Fund.

F. After the expiration of all paid leave privileges, the Superintendent may place the
employee on an industrial accident leave without pay, and during such time the
employee may be placed on a reemployment list for a period of thirty-nine (39) months.
The total time of all leave benefits provided under these rules, including unpaid
industrial accident leave, shall not exceed thirty-six (36) months for any one industrial
accident or industrial illness. A physician’s release for the employee may be required
by the District prior to return to work. (EC 45192)

G. Upon return to service from any paid or unpaid leave resulting from an industrial
accident or industrial illness, an employee shall be assigned to an available vacant
position in his/her former class ahead of any employee with less seniority. If an
employee’s former class has ceased to exist, the employee may be reassigned or
placed on a suitable reemployment list. (EC 45192)

H. An employee returning from paid or unpaid leave of absence shall not have any loss
or gain in status or benefits other than that which is specifically provided in applicable
provisions of the Education Code and Personnel Commission Rules. An employee
shall continue to receive seniority credit for all purposes while on such a paid or unpaid
leave of absence. (EC 45192)

I. When all paid or unpaid leaves of absence have been exhausted following an industrial
accident or industrial illness, the employee’s name shall be placed on the
reemployment list for the class from which he/she was on leave for a period not to
exceed thirty-nine (39) months. (EC 45192)

J. An employee who fails to accept an appropriate assignment after being medically
approved therefor shall be removed from the reemployment list. Appropriate
assignment is defined as an assignment to the employee’s former class, in former
status and in assignment areas in which the employee is available. (EC 45192)

K. While an employee is on any paid leave resulting from an industrial accident or
industrial illness the employee’s salary paid by the District shall not, when added to a
normal temporary disability allowance award without penalties granted the employee
under District Workers’ Compensation Insurance laws, exceed the employee’s regular
salary. A permanent employee’s salary is computed on the basis of the number of
hours and days in his/her basic daily assignment. An employee who is not full time
shall have his/her regular salary computed on the basis of the average number of
hours worked each month in which the employee was in paid status during the
preceding year. (EC 45192)

L. During all paid leaves resulting from an industrial accident or industrial illness, the
employee shall endorse to the District all wage loss benefit checks received under
District Workers’ Compensation Insurance laws. The District shall issue to the

101



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service

64 

employee appropriate warrants for payment of wages, loss of benefits, salary and/or 
leave benefits and shall deduct normal retirement and other authorized contributions.  

M. Final allowance for permanent industrial disability settlements shall not be subject to
remittance to the District under this rule. (EC 44043, 45192)

11.8  Maternity Leave 

A. Paid Maternity Disability Leave

An employee who is certified by a licensed physician to be physically disabled from
performing her assigned duties due to pregnancy may utilize sick leave and the
benefits provided in Chapter 11.3 (Sick Leave) for absences necessitated by
pregnancy, miscarriage, childbirth and recovery. (EC 45193)

B. Unpaid Maternity Leave

An employee may be granted a leave of absence without pay due to pregnancy. (EC
45193)

C. The employee may return to duty at a time mutually convenient to the employee and
the District provided that there is a written release from a licensed physician, but the
return to work shall be within six (6) months of the child’s birth. (EC 45193)

D. Leaves of absence without pay may be extended by the Board of Trustees for periods
of six (6) months following childbirth upon request of the female employee. Such leave
shall not count as experience for salary placement purposes. (EC 45193)

E. If an employee fails to report to work within five (5) days after the expiration of maternity
leave (unpaid), her status with the District may be terminated. (EC 45193)

F. Paid sick leave for the purpose of maternity will not constitute a break in service for
salary purposes. Unpaid maternity leave shall not count as service toward salary
placement. (EC 45193)

11.9  Health Leave 

Upon presentation of a doctor’s certificate, an employee may be granted a leave of 
absence without pay (usually time over and beyond sick leave credit) for health reasons. 
Such leaves shall be granted for a maximum of six (6) months. The District may renew 
this unpaid leave for two (2) additional six-month periods. (EC 45195, 45199)  

11.10  Personal Leave 

A permanent classified employee may be granted a leave of absence without pay for 
personal reasons upon the recommendation of the Superintendent or his/her designee 
and with the approval of the Board of Trustees for a period not to exceed one (01) year. 
Upon return from approved leave, the employee will be entitled to a position within the 
classification of the position from which the employee is on leave. The employee shall not 

102



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service

65 

be granted any accumulation of either sick leave or vacation for the period of absence. 
(EC 45190)  

11.11 Military Leave 

Military service leave shall be granted in accordance with the Military and Veterans Code 
Sections 389 and 395.  

11.12  Absence for Examination 

Employees in the classified service shall be permitted to be absent from duties during 
working hours in order to take an examination for promotion in the District without 
deduction of pay or other penalty, provided the employees give two days’ notice to their 
immediate supervisors.  

11.13  Leave to Serve in an Exempt, Temporary, or Limited-Term Position 

A. Any permanent classified employee who accepts an assignment within the District to
an exempt, temporary, or limited-term position shall, during such assignment, be
considered for status purposes as serving in the employee’s regular position, and such
assignment shall not be considered separation from service.

B. The employee may, with the approval of the appointing authority voluntarily return to
the employee’s position or a position in the class of the employee’s permanent status
prior to the completion of service in an exempt, temporary, or limited-term position.
Failure to complete the required service, unless approved or specified herein, will
constitute abandonment of position and may be grounds for disciplinary action by the
appointing authority.

11.14  Cost Reimbursement for Training/Leave Not Involved 

A. The Board of Trustees may grant the reimbursement of the costs, including tuition
fees, for a permanent classified employee who satisfactorily completes approved
training intended to improve job knowledge and skills.

B. The Personnel Commission may expend funds for orientation, training, retraining, and
development of Personnel Commission staff members and Commission members.
(EC 45255)

11.15  Service Recognition Day  

A. On the tenth anniversary of employment with the District, and on every subsequent
yearly anniversary date, each classified employee designated to be in a non-
managerial position shall receive a paid day off as a "Service Recognition Day." This
day must be scheduled with the employee's supervisor for a mutually convenient
workday any time from one month before until one month after the service date. If the
day is not taken during the two-month period, it will be forfeited.

103



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

66 
 

 

CHAPTER 12 

LAYOFFS 
 
12.1 Procedure for Layoff  
 

A. When classified employees are laid off for lack of work or lack of funds, layoff shall be 
made in inverse order of seniority in the class in which the layoff occurs. The employee 
who has been employed the shortest time in the class, plus higher classes, shall be 
considered to have the least seniority, and, therefore, shall be laid off first. When two 
or more employees have identical seniority, layoff shall be determined by lot. (EC 
45298, 45308)  
 

B. The names of permanent and probationary employees thus laid off shall be placed 
upon the most appropriate reemployment list as determined by the Personnel 
Commission for the class from which they were laid off and shall be reemployed in 
preference to new applicants. Names on the reemployment list shall be in the relative 
order of seniority.  

 
12.2  Rights of Employees Laid Off  
 

A. Permanent classified employees laid off and who have previous service in an equal or 
lower class shall have the right to bump an employee with less seniority in that class. 
Seniority shall include the total of the previous service in the equal or lower class plus 
service in the class from which the layoff occurs and in higher classes.  
 

B. A permanent classified employee who will suffer a layoff for lack of work or funds 
despite the exercising of bumping rights, in order to avoid layoff, may accept a 
voluntary demotion to a vacant position in a lower class or transfer to an equal class, 
provided the employee is qualified to perform the duties thereof and provided further 
that the appointing authority approves the voluntary demotion or transfer. (EC 45298)  

 
12.3  Notice of Layoff  
 

Classified employees subject to layoff for lack of work shall be given written notice of layoff 
not less than 45 days prior to the effective date of layoff, and shall be informed of their 
displacement rights, if any, and reemployment rights. Classified employees in specially 
funded programs subject to layoff due to lack of funds at the end of a school year shall be 
given written notice of the impending layoff and their rights on or before April 29. In the 
event of an actual and existing financial inability to pay the salaries of classified 
employees, or a lack of work resulting from causes not foreseeable or preventable by the 
District, these timelines in this Rule would not preclude the Board from implementing a 
layoff action. (EC 45117)  
 
For bargaining unit members, the effects of layoffs are conducted according to contract 
provisions. When the collective bargaining contract is silent, these Rules prevail. For 
classified management, confidential, and non-represented employees, the following 
applies:  

104



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service

67 

12.4    Effects of Layoff 

A. A layoff for purposes of this Chapter shall be considered as an involuntary separation
of a permanent employee or a probationary employee, who is a member of the
classified service, because of lack of work, lack of funds, or reduced workload.

B. A classified employee who will suffer a layoff for lack of work or funds, despite bumping
rights, may accept a voluntary demotion to a vacant position in a lower class or transfer
to an equal class, provided that the employee is qualified to perform the duties thereof.

C. A regular employee shall not be laid off from any position while employees are serving
in limited term, provisional or temporary positions in the same class unless the regular
employee declines the limited-term, provisional or temporary position.

D. Laid off employees are eligible for reemployment in the class from which laid off for a
period of thirty-nine (39) months and shall be reemployed in the reverse order of layoff.
Such reemployment shall take precedence over any type of employment.

E. A permanent employee who is laid off from a class and who has previous service in
an equal or lower class shall have the right to bump an employee with less seniority in
that class. Seniority shall include the total of the previous service in the equal or lower
class plus service in class from which the layoff occurs and higher classes.

F. Employees who take voluntary demotions or voluntary reductions in assigned time in
lieu of layoff or to remain in their present positions rather than be reclassified or
reassigned, shall be granted the same rights as persons laid off and shall retain
eligibility to be considered for reemployment for an additional period of up to twenty-
four (24) months; provided, that the same tests of fitness under which they qualified
for appointment to the class shall still apply. The Personnel Commission shall make
the determination of the specific period of eligibility for reemployment on a class-by-
class basis.

G. Employees who take voluntary demotions or voluntary reductions in assigned time in
lieu of layoff shall be, at the option of the employee, returned to a position in their
former class or to positions with increased assigned time as vacancies become
available, and without limitation of time, but if there is a valid reemployment list they
shall be ranked on the list in accordance with their proper seniority.

H. Any employee who is laid off and is subsequently eligible for reemployment shall be
notified by the District by certified mail of an opening. It is the employee’s responsibility
to ensure that the District has a current telephone number and address. If an employee
cannot be contacted, the employee will be considered to have waived reemployment.

I. An employee shall notify the District of his/her intent to accept or refuse reemployment
within five (5) days of receipt of said notice. If an employee accepts reemployment,
he/she must return to work within ten (10) days of receipt of said notice. An employee
given notice of reemployment need not accept the reemployment to maintain eligibility
on reemployment list provided that he/she notifies the District within five (5) calendar

105



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

68 
 

days of receipt of the notice. If an employee waives an offer of reemployment twice, 
his/her name will be removed from the reemployment list.  

 
J. Employees shall be reemployed in the highest related classification available in 

accordance with their length of service in the class from which laid off, plus higher 
classes. Employees who accept a position in a lower or equal class shall retain their 
original thirty-nine month rights to the original or higher class.  

 
K. Vacation and compensatory time earned and unused at time of layoff shall be 

computed and paid in the final salary warrant due the employee.  
 

L. Employees who are laid off may use up to four (4) days of personal necessity leave if 
available, for the purpose of seeking other employment.  

 
M. An employee may choose service retirement in lieu of layoff, if eligible, and shall retain 

all reemployment rights provided by law.  
 
N. Employees laid off because of lack of work or lack of funds have the right to participate 

in promotional examinations during the period of 39 months. (EC 45298)  
 
O. When both layoff lists and reemployment lists exist for the same job class, names from 

the reemployment list shall be merged to the layoff list in order of seniority.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

106



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

69 
 

 

CHAPTER 13 

DISCIPLINARY ACTION & APPEAL 
 

13.1    Causes for Suspension, Demotion, Dismissal  
 

A. Persons employed in the classified service may be suspended, demoted, or dismissed 
for any of the following causes provided that specific instances must be set forth as to 
any of the causes enumerated under this heading (EC45302):  

 
1. Incompetency, inefficiency, insubordination, inattention to or dereliction of duty. 

 
2. Persistent discourteous treatment of the public or of fellow employees. 

 
3. Any other failure of good conduct tending to injure the public service. 

  
4. Any persistent violation of the provisions of the Education Code or of policies, 

rules, regulations, or procedures adopted by the Board of Trustees or the 
Personnel Commission pursuant to it.  

 
5. Dishonesty.  

 
6. Theft.  

 
7. Immoral conduct. 

 
8. Use of, or being under the influence of, alcoholic beverages on District property.  

 
9. Use of, or possession of, illegal controlled substance.  

 
10. Political activities engaged in by an employee during his/her assigned hours of 

employment.  
 

11. Conviction of a serious crime by a court of law; a record of one or more criminal 
convictions which indicates that the person is a poor employment risk; failure to 
disclose material facts regarding criminal records; and other false or misleading 
information on application forms or examination and employment records 
concerning material matters.  
 

12. Conviction of a sex offense as defined in Education Code Section 44010. 
Conviction of such offense shall result in dismissal.  
 

13. Conviction of a narcotics offense as defined in Education Code Section 44011.  
Conviction of such offense shall result in dismissal.  
 

14. Conviction of a crime involving moral turpitude. A plea, verdict, or finding of guilt, 
or a conviction following a plea of nolo contedere, deemed to be a conviction.  
 

107



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

70 
 

15. Excessive absence or tardiness.  
 

16. Continuing illness of a disabling nature, after the exhaustion of illness leave and 
leave of absence privileges, resulting in physical or mental inability to perform the 
tasks and/or functions of the employee's classification, with or without reasonable 
accommodation and after an interactive process with the employee to determine if 
a reasonable accommodation can be made, which would allow the employee to 
perform the essential functions of his/her usual and customary position or an 
alternate position.  
 

17. Refusal to report for review of criminal records or for health examination after due 
notice.  
 

18. Advocacy of overthrow of the Government of the United States or the State of 
California by force, violence, or other unlawful means.  
 

19. Membership in the Communist Party. (EC45303)  
 

20. The discovery or development during an initial probationary period of any physical, 
emotional, and/or mental condition which would have precluded acceptance as a 
candidate for assignment.  
 

21. Abandonment of position, which is defined as absence for a period of more than 
five consecutive working days without notification. 

 
13.2 Procedure for Disciplinary Action  
 

A. No employee in the classified service shall be suspended, demoted, dismissed, or in 
any way discriminated against because of political or religious acts or opinions or 
affiliations, or race, color, sex, national origin or ancestry, or marital status, subject to 
the provisions of Rule 13.1(A) 10, 18, and/or 19, above. (EC45293)  
 

B. Hearing before the Superintendent. When a regular employee is to be suspended, 
demoted or dismissed, a written statement of charges shall be formulated by a 
member of the administration and submitted to the District Superintendent for 
presentation to the Board of Trustees.  

 
C. Before the Superintendent makes a recommendation to the Board that an employee 

be dismissed, the employee shall be given written notice of this intention to 
recommend dismissal to the Board by a specified date. The written notice shall contain 
a statement of the proposed charges, the specific causes for the disciplinary action, 
and the acts or omissions which establish the causes for disciplinary action. The 
employee shall be afforded the opportunity, upon request, to examine and obtain 
copies of all pertinent written materials and to meet with the District Superintendent to 
fully present the employee's views with respect to the proposed recommendation. The 
employee shall be given ten (10) working days from receipt of written notice to examine 
and copy the materials and to meet with the District Superintendent. The written notice 
shall be personally served on the employee and the employee is required to 
acknowledge receipt of the notice on a copy to be retained by the District, or the written 

108



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

71 
 

notice shall be sent to the employee at the last known address by certified mail, return 
receipt requested.  
 

D. The foregoing procedure is applicable to demotions and to long-term suspensions of 
five (5) days or more.  

 
E. After the pre-termination process has been completed, a copy of the written charges 

shall be presented to the Board of Trustees. The written statement of charges shall 
set forth the particular causes charged and shall specify the supporting facts so that 
the employee will be able to prepare a defense.  

 
F. In exceptional circumstances (for example, to protect the safety of co-workers) an 

immediate suspension may be made without advance notice, subject to later 
ratification by the Board of Trustees and approval of charges which must be 
transmitted to the employee within 10 days after the date of suspension.  

 
G. The Board of Trustees shall notify the Director Classified Personnel of its action. 

(EC45304)  
 
H. Within 10 working days of the suspension, demotion, or dismissal the Personnel 

Director shall file the written statement of charges with the Personnel Commission and 
give to the employee or deposit in the United States registered or certified mail with 
postage prepaid, addressed to the employee at his/her last known place of address, a 
copy of the charges. In the case of a permanent employee who is suspended, demoted 
or dismissed, the copy of the written statement of charges shall be accompanied by a 
copy of Rules 13.3(A) and 13.4(A) and Sections 45304, 45305, 45306, 45307, 45311 
and 45312 of the Education Code. In the case of a permanent employee who has been 
demoted to the class from which promoted and has not served the full probationary 
period in the higher position, the copy of the written statement or charges shall be 
accompanied by a copy of Rules 13.3 (A) and (B).  

 
I. Dismissal shall cause removal of the employee’s name from all employment lists.  
 
J. Failure to appeal, as provided below, shall make the action of the Board of Trustees 

final and conclusive.  
 
K. Suspension, without pay shall not exceed the time limitations outlined in the Education 

Code Section 45304 (30 days, except for sex and narcotics offenses).  
 
13.3  Appeal  
 

A. A permanent employee who has been suspended, demoted, or dismissed may appeal 
to the Personnel Commission within 14 days after having been furnished with a copy 
of the written charges by filing a written answer to such charges and stating the 
grounds for appeal which may include but are not limited to:  

 
1. That the procedures set forth in these Rules have not been followed.  
 
2. That the action was taken because of political or religious opinions or affiliations, or 
race, color, national origin or ancestry, sex, or marital status.  

109



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

72 
 

 
3. That there has been abuse of discretion.  
 
4. That the action taken was not in accord with the facts.  

 
5. That the penalty invoked is excessive.  

 
B. A permanent employee who has not served the full probationary period for the class 

and who is demoted to the class from which promoted may request an investigation 
by the Commission 14 days after the receipt of the copy of written charges. The 
request for the investigation shall state the grounds for the appeal. The Commission 
shall conduct an investigation confined to the grounds set forth in the charges and in 
the request for the investigation but shall not be required to follow the procedures for 
appeals and hearings set forth in these Rules. The Commission shall notify the 
Superintendent and the employee in writing of its findings. If the Commission’s 
investigation and findings, however, indicate any discriminatory action, the 
Commission may order a formal hearing. The decision of the Commission shall be 
binding on the Board of Trustees. (EC 45305, 45306)  

 
13.4   Hearing Procedure  
 

A. The Personnel Commission may conduct hearings of appeals or may appoint a 
hearing officer to conduct the hearing and report findings and recommendations to the 
Commission. (EC45306, 45312)  

 
B. Hearings shall be conducted in the manner most conducive to determination of the 

truth, and neither the Commission nor its hearing officer shall be bound by technical 
rules of evidence. Decisions made by the Commission shall not be invalidated by any 
informality in the proceedings.  

 
C. The Personnel Commission or its hearing officer shall determine the relevancy, weight, 

and credibility of testimony and evidence. It shall base its findings on the 
preponderance of evidence.  

 
D. Each side will be permitted an opening statement (Board first) and closing arguments 

(employee first). The Board shall first present its witnesses and evidence to sustain its 
charges and the employee will then present their witnesses and evidence in defense.  

 
E. Each side will be allowed to examine and cross-examine witnesses.  
 
F. Both the Board and the employee will be allowed to be represented by legal counsel 

or other designated representative.  
 
G. The Commission may, and shall if requested by the Board or the employee, subpoena 

witnesses and/or require the production of records or other material evidence. 
(EC45311)  

 
H. The Commission or hearing officer may, prior to or during a hearing, grant a 

continuance for any reason it believes to be important to its reaching a fair and proper 
decision.  

110



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

73 
 

 
I. When the hearing is held by the Commission, whether held in public or executive 

session, the Commission may deliberate its decision in executive session. No persons 
other than members of the Commission, its counsel, and its staff shall be permitted to 
participate in the deliberations. If the Director Classified Personnel or any staff is not 
serving exclusively for the Commission and/or was a witness in the proceedings, they 
shall also be barred from the Commission’s final deliberations. If its counsel also 
served as counsel for the Board, they shall be barred from the Commission’s final 
deliberations. 

 
J. The Commission shall render its decision as soon after the conclusion of the hearing 

as possible and in no event later than 14 days after the conclusion of all proceedings 
by the Commission as authorized in the Education Code. Its decision shall set forth 
what charges, if any, are sustained and the reasons therefore. (EC45312)  

 
K. The Commission may sustain or reject any or all of the charges filed against the 

employee. It may sustain, reject, or modify the disciplinary action invoked against the 
employee. It may not provide for discipline more stringent than that invoked by the 
Board. (EC45312)  

 
L. The Commission’s decision will be filed with the Board of Trustees and with the 

charged employee and will set forth its findings and decision. If a disciplinary action is 
not sustained, its decision shall set forth the effective date of the action ordered by the 
Commission.  

 
M. The employee or the employee's representative may obtain a copy of the transcript of 

the hearing upon written request and agreement to pay for necessary costs. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

111



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service

74 

CHAPTER 14 

WAGE AND SALARY PROVISIONS 

For bargaining unit members, salaries are the subject of collective bargaining contract provisions. 
When the collective bargaining contract is silent, these Rules prevail. For classified management, 
confidential, supervisory and non-represented employees, the following applies:  

14.1 The Personnel Commission’s Authority 

The substance of salaries for classified employees is the responsibility of the Board of 
Trustees. The Personnel Commission’s responsibility is procedural. The substance, 
where listed, and the procedures are included in these Rules and Regulations for 
convenience.  

14.2 Salary Studies and Recommendations 

A. When classification studies are made at the direction of the Commission, salary
range(s) or rate(s) shall be recommended by the Commission for the class(es). These
recommendations shall be based on internal evaluation and comparison of differences
in duties and responsibilities with other existing classes, and on a survey of rates
outside the District. (EC45181)

B. If the Board of Trustees desires the Personnel Commission to reconsider its salary
recommendations, the Board may return the recommendations to the Commission
which shall reconsider them at its next meeting. After reconsideration, the Commission
will advise the Board of its findings and rationale.

14.3  Initial Placement on Salary Schedule 

All new employees shall be appointed at the hiring rate for the class as approved by the 
Commission. The hiring rate shall be the first step of the schedule except for classes where 
recruitment efforts have indicated difficulty in recruiting at that step. An accelerated hiring 
rate may be set, with the approval of the Board and the Commission, at any step of the 
schedule of the class. If an accelerated hiring rate is approved, all current employees in 
the class shall be advanced to that rate and shall begin a new cycle of step advancement. 

14.4  Step Advancement on Salary Schedule 

Employees placed on Step 01 of a range will advance to Step 02 on the first day of the 
pay period following completion of one year of paid satisfactory service. Each succeeding 
step will be attained one year from the preceding step. New employees placed above Step 
01 of any range will advance at one-year intervals until the maximum step has been 
achieved.  

112



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service

75 

14.5  Salary Placement When Promoted 

An employee who receives a promotion to a class allocated to a higher salary range shall 
be placed on the step of the higher salary range that is one full step above the rate the 
employee received in the previous class provided that the step permits a minimum of a 
5% increase but does not exceed the maximum on the range. Consideration shall be given 
when differences in the structure of salary schedules exists (e.g., benefits are embedded 
into the salary). Additional advancement will be on the anniversary date established for 
the previous class, regardless of step placement, and then the above Rule 14.3 for 
advancement will apply. For the purpose of this Rule, appointment of an employee to a 
class with a salary range equal to or below the employee’s current range shall not be 
considered a promotion and shall not warrant a salary increase. In such cases, placement 
will be made on the same rate formerly earned by the employee, not to exceed the 
maximum of the range of the class to which the employee is appointed.  

14.6  Salary Placement after Leave of Absence 

A. Upon return from leave of absence, an employee shall be placed on the same step of
the range for the class which had been achieved prior to the leave regardless of
changes in rate or range applicable to the class, except that step advancement within
range shall be granted when:

1. The time period required for step advancement has elapsed and the employee
had served in active duty on at least 75 percent of the working days in the
assignment in the required time period prior to the leave; or

2. The law and/or these Rules provide that credit for step advancement shall
accrue during the leave of absence.

B. Credit for step advancement shall accrue during leaves of absence for military service
or to serve in limited-term assignments in the District and during any paid absence,
industrial accident, and industrial illness leave.

C. When an employee is reinstated after leave of absence to their previous salary step,
credit shall be received for step advancement for service prior to the leave. The
anniversary date shall be adjusted accordingly in order that step advancement shall
be granted after having completed the amount of service required by Rule 14.4.

14.7  Salary Placement When Demoted 

A. An employee who accepts voluntary demotion shall be placed on the step of the range
of the lower class which is closest to the rate earned in the higher class, provided that
a salary increase is not awarded. The employee shall retain the anniversary date
established in the higher class.

B. The order in an involuntary demotion shall specify the step of the schedule at which
the employee shall be placed. Step advancement shall be in accordance with Rule
14.4.

113



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

76 
 

14.8  Workday and Workweek: Hours of Employment  
 

A. The maximum number of hours of regular employment of an employee is eight (8) 
hours per day, forty (40) hours per week for five (5) consecutive days. However, the 
District may employ persons for lesser periods and may, through authorized 
administrators, order and authorize employees to work in excess of eight (8) hours in 
one day or forty (40) hours in one week.  

 
B. The Board of Trustees may establish a ten (10) hours per day, forty (40) hour, four 

consecutive day workweek for all or certain classes of its employees. (EC45127, 
45132)  

 
14.9  Overtime Pay  
 

A. Overtime is ordered and authorized working time in excess of eight (8) hours in one 
day (except if the Board adopts Section B above) or forty (40) hours in one calendar 
week. An employee who works authorized overtime shall be paid at a rate equal to 
one and one-half times the regular rate of pay for the overtime worked. Employees 
having an average workday of four (4) hours or more during the regular workweek 
shall be compensated at the standard overtime rate for any work performed on the 
seventh day. Overtime shall be computed to the nearest quarter of an hour worked. If 
an employee feels overtime has been denied unfairly, they may request a meeting with 
the Personnel Director to discuss it.  

 
B. Efforts will be made so that overtime be distributed as equally as is practical among 

employees within each department/school by classification. However, the supervisor 
shall determine whether a particular employee has special skills, certificates, or 
knowledge or abilities that require that that employee be given overtime in excess of 
other employees.  

 
C. For the purpose of computing the number of hours worked, time during which a unit 

member is excused from work because of holidays, sick leave, vacation, 
compensatory time off or other paid leave of absence shall be considered as time 
worked by the employee.  

 
D. An employee shall have the option of receiving overtime pay or compensatory time off 

for any overtime worked. Compensatory time off shall be used within a thirty (30) day 
period of being earned at the mutual agreement of the employee and their supervisor. 
If compensatory time off is not used within the thirty (30) day period, the employee 
shall receive pay for the overtime worked unless an extension is mutually agreed to 
by the employee and their supervisor.  

 
E. Call-back overtime is overtime performed by an employee called back after normal 

working hours to perform a task not previously scheduled. An employee performing 
call-back overtime shall earn credit for not less than two (2) hours of such overtime 
each time called back, even if less service is performed.  

 
F. Bus driver standby time shall be paid at the employee’s regular rate. While bus drivers 

are on standby time they shall remain with their vehicle for safety purposes. (EC45128, 
45129, 45131)  

114



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

77 
 

14.10  Lunch and Rest Periods  
 

A. All employees who normally work in excess of four (4) hours per day shall be granted 
rest periods which, insofar as practicable, shall be in the middle of the work period at 
the rate of fifteen (15) minutes per four (4) hours worked. Rest periods may not be 
used to shorten or rearrange the work day.  

 
B. All unit members who are employed for more than five (5) hours per day shall be 

entitled to an uninterrupted lunch period after they have been on duty for four (4) hours. 
The length of such lunch period shall be a minimum of thirty (30) minutes and shall be 
as close to the mid-point in the work shift as possible. This shall not preclude the lunch 
period from being changed in the event of an emergency or to ensure proper coverage 
of work stations.  

 
14.11  Classifications Exempt from Overtime Pay  
 

Classified management classes are designated as executive or administrative and are 
exempted from the overtime provisions as authorized by the Education Code. 
Notwithstanding this exemption, if a manager is required to work on a holiday, the 
employee shall be paid straight time for hours required to work in addition to holiday pay 
for that day. (EC45130)  

 
14.12  Differential Pay  
 

A. A one-range increase (approximately 2.5 percent) shall be provided for all 
classifications when more than 50 percent of the regularly assigned duties fall between 
the hours of 3:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. (EC45180, 45182, 45183)  

 
B. Employees assigned to night work on a continuous basis who are ordered to 

temporary daytime work for periods not to exceed 20 working days each shall suffer 
no reduction in compensation by reason of the change. On the 21st working day, the 
employee shall revert to the daytime rate. (EC45185)  

 
14.13  Holiday Pay  
 

A. Eligibility  
 

Classified employees will be entitled to payment for authorized holidays provided that the 
employee is in paid status during any portion of the working day immediately preceding or 
succeeding the holiday. Pay for a holiday shall be the same as the employee would receive 
on a normal workday. (EC45203)  

 
B. Holiday Schedule  
 
The holiday schedule shall include the following days:  
 
New Year’s Day (Legal)  
Martin Luther King Day (Legal)  
Lincoln’s Birthday (Legal)  
Washington’s Birthday (Legal)  

115



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service

78 

Spring Holiday (Local)—in lieu of Admissions Day 
Memorial Day (Legal)  
Independence Day (Legal)  
Labor Day (Legal)  
Veteran’s Day (Legal)  
Thanksgiving Day (Legal)  
Friday after Thanksgiving Day (Local)  
Christmas Eve (Local)  
Christmas Day (Legal)  
New Year’s Eve (Local)  

C. Holidays Occurring on Saturday or Sunday

When a holiday falls on a Saturday and the employee does not normally work on Saturday, 
the preceding workday that is not a holiday shall be deemed to be that holiday. When a 
holiday falls on a Sunday, the following workday that is not a holiday shall be deemed to 
be that holiday. When a holiday falls on a Saturday or Sunday and an employee is normally 
scheduled to work on Saturday or Sunday, the holiday will be observed on the Saturday 
or Sunday unless another day is deemed to be the holiday for those employees. If a 
holiday falls on a day other than Saturday or Sunday and employees normally have that 
day off, the holiday may be deemed another day by the District providing a 3-day holiday 
where possible, if the holiday provided a 3-day weekend for employees who do not work 
on Saturday or Sunday. (EC45197)  

14.14  Benefits for Part-Time Employees 

A. Sick Leave Benefits

An employee employed less than full time or less than twelve (12) months shall earn that 
proportion of paid sick leave as the number of days he/she is employed compared to full-
time employment. Sick leave may be accumulated without limit.  

B. Vacation Benefits

Unless vacation pay is provided on the basis of actual hours of paid regular service, rather 
than on an assigned time basis, vacation pay shall be granted on the basis of the average 
number of hours worked in a school year by the part-time employee. (EC45197)  

C. Holiday Pay for Part-Time Employees

The paid working schedule for part-time hourly employees shall conform to the Instruction 
School Calendar. Employees who are not normally on duty during school vacations (both 
Spring and Winter) but whose normal work year covers those periods, shall receive pay 
for holidays that occur during such school vacations. Holidays that occur outside the part-
time employee’s work year shall not be paid.  

D. Health and Dental Benefits

Part-time employees shall have the option of purchasing any/all of the available plans for 
employee only and/or employee and dependents. 

116



Personnel Commission 
San Dieguito Union High School District 
Rules & Regulations for the Classified Service 

79 
 

 
If an employee is absent from duty because of a Board authorized leave of absence or 
extended sick leave, the employee shall be able to retain their group insurance as offered 
under COBRA provisions.  This leave shall not exceed one (1) year. 
 
E. PERS and Social Security Benefits 
 
Employees working 20 or more hours per week, or employees working in excess of 1000 
hours in any fiscal year, shall join the Public Employees Retirement Systems (PERS). 
Employees shall make appropriate contributions through the withholding process. PERS 
includes participation in the Social Security System. Employees not on PERS pay 
Medicare (1.45%).  

 
F. Workers’ Compensation Benefits  

 
Employees are covered by Workers’ Compensation for injury sustained on duty. 
Employees will receive their usual full pay warrant until such time as their industrial 
accident and sick leave expire.  

 
G. Disability Insurance Benefits  

 
Employees working 20 or more hours per week are covered by the District's Permanent 
Disability Insurance Program at the rate of 66 2/3% of gross pay up to $15,000 maximum 
per year until age 65. (EC45136, 45137, 45197)  

 
H. Flexible Spending Account  

 
Part-time employees hired before December 3, 1999 shall receive a flexible spending 
account in the amount of $2,569.00 per year for the 2004 calendar year with escalators 
as stated in the Master Contract.  

 
I. Limited-Term Extending Beyond Three Months  

 
A limited-term employee replacing a regular employee on leave and who has completed 
three (3) months of continuous employment in a position is entitled to the same vacation, 
holiday pay, sick leave (excluding additional sick leave), dental and health insurance 
benefits at the employee only rate or if less than 20 hours at one half the cost.   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

117



Vacancy Summary Report 
October 8, 2025 

Site/Department Full Time Part Time Grand Total 
Canyon Crest Academy 1 1 
Carmel Valley Middle School 7 7 
COAST Academy 3 3 
Diegueno Middle School 1 1 
District Office 4 4 
Earl Warren Middle School 1 1 
La Costa Canyon High School 8 8 
Maintenance & Operations 2 2 
Oak Crest Middle School 2 2 
Pacific Trails Middle School 3 3 
Technology 1 1 
Torrey Pines High School 3 5 8 
Transportation 1 4 5 
Grand Total 11 35 46 

Hard to Fill Count of FTE 
Instructional Assistant - Behavior Intervention 10 
Instructional/Personal Care Assistant 3 
Nutrition Services Assistant I 8 
Nutrition Services Assistant II 2 
School Bus Driver 4 
Student Health Care Specialist 1 
Vehicle & Equipment Service Worker 1 
Grand Total 29 

Status Count of Status 
Hired 1 
Interviews in Progress 2 
Offer Pending 3 
Recruitment in Progress 32 
References 3 
Selection Clearing 3 
Testing in Progress 2 
Grand Total 46 

118



SITE SLOT TITLE
# of 

Months
# of Hours a 

Week
# of Hours 

a Day FTE STATUS
District Office AA001 Accounting Assistant 12 40 8 Full Time Recruitment in Progress
Maintenance & Operations AQ749 Aquatics Program & Facility Use Supervisor 12 40 8 Full Time Hired
Carmel Valley Middle School AO538 Campus Supervisor 10 19.5 3.9 Part Time Interviews in Progress
Torrey Pines High School AK188 Campus Supervisor 10 40 8 Full Time Offer Pending
Maintenance & Operations AA165 Custodian Floater 12 40 8 Full Time Interviews in Progress
Carmel Valley Middle School AQ661 Instructional Assistant - Behavior Intervention 10 30 6 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
Carmel Valley Middle School AQ764 Instructional Assistant - Behavior Intervention 10 30 6 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
Carmel Valley Middle School AQ766 Instructional Assistant - Behavior Intervention 10 30 6 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
COAST Academy AN154 Instructional Assistant - Behavior Intervention 10 27.5 5.5 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
COAST Academy AI616 Instructional Assistant - Behavior Intervention 10 27.5 5.5 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
La Costa Canyon High School AH757 Instructional Assistant - Behavior Intervention 10 30 6 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
La Costa Canyon High School AQ643 Instructional Assistant - Behavior Intervention 10 30 6 Part Time Offer Pending
Pacific Trails Middle School AQ162 Instructional Assistant - Behavior Intervention 10 30 6 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
Pacific Trails Middle School AQ649 Instructional Assistant - Behavior Intervention 10 30 6 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
Torrey Pines High School AO544 Instructional Assistant - Behavior Intervention 10 30 6 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
Carmel Valley Middle School AQ385 Instructional Assistant - Multilingual Learners 10 19.5 3.9 Part Time Selection Clearing
Carmel Valley Middle School AO542 Instructional Assistant - Multilingual Learners 10 19.5 3.9 Part Time References
COAST Academy AP836 Instructional Assistant Special Education 10 30 6 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
La Costa Canyon High School AQ545 Instructional Assistant Special Education 10 30 6 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
Oak Crest Middle School AA378 Instructional Assistant Special Education 10 30 6 Part Time Offer Pending
Torrey Pines High School AQ572 Instructional Assistant Special Education 10 30 6 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
Torrey Pines High School AJ188 Instructional Assistant Special Education 10 30 6 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
La Costa Canyon High School AQ668 Instructional/Personal Care Assistant 10 30 6 Part Time Selection Clearing
La Costa Canyon High School AQ767 Instructional/Personal Care Assistant 10 30 6 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
Torrey Pines High School AI815 Instructional/Personal Care Assistant 10 30 6 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
Technology AG785 Network Technician 12 40 8 Full Time Testing in Progress
Canyon Crest Academy AN609 Nutrition Services Assistant I 10 18.75 3.75 Part Time References
Carmel Valley Middle School AC928 Nutrition Services Assistant I 10 19.5 3.9 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
Diegueno Middle School AA231 Nutrition Services Assistant I 10 15 3 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
La Costa Canyon High School AJ076 Nutrition Services Assistant I 10 17.5 3.5 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
La Costa Canyon High School AA241 Nutrition Services Assistant I 10 12.5 2.5 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
La Costa Canyon High School AA261 Nutrition Services Assistant I 10 17.5 3.5 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
Oak Crest Middle School AF015 Nutrition Services Assistant I 10 19.5 3.9 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
Torrey Pines High School AA251 Nutrition Services Assistant I 10 19.5 3.9 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
Pacific Trails Middle School AK203 Nutrition Services Assistant II 10 19.5 3.9 Part Time Recruitment in Progress

Vacancy Report

119



Earl Warren Middle School AF997 Nutrition Services Assistant II 10 18.75 3.75 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
Torrey Pines High School AA080 Receptionist 10 40 8 Full Time Selection Clearing
Torrey Pines High School NEW Registrar 12 40 8 Full Time Recruitment in Progress
Transportation AF521 School Bus Driver 10 35 7 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
Transportation AE711 School Bus Driver 10 35 7 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
Transportation AE717 School Bus Driver 10 35 7 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
Transportation AA512 School Bus Driver 10 35 7 Part Time Recruitment in Progress
District Office AN138 Student Health Care Specialist 10 40 8 Full Time Recruitment in Progress
District Office AA296 Translator/Interpreter (Spanish) 12 40 8 Full Time Testing in Progress
Transportation AA554 Vehicle & Equipment Service Worker 12 40 8 Full Time Recruitment in Progress
District Office AA462 Vocational Developer 10 40 8 Full Time References

120



Classified Personnel List
September 11, 2025

Personnel Action Classification Last Name First Name Job Title Site Effective 
Date

Inactive 
Date FTE

Change in 
Assignment Classified Chavez Diane School Bus Driver Transportation 08/12/2025 0.95 to 

0.87
Change in 
Assignment Classified Dewitt Donovan School Bus Driver Transportation 08/12/2025 0.87 to 

1.00
Change in 
Assignment Classified Evers Allyson Receptionist to Registrar TPHS to CCA 08/25/2025 1.00

Change in 
Assignment Classified Gugler Paula School Bus Driver Transportation 08/12/2025 0.95 to 

0.87
Change in 
Assignment Classified Magana Vanessa School Bus Attendant Transportation 08/12/2025 0.62 to 

0.66
Change in 
Assignment Classified Pache Cortney Health Technician PTMS to TPHS 07/28/2025 0.75 to 

1.00
Change in 
Assignment Classified Padilla Alicia School Bus Driver Transportation 08/12/2025 0.97 to 

1.00
Change in 
Assignment Classified Ramales Sandra Instructional Assistant-Special 

Education TPHS to OCMS 08/18/2025 0.75

Change in 
Assignment Classified Valdez de 

Chairez Amalia School Bus Attendant Transportation 08/12/2025 0.56 to 
0.62

Employment Classified Briseno 
Melendrez Daniela Custodian   TPHS 08/18/2025 1.00

Employment Classified Kasten Corey Grounds Maintenance Worker II Maintenance & 
Operations 08/18/2025 1.00

Employment Classified Millward Sadie School Bus Driver Transportation 08/04/2025 1.00

Resignation Classified Trottno Emma Instructional Assistant-Behavior 
Intervention OCMS 05/30/2025 0.75

Retirement Classified Cummings Mary Ellen Vocational Developer District Office 05/30/2025 1.00
Retirement Classified Monsibay Anita Nutrition Services Assistant II OCMS 08/29/2025 0.49

121



Classified Personnel List Addendum
September 11, 2025

Personnel Action Classification Last Name First Name Job Title Site Effective 
Date

Inactive 
Date FTE

Change in 
Assignment Classified Evers Allyson Receptionist to Registrar TPHS to 

CCA 08/25/2025 1.00

Change in 
Assignment Classified Moroney Caroline Registrar CCA to 

Sunset 08/21/2025 1.00

Change in 
Assignment Classified Ramirez Allisen Instructional Personal Care 

Assistant to Health Technician
OCMS to 
Sunset 08/20/2025 0.75 to 

1.00

Change in 
Assignment Classified Tran Thuy Nutrition Services Assistant I to 

Nutrition Services Assitant II
OCMS to 
Sunset 09/02/2025 0.49

Employment Classified Mungekar Krishna Health Technician PTMS 08/25/2025 0.75

Resignation Classified Noorafkan Sara Instructional Assistant-Special 
Education TPHS 09/03/2025 0.63

Resignation Confidential Perpetua Catherine Executive Assistant to the 
Superintendent

District 
Office 09/24/2025 1.00

Termination Classified Drake Shaun Instructional Assistant-Multilingual 
Learner CVMS 07/21/2025 0.49

122


	1. Cover Page - POST ON BUILDING
	3:30 PM October 14, 2025
	710 Encintas Blvd, Encintas, CA 92024
	PUBLIC COMMENTS
	AGENDA POSTING REQUIREMENTS
	PUBLIC INSPECTION OF DOCUMENTS
	RECORDING OF PERSONNEL COMMISSION MEETINGS
	CELL PHONES/ELECTRONIC DEVICES
	REQUESTS FOR DISABILITY-RELATED MODIFICATIONS OR ACCOMODATIONS


	2. 2025-10-14 Agenda
	MEETING/OPEN SESSION
	ACTION ITEMS (See Supplements)
	DISCUSSION/INFORMATION ITEMS (See Supplements)

	3. 2025-09-09 Minutes
	MEETING/OPEN SESSION
	ACTION ITEMS (See Supplements)
	DISCUSSION/INFORMATION ITEMS (See Supplements)

	4. 2025-09-05 Custodian Floater
	EL (ID)

	5. 2025-09-05 Custodian
	EL (ID) 

	6. 2025-9-8 IA-PC
	EL (ID)

	7. 2025-9-9 IA-PC
	EL (ID)

	8. 2025-09-10 Aqua Prog & Fac Sup
	EL

	9. 2025-09-12 Vocational Developer
	EL (ID)

	10. 2025-09-15 Aqua Prog & Fac Sup
	EL

	11. 2025-09-15 IA-MLL
	EL

	12. 2025-09-19 NSA I
	EL (ID) 

	13. 2025-09-22 IA-MLL
	EL

	14. 2025-09-24 Campus Supervisor
	ID

	15. 2025-09-24 Receptionist
	EL

	16. 2025-9-25 IA SpEd BI
	EL ID

	17. 2025-9-25 IA-PC
	EL (ID)

	18. 2025-10-3 NSA I
	19. 2025-10-08 IA-PC
	EL (ID)

	20. Systems Integration Analyst 
	CAC Report - Systems Integration Analyst.pdf
	Systems Integration Analyst Redline
	Systems Integration Analyst 9.16.25
	EDUCATION AND EXPERIENCE
	REQUIRED TESTING
	LICENSES/CERTIFICATES
	CONTINUING EDUCATION/TRAINING


	21. Memo - Rules
	22. 2025 Rules Revision
	CHAPTER 1
	PRELIMINARY STATEMENT AND DEFINITIONS
	1.1 Preliminary Statement
	1.2  Definitions

	CHAPTER 2
	THE PERSONNEL COMMISSION
	2.1 Establishment of the Personnel Commission and Membership
	2.2  Appointment of Commissioner
	2.3  Terms of Commissioners
	2.4  Officers of the Commission
	2.5 Quorum
	2.6  Regular Meetings
	2.7  Special Meetings
	2.8  Public Meetings
	2.9  Closed Session
	2.10  Prohibition of Commission Gathering Privately
	2.11  Commission Compensation
	2.12  Communication
	2.13  Commission Minutes
	2.14  Status of Commission Employees
	2.15  General Duties of the Personnel Director
	2.16  Commission Budget
	2.17  Annual Report
	2.18  Counsel for the Commission
	2.19 Violations of Education Code

	CHAPTER 3
	CLASSIFICATION
	3.1 Positions Included in the Classified Service
	3.2 Positions Excluded From the Classified Service
	3.3  Employment of Professional Experts and Community Representatives
	3.4  Assignment of Duties
	3.5 Classification Plan
	3.6  Class Specifications
	3.7 Interpretation of Class Specifications
	3.8  Classification of New Positions
	3.9  Working Out of Classification
	3.10  Changes in Duties of Positions
	3.11  Effect of Classification Changes on Incumbents
	3.12  Review of Positions
	3.13  Effective Date of Reclassification
	3.14  Positions Requiring Multiple Languages

	CHAPTER 4
	RECRUITMENT BULLETINS AND APPLICATIONS
	4.1 Policy Regarding Conducting Examinations
	4.2 Pre-Examination Information
	4.3 Competitive Basis for Examinations
	4.4 Recruitment Bulletins and Notice of Examinations
	4.5  Recruitment Programs
	4.6 Filing of Applications
	4.7 General Qualifications of Applicants
	4.8 Disqualification of Unfit Applicants, Candidates, and Eligibles
	4.9 Rejection and Appeal of Rejection
	4.10 Action When Rejection Is Not Sustained
	4.11 Confidentiality of Information
	4.12 Veterans' Preferences

	CHAPTER 5
	EXAMINATION
	5.1  Purpose and Character of Examinations
	5.2 Examination Procedures
	5.3 Examination Values
	5.4 Rating Required
	5.5  Notice of Examinations
	5.6  Review of Examination
	5.7  Examination Papers
	5.8  Qualifications Appraisal Interview (Oral Examination)
	5.9  Computing Final Scores
	5.10  Seniority Credit - Promotional Examinations
	5.11  Notice of Final Score

	CHAPTER 6
	EMPLOYMENT LISTS
	6.1  Establishment and Life of Eligibility Lists
	6.2  Reemployment Lists
	6.3  Eligibility after Appointment
	6.4  Removal of Names from Eligibility Lists
	6.5  Order of Precedence in Certification from Eligibility Lists
	6.6  Dual Certification
	6.7  Other Sources of Eligibility
	6.8  Procedure When Fewer Than Three Ranks Remain
	6.9  Procedure of Certification and Appointment from Eligibility Lists
	6.10  Waivers of Certification
	6.11  Certification from the List for another Class
	6.12  Withholding Names from Certification
	6.13  Restoration to Certification
	6.14  Duties of Eligibles
	6.15  Subjects Regarding Which No Questions Shall Be Asked
	6.16  Transfer of Exam Scores

	CHAPTER 7
	ASSIGNMENTS
	7.1 Limited Term Employment
	7.2  Eligibility for Limited Term Employment
	7.3  Compensation for Limited Term Employment
	7.4  Rights and Benefits during Limited Term Employment
	7.5  Terminations of Limited Term Employment
	7.6  Provisional Appointments: Restrictions
	7.7  Terminating Provisional Appointments
	7.8  Emergency Appointments
	7.9  Assignments of Disabled Employees
	7.11 Payroll Audit
	7.12  New Employee Clearances

	CHAPTER 8
	PROBATIONARY PERIOD
	8.1 Duration of Probationary Period
	8.2  Rights of Probationary Employees

	CHAPTER 9
	TRANSFER
	9.1 Transfer Procedure
	9.2  Demotions
	9.3  Resignation
	9.4 Reinstatement

	CHAPTER 10
	PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL
	10.1  When Evaluations are to be Made
	10.2  Performance Appraisal Procedure
	10.3  Special Performance Appraisal
	10.4  Performance Appraisal Form

	CHAPTER 11
	LEAVES OF ABSENCE
	11.1  The Personnel Commission’s Authority
	11.2 Vacation
	11.3  Personal Illness or Injury Leave
	11.4  Personal Necessity Leave
	11.5  Bereavement Leave
	11.6  Judicial-Government Leave
	11.7  Industrial Accident & Illness Leave
	11.8  Maternity Leave
	11.9  Health Leave
	11.10  Personal Leave
	11.11 Military Leave
	11.12  Absence for Examination
	11.13  Leave to Serve in an Exempt, Temporary, or Limited-Term Position
	11.14  Cost Reimbursement for Training/Leave Not Involved
	11.15  Service Recognition Day

	CHAPTER 12
	LAYOFFS
	12.1 Procedure for Layoff
	12.2  Rights of Employees Laid Off
	12.3  Notice of Layoff
	12.4    Effects of Layoff

	CHAPTER 13
	DISCIPLINARY ACTION & APPEAL
	13.1    Causes for Suspension, Demotion, Dismissal
	13.2 Procedure for Disciplinary Action
	13.3  Appeal
	13.4   Hearing Procedure

	CHAPTER 14
	WAGE AND SALARY PROVISIONS
	14.1 The Personnel Commission’s Authority
	14.2 Salary Studies and Recommendations
	14.3  Initial Placement on Salary Schedule
	14.4  Step Advancement on Salary Schedule
	14.5  Salary Placement When Promoted
	14.6  Salary Placement after Leave of Absence
	14.7  Salary Placement When Demoted
	14.8  Workday and Workweek: Hours of Employment
	14.9  Overtime Pay
	14.10  Lunch and Rest Periods
	14.11  Classifications Exempt from Overtime Pay
	14.12  Differential Pay
	14.13  Holiday Pay
	14.14  Benefits for Part-Time Employees


	23. Vacancy Summary Report
	24. Vacancy Report
	25. Classified Personnel List - September 11, 2025
	Sheet1

	26. Classified Personnel List Addendum - September 11, 2025
	Sheet1




